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2014
a Transformational Year

ONE Company. By reuniting EnerCare and Direct Energy as
one company we have significantly aligned, strengthened
and expanded our platform and created the opportunity for
exciting new growth.

ONE

The Acquisition

O

n October 20, 2014, EnerCare acquired the
Ontario home and small commercial services business of Direct Energy Marketing
Limited (“Direct Energy”). This was, in all respects, a transformational acquisition
for EnerCare.
By reuniting what was once a combined business, this
acquisition significantly aligns, strengthens and expands our
company, while significantly improving shareholder value.
The home and small commercial services business in
Ontario services more than 1.1 million rental water heaters
and 550 thousand protection plans, sells and installs HVAC
equipment and provides other ancillary services.
With an outstanding workforce of approximately 800
corporate employees and 340 licensed franchisee
employees, the services business provides fast and efficient
service through both of its delivery models. Our combined
assets, strengths and expertise form the platform of one
of the largest home and commercial services businesses
in Canada.
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Similar to EnerCare, the home and small commercial services
business is built on long-term customer relationships and
recurring revenue. The reunification of the two companies
gives us full control over our operations and direct access to
our customers, ensuring a superior customer experience.
We are extremely excited about this acquisition. We are
moving forward with aligned employees, corporate
goals, cooperative synergies and a razor sharp external
focus on the customer. In one bold step, this acquisition
takes us closer to achieving our vision to be the premier
provider of energy services and solutions in Canada. It is,
quite simply, an exceptional opportunity to create value
for our shareholders.

TWO Areas of Business. We have two operating segments
underlying our stable long-term business: EnerCare Home
Services, which now includes the home and small
commercial business acquired from Direct Energy, and
EnerCare Connections.

TWO

Our Businesses

Home
Services
Total Revenue

Home
Services
EBITDA

Home Services 2014 Highlights

($ millions)

($ millions)

• Total revenue increased by 28% to $242 million

242

175
163

• EBITDA increased by 7% to $175 million

189

• Adjusted EBITDA increased by 3% to $185 million
• Asset base of 1.1 million units
• 14% improvement in customer retention

2013

2014

2013

2014

Sub-metering
Billing Units

Sub-metering
Total Revenue

(thousands)

($ millions)

96

120

• In 2014, a new product added to EHS’s portfolio was
worth approximately 1.8 times that of a unit displaced
through attrition

Sub-metering 2014 Highlights
• Total revenue increased by 9% to $120 million

109

82

• Contracted units rose 11% to 185,000
• Installed units increased by 11% to 151,000
• Billing units grew by 17% to 96,000

2013

8

2014
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2013

2014

• Benefits from the lean program, commenced in 2014, are
beginning to flow through revenue, costs and working
capital and are expected to contribute to the profitability
of ECI for years to come

THREE Commitments. We will continue to provide our
customers with (i) exceptional customer service, (ii) reliable
and innovative products & services, and (iii) always offer the
best advice for their comfort.

THREE

Message from our Chair

2014

was a transformational year for EnerCare.
Value creation continued to drive our actions as we oversaw the continued growth
of the company, increased our dividend and acquired Direct Energy’s home and
small commercial services business in Ontario. This transaction is pivotal to our
future success and is an important element to unlocking additional value for our
shareholders. Since the close of the acquisition, our enterprise value has increased
by more than 50% and, with the increase in our market capitalization and liquidity,
EnerCare was added to the S&P TSX Composite Index in December.
One of the key issues the board considered with respect
to the acquisition was the sustainability and continued
growth of EnerCare’s dividend. Providing a significant and
stable dividend is an important component of our
shareholder value proposition and the board recognizes
that the sustainability of our dividend is a key tenet of our
financial stewardship. We are committed to executing on
our growth strategy and returning a significant amount of
capital to our shareholders, all the time ensuring that our
payout ratio remains in a sustainable range.
Our value proposition is simple. EnerCare’s investment
profile includes long-term recurring revenue streams,
high margins, significant cash flow generation and an
attractive dividend yield; all supported by an investment
grade balance sheet. The board is excited about the
future of EnerCare and looks forward to continuing to
translate EnerCare’s growth strategy into capital returns
to shareholders.

12 per cent increase. With share appreciation, the 4-year
total shareholder return on a $100 investment in EnerCare
is 185 per cent, far outdistancing the return of the TSX
Composite Index for the same period.
Following the acquisition, we have nearly 1,000 people
dedicated to EnerCare’s customers. I would like to extend
a heartfelt welcome to our new employees and thank all
our employees for their efforts in reuniting our business. The
team is doing an excellent job and, on behalf of my fellow
directors, I want to express my appreciation for their
ongoing efforts. Lastly, I would like to thank the board and
management for their efforts this year and our shareholders
for their continued investment in this great company.

“Jim Pantelidis”
Jim Pantelidis
Chair of the Board

Since converting into a corporation in 2011, we have
strengthened our balance sheet and used our capital
prudently to successfully grow our business. Supported
by robust cash generation, as of the end of fiscal 2014,
we have raised the dividend five times, resulting in a
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Message from our CEO

2014

was a fantastic year for EnerCare. Not only did
we meet our strategic priorities, we completed a transformational acquisition,
namely Direct Energy’s home and small commercial services business in Ontario.
Stronger As One
The acquisition restores what was once a combined
business, significantly aligns, strengthens and expands
EnerCare’s platform and offers additional opportunities for
growth. The reunification aligns the two entities and creates
a stronger integrated business that allows EnerCare to have
full control over its operations and direct access to its
customers, ensuring a superior customer experience.
The acquisition financing was structured to help ensure that
we maintain ample financial flexibility to continue to grow
our business to return capital to our shareholders and to
maintain our investment grade credit rating.
The focus for 2015 is on reuniting and growing the
combined business. This includes rebranding, de-coupling
and integrating technology, extracting synergies and
leveraging the benefits of the reunification to enhance
growth and provide exceptional service to our customers.

14

EnerCare Annual Report 2014

Our acquisition of Direct Energy’s home and small
commercial services business represents a real turning point
for EnerCare. It is an exciting step towards achieving
EnerCare’s vision to be the premier provider of energy
services and solutions in Canada and is a key driver of
future value for our shareholders.
Achieving Our 2014 Priorities
On top of all of the acquisition activity during the year, we
made good progress against our priorities for our rentals
and sub-metering businesses. The focus of the rentals
segment was on reducing attrition, increasing the number
of higher revenue product additions and improving costs
and profitability.
With respect to attrition, we are at our lowest level in six
years. Further improvement is expected to come from our
acquisition of Direct Energy’s services business, which gives
us direct access to our more than one million customers

and The Stronger Protection for Ontario Consumers Act, which will
come into force on April 1, 2015. This legislation is very much a
positive development for both Ontario consumers and EnerCare.
While preserving and nurturing our large water heater rental business
is critical, expanding the rentals business to increase future growth
and cash flow potential is equally important. For the second
consecutive year, we met our target to achieve positive growth in
revenue without relying on price increases. The average monthly rental
revenue of new units has increased considerably; in fact, new
customers in 2014 were worth approximately 1.8 times that of a lost
customer. Clearly, our efforts to improve customer retention and
increase the number of higher revenue HVAC products in the portfolio
mix are producing significant results. The rentals segment ended the
year with record EBITDA.
Our second segment, sub-metering, also set out three priorities for
2014: to increase the number of contracted and billing units, to
improve
productivity
and
operating efficiencies, and to
enhance our value proposition
Clearly, our efforts to improve customer retention
through outstanding customer
service.
and increase the number of higher revenue

HVAC products in the portfolio mix are producing
significant results.

I am pleased to say that submetering achieved progress in
each of these three areas. Unit
continuity grew by double-digits,
driven by strong activity in both
the condo and retrofit markets. Key advancements were made to
optimize productivity and efficiency. Eighteen months ago, we
commenced a lean program and since then many improvements have
been made. The benefits are beginning to flow as seen by a 63%
increase in sub-metering EBITDA in 2014. The improvements we
continue to make to enhance customer service will benefit the business
for years to come.
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Entering 2015 with Strong Momentum
Our focus on creating shareholder value is paying off. In 2014,
our total shareholder return was 40 percentage points above
the S&P/TSX Composite Index. Since 2011, we have paid
our shareholders more than
$157 million in dividends.
Commensurate with our fourth
In 2014, our total shareholder return was
quarter 2014 results, in March
2015 we announced our latest
40 percentage points above the S&P/TSX
dividend increase of 15.9 per
Composite Index.
cent. This is the largest dividend
increase in EnerCare’s history.
In four years, we have raised
our dividend by 29 per cent, to
7 cents per share monthly, or 84 cents on an annualized basis.
This is an exciting period for EnerCare. I would like to take this
opportunity to thank all of our employees. It is because of your hard
work we are entering 2015 with strong momentum.

“John Macdonald”
John Macdonald
President & Chief Executive Officer
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Board of Directors

JIM PANTELIDIS | DIRECTOR & CHAIR OF THE BOARD
Mr. Pantelidis is Chair of the board of directors of Parkland Fuel Corporation, and a member of the board of directors of
Industrial Alliance Insurance Financial Services Inc., RONA inc. and Intertape Polymer Group Inc. From 2008 to 2011
Mr. Pantelidis was a non-executive director, Chair of the Compensation and Human Resources Committee and member
of the Audit Committee of Equinox Minerals Limited, a mining company. Mr. Pantelidis has previously served as the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of FisherCast Global Corporation, a manufacturer of molten metal injection
technologies and Bata Limited, a leading, privately held, global footwear retailer and manufacturer. He was also the
President and Chief Executive Officer of JP & Associates, a strategic consulting company. Mr. Pantelidis had a 30-year
career in the petroleum industry and was at one time President of both the Resources Division and the Products Division
of Petro-Canada. Mr. Pantelidis holds a Bachelor of Science degree and a Master of Business Administration degree,
both from McGill University.

SCOTT F. BOOSE | DIRECTOR
Mr. Boose is the President of Direct Energy Services. Prior to this role, Mr. Boose was President of the Clockwork Home
Services business (a Direct Energy company), which operates its franchise network in 48 states and has company-owned
operations in the United States in 11 states, as well as 2 Canadian provinces. Scott joined Direct Energy in 2004 through
the acquisition of the Residential Services Group, in which he held several senior positions over a ten year period. From
2007 to 2010, Mr. Boose served as the Managing Director of the Heating Services business for British Gas, an operating
unit of Centrica PLC whereby he oversaw a team of 11,000, including 8,000 frontline engineers and installers.
Mr. Boose also served on the board of British Gas Insurance during his time in the United Kingdom. Mr. Boose resides
in Sarasota, Florida and has a B.S. in Business, Accounting and Finance from Wright State University and graduated
with Honors.

LISA DE WILDE | DIRECTOR
Ms. de Wilde has been CEO of the Ontario Educational Communications Authority (TVO) since 2005. Previously,
Ms. de Wilde was the President and CEO of Astral Television Networks Inc., and practiced law in private practice and
as Legal Counsel to the CRTC. Ms. de Wilde serves as a member of the board of TELUS Corporation and as Chair of
the Board of Directors of the Toronto International Film Festival. She served as a member of the Board of Trustees of
Noranda Income Fund from 2002 to 2010 as well as AT&T Canada Inc. (2002 to 2003) and Cinar Corp. (2002 to
2004). Her other advisory appointments include: the University of Toronto’s Mowat Centre for Policy Innovation; the
Canadian Digital Media Network; and the Asia Pacific Foundation’s Toronto Advisory Group. She is a member of the
Institute of Corporate Directors (ICD.D) and the Law Society of Upper Canada. She holds an LL.B. and an Honours
Bachelor of Arts degree, both from McGill University.
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JOHN A. MACDONALD | DIRECTOR
Mr. Macdonald has been the President and Chief Executive Officer of EnerCare since November 2006. From 2002 to
2006 Mr. Macdonald served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Hydro One Telecom Inc. Mr. Macdonald has
previously held senior marketing positions at AT&T Canada Inc. and Nortel Networks Corporation and was a member
of the board of advisors of Atria Networks LP until 2010. Mr. Macdonald is a registered professional engineer and holds
a Bachelor of Applied Science in Electrical Engineering from the University of Toronto.

GRACE M. PALOMBO | DIRECTOR
Ms. Palombo is the Executive Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer of Great-West Lifeco Inc., a position she
has held since November 2014. From 2011 to 2014, Ms. Palombo was the Executive Vice President, Head of Human
Resources, TD Bank, America’s Most Convenient Bank based in the U.S.A. Prior to 2011, Ms. Palombo served as the
Senior Vice President, Corporate Human Resources of CanWest Global Communications Corporation (“CanWest”) and
also served as a member of its Management Committee. Prior to joining CanWest, Ms. Palombo held various executive
positions in the areas of Human Resources, Legal and Corporate Services with Husky Injection Molding Systems Ltd., The
Canada Life Assurance Company, Westcoast Energy Inc./Union Gas Limited and Bombardier Inc. She also practiced
law in Toronto, in the areas of employment, labour relations and corporate law. Ms. Palombo has served as a Director
and a member of the Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees of Student Transportation Inc.
since 2010, and as a Director of the Osgoode Hall Law School Alumni Association since 2009. Ms. Palombo was
formerly a Director, as well as a member of the Audit Committee, Administrative Affairs Committee and Board Development
Committee of the Canadian College of Naturopathic Medicine from 2002 to 2008 and a Member of the Management
Committee of Union Gas Ltd. from 1998 to 2002. Ms. Palombo has also served as Board and Committee Member
on a voluntary basis for various organizations in the Greater Toronto area. Ms. Palombo holds an LL.B. degree from
Osgoode Hall Law School in Toronto and a Bachelor of Arts in Psychology from York University. Ms. Palombo is a member
of the Institute of Corporate Directors (ICD.D), Conference Board of Canada, Council of National Human Resource
Executives, the Law Society of Upper Canada, The Canadian Bar Association, the Women’s Law Association and the
Women’s Executive Network.

JERRY PATAVA | DIRECTOR & CHAIR OF THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Mr. Patava is the Chief Executive Officer of the Great Gulf Group of Companies, a position he has held since July 2007.
He is also Lead Director and a member of the Governance and Compensation Committee of Trimac Transportation Ltd.
and a Director and Chair of the Governance and Compensation Committees of Capstone Infrastructure Corporation. Mr.
Patava was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Fairmont Hotels & Resorts Inc., a position he held
from January 1998 to January 2005. Previously, he was Vice President and Treasurer of Canadian Pacific Limited and
prior thereto Vice President and Director of RBC Dominion Securities Inc. Mr. Patava holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from
the University of Toronto and a Master of Business Administration from York University.
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ROY J. PEARCE | DIRECTOR & CHAIR OF THE INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
Mr. Pearce was the Chief Financial Officer of K2 Pure Solutions Canada Corporation from April 2007 until his retirement
in November 2008. Prior to joining K2 Pure Solutions Canada Corporation, Mr. Pearce was a trustee and member of
the Compensation Committee of ACS Media Income Fund. He was the Chief Financial Officer of several companies,
including KCP Income Fund and its predecessor business, KIK Corporation, the Plastics Division of Crown Cork and Seal
Company, Inc. and Crown Cork and Seal Canada, Inc. Mr. Pearce has held senior finance positions with various
companies including Gilbey Canada Inc., Lever Detergents Limited, Monarch Fine Foods Limited, John Labatt Ltd., and
Lever Brothers Inc. Mr. Pearce is a Chartered Professional Accountant, Chartered Accountant.

MICHAEL ROUSSEAU | DIRECTOR & CHAIR OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Rousseau is Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Air Canada, a position he has held since 2007.
Since 2010, Mr. Rousseau has been a director of Resolute Forest Products Inc. and was a member of the Finance
Committee; he is currently serving on the Audit Committee and is Chair of the Human Resources and
Compensation/Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. He also served as a trustee and Chair of the Audit
Committee of Golf Town Income Fund. Mr. Rousseau was the President of Hudson’s Bay Company from 2006 to 2007;
prior to that, he was the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Rousseau was the Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Moore Corporation and was also a member of its Pension Committee and he was Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Silcorp Limited. Mr. Rousseau holds a Bachelor of Business Administration from
York University and is a Chartered Professional Accountant, Chartered Accountant.

WILLIAM M. WELLS | DIRECTOR & CHAIR OF THE CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Mr. Wells is the Founder and Chairman of Evizone Limited, a privately held online communications service firm and the
Founder and Chairman of HLS Therapeutics Inc. a privately held pharmaceutical company. Mr. Wells is a director of
Acadia Pharmaceuticals Inc. and a trustee and member of the finance committee of the Lakefield College School
Foundation. He also serves on the board of MedGenesis Therapeutix Inc. Mr. Wells previously served on the Standard
& Poors’ Issuers Advisory Committee. Mr. Wells was a director of Biovail Corporation (“Biovail”), a pharmaceutical
company from 2005 until 2010 and was lead director, chair of the compensation committee and a member of the risk
and audit committees prior to becoming Chief Executive Officer. He served as the Chief Executive Officer of Biovail from
2008 until its merger with Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, Inc. (“Valeant”), when he then served as Chairman of
Valeant until 2010. Prior to joining Biovail, Mr. Wells held a number of senior executive positions, including as Chief
Financial Officer of Loblaw Companies Limited, a retail grocery chain, Chief Financial Officer of Bunge Limited, a U.S.
headquartered company engaged in the global agribusiness, fertilizer and food product industries, and financial
management positions at McDonald’s Corporation in the U.S. and Brazil. Mr. Wells holds a Master’s degree in
International Business from the University of South Carolina and a Bachelor’s degree in Philosophy and English from the
University of Western Ontario.
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The consolidated financial statements of EnerCare are prepared in accordance with IFRS.
EnerCare’s basis of presentation and significant accounting policies are summarized in detail
in notes 2 and 3 of the consolidated financial statements for the period ended December 31,
2014. Unless otherwise specified, amounts are reported in this MD&A in thousands, except
customers, units and “per unit” amounts, Shares and “per Share” amounts, Subscription
Receipts, and percentages (except as otherwise noted). Dollar amounts are expressed in
Canadian currency.
EnerCare operates its businesses in two segments: Home Services – provision of water heaters,
furnaces, air conditioners and other HVAC rental products, protection plans and related
services and Sub-metering –provision of Sub-metering equipment and billing services.
Certain definitions of key financial and operating terms used in this MD&A are located at the
end of this MD&A under “Glossary of Terms”.
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This MD&A, dated March 2, 2015, contains certain forward-looking statements that involve various risks and uncertainties
and should be read in conjunction with EnerCare’s 2014 audited consolidated financial statements. Additional information
in respect to EnerCare, including the AIF, can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
When used herein, the words “anticipates”, “believes”, “budgets”, “could”, “estimates”, “expects”, “forecasts”, “intends”,
“may”, “might”, “plans”, “projects”, “schedule”, “should”, “will”, “would” and similar expressions are often intended to
identify forward-looking information, although not all forward-looking information contains these identifying words. The
forward-looking information in this MD&A includes statements that reflect management’s expectation regarding EnerCare’s
growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects and opportunities. Such forward-looking information reflects
management’s current beliefs and is based on information available to them and/or assumptions management believes
are reasonable. Many factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forwardlooking information. Although the forward-looking information is based on what management believes to be reasonable
assumptions, EnerCare cannot assure investors that actual results will be consistent with this forward-looking information.
All forward-looking information in this MD&A is made as of the date of this MD&A. Except as required by applicable
securities laws, EnerCare does not intend and does not assume any obligations to update or revise the forward-looking
information, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
Please see the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this MD&A for a thorough discussion in respect of the material risks relating
to the business and structure of EnerCare.
OVERVIEW

EnerCare, primarily through acquisition, has become a multi-segment and product company since its origins in 2002 as
the Fund, which primarily financed rental equipment originated and serviced by DE. On October 20, 2014, EnerCare
purchased the Ontario home and small commercial services business from DE and effectively reunited the business
separated in 2002 with the creation of the Fund (see additional commentary under “Recent Developments – EnerCare
Completes Acquisition of DE’s Home and Small Commercial Services Business in Ontario”). EnerCare Solutions, a whollyowned subsidiary of EnerCare, through its subsidiaries, operates the Home Services business.
EnerCare also owns EnerCare Connections Inc. (a successor by amalgamation effective January 1, 2012 to Stratacon
Inc. and EnerCare Connections Inc.). ECI provides sub-metering services for electricity, thermal and water to condominiums
and apartments in Ontario, Alberta and elsewhere in Canada.
Through its Home Services and Sub-metering businesses, EnerCare provides intelligent and energy-efficient products,
services, programs and solutions that enable homeowners, multi-unit owners and tenants to make a substantial contribution
to Canada’s growing culture of energy conservation.
EnerCare has grown revenues every year since its inception in 2002, generated stable cash flow and consistently
maintained a high dividend yield. EnerCare has investment grade ratings of BBB+/negative and BBB(high) stable rating
from S&P and DBRS, respectively.
EnerCare’s Shares trade under the symbol ECI and its Convertible Debentures trade under the symbol ECI.DB on the
Toronto Stock Exchange. EnerCare is a member of the S&P/TSX Composite Index.
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PORTFOLIO SUMMARY

EnerCare’s primary businesses are comprised of Home Services and Sub-metering. As seen by the graph below, the
Home Services business accounted for 63% of the overall revenue of EnerCare during 2013 and 67% during 2014. In
2013, the Home Services segment only comprised of water heater and HVAC rental products, primarily subject to the
origination and servicing arrangements with DE. Since the Acquisition, Home Services includes the other revenue sources
discussed below.

Revenue by Segment
2013

2014
33%

37%

63%

Home Services

Sub-metering

67%

Home Services

Sub-metering

Home Services Business
There are four main business activities within Home Services: Rentals, Protection Plans, HVAC Sales and Other (which
includes duct cleaning, chargeable plumbing work and other chargeable services). The following diagram shows the
breakdown of customer contracts for each such activity ending in the fourth quarter of 2014.

1.1 Million

553,000

Rentals

Protection Plans

2,700
HVAC Sales
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Other
Products &
Services

Of the four main business activities, the Rentals component produces the largest portion of revenue, followed by Protection
Plans, HVAC Sales and Other, as illustrated in more detail by the following chart.

Home Services Revenue by Category
Q4 2014
Other 3%
HVAC Sales 9%

Protection
Plans 19%

Rentals 69%

Rentals
Prior to the Acquisition, EnerCare had expanded its Home Services business through a number of acquisitions and
origination arrangements with various parties, however, approximately 90% of the Rentals revenue was subject to the Coownership Agreement.
For the portfolios under the Co-ownership Agreement, EnerCare was entitled to 65% of the revenue and other payments
and DE was entitled to 35% of the revenue. For DE’s portion of the revenue, it was responsible for servicing and maintaining
the assets. Through its origination agreement with DE, EnerCare essentially incurred the capital expenditures in respect of
the portfolio. Following the Acquisition, EnerCare now receives 100% of the rental revenues and is responsible for the
service and maintenance obligations associated with those assets.
Over the last several years, EnerCare has experienced higher than normal Attrition on the water heater rental portfolios.
This was largely a result of greater competition through aggressive D2D campaigns. EnerCare has implemented many
programs, including continued consumer education campaigns. Such initiatives, coupled with broader consumer
awareness as well as enhancements to our customer value proposition (for example, the “same day service campaign”),
have helped to significantly reduce Attrition in recent years.
Attrition decreased in the fourth quarter of 2014 by 1,000 units or 8% and by 7,000 units or 14% in 2014, over the
same periods in 2013. Attrition has improved year-over-year since 2009 (see table below) with Attrition in 2014 being
the lowest in the past six years.
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Attrition
(000’s)
35
32
27

19

20

22

24

22
19

18

20

19
14

11

18
14

11

9

Q1

Q2

2009

2010

12

2012

2013

17
12

11

Q3

2011

20

11

Q4

2014

Partially offsetting Attrition is the movement in asset mix to units with higher returns. One of EnerCare’s growth platforms
has been to focus on single family and multi-residential HVAC rental units. Although results are small on the unit continuity,
HVAC units provide three to five times more rental revenue than that of a water heater. A comparison of the product mix
seven years ago to that of today reveals that the portfolio contains a higher percentage of power vent (“PV”) and tankless
units, both of which provide a higher revenue than conventional vent (“CV”) units.

Revenue Source as at December 31, 2007
Tankless 0%

Revenue Source as at December 31, 2014

Others
9%

Others
11%
Tankless 2%
Electric 4%

Electric 3%

CV 35%

CV 44%

PV 44%

PV 48%

The impact of changes in product mix over time is outlined further in the graph below which shows revenue for 2014
from unit additions contributing approximately $13.79 per unit more than revenue from units lost on account of Attrition.
New customers are worth approximately 1.8 times that of a lost customer.
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Average Monthly Rental Rate Changes
Difference
of $5.10

Difference
of $8.02

Difference
of $13.79

$30.99

$22.57
$19.28
$17.20
$14.18

$14.55

2012

Attrition

2014

2013

Additions

Attrition

Additions

Subsequent to the Acquisition, EnerCare offers the additional products and services as follows:
Protection Plans
Home Services sells a variety of plans covering such items as furnaces, air conditioning, plumbing and appliances. There
are essentially two types of protection plans: maintenance protection plans and full service protection plans. Maintenance
protection plans essentially only provide for maintenance services, whereas full service protection plans provide a broader
suite of protections, such as parts and labour. The plans are typically one year in length with monthly, quarterly or annual
payment options. Due to the annual nature of the contract, the protection plans tend to have a higher churn rate. The
following chart depicts the additions and attrition for the category from October 20, 2014 to December 31, 2014.
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Protection Plan Additions & Attrition
(000’s)
Pre-Acquisition
Full Year
2013

Post-Acquisition

Jan 1 – Oct 19
2014

Oct 20 – Dec 31
2014

72
54

16

13

50
63
Attrition

Additions

The following table illustrates the annualized protection plan contract continuity for 2014 and 2013.

Protection Plan Unit Continuity (000’s)
Contracts – start of year
Portfolio additions
Attrition
Contracts – end of year
% change in units during the year

Pre and Post
Acquisition
2014

Pre-Acquisition
2013

546

537

70

72

(63)

(63)

553

546

1.3%

1.7%

% of units from start of year:
Portfolio additions

12.8%

13.4%

Attrition

(11.5%)

(11.7%)

HVAC Sales
A customer can acquire an HVAC asset through a sale, comprised of an outright purchase or financing through a third
party. Typically, HVAC sales occur during the heating and cooling seasons of the year. During the quarter, EnerCare
rented approximately 2,000 new units to customers and between October 20, 2014 and December 31, 2014, sold
approximately 2,700 units to customers.
Other
The Other category includes ancillary services such as duct cleaning, plumbing work and other non-contracted chargeable
services provided by Home Services.
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Sub-metering Business
EnerCare entered the multi-residential Sub-metering business through two acquisitions made in the last six years. There are
two main market segments for Sub-metering in the multi-residential market: retro-fit sub-metering and new build construction.
Within each market, apartments and condos have significantly different revenue streams.
Within the retro-fit revenue stream, after a contract is signed, the meters are typically installed within the first two quarters
of signing. However, typically for a retro-fit installed unit to become Billable, EnerCare must wait for tenant turnover to
occur. As a result, it can take many years for all units in a retro-fit building to become Billable. In the new build submetering market, after a contract is signed, the meters are usually not installed for several years as installation occurs
when the building is in its final construction stages. However, in this revenue stream, once the meters are installed they
become Billable relatively quickly and revenue is typically at 100% penetration from that point onwards.
Through acquisition and our subsequent growth in contracted units, many of the above-mentioned up-front capital
investments have been made. As seen in the graph below, currently we have 185,000 contracted units. Of those
contracted units, 151,000 have meters installed and 96,000 units are billing. We expect to experience continued
revenue growth as these contracted units are turned into installed units and subsequently Billable units.

Unit Continuity
(000’s)

11%
185
166

11%
151
136

17%
96
82

Contracted

Installed

Q4 2013

Billable

Q4 2014

Over the past year, EnerCare has implemented a number of LEAN and continuous improvement initiatives improving work
flow, efficiencies and expanding capacity within Sub-metering. The most recent revenue assurance program, initiated in
the second quarter of 2014, has yielded improvements which we anticipate will contribute more than $2,000 of
incremental net revenue in 2015.
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2014 HIGHLIGHTS

(000’s)

Home Services
Sub-metering
Investment income
Total revenues
EBITDA1
Adjusted EBITDA

2014

2013

Change

Percent
Change

$ 242,334

$ 189,438

$ 52,896

28%

119,613

109,338

10,275

9%

806

373

433

116%

$ 362,753

$ 299,149

$ 63,604

21%

164,716

152,493

12,223

8%
4%

174,983

168,580

6,403

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA1

182,705

168,580

14,125

8%

Earnings before income taxes

32,158

12,620

19,538

155%

(27,287)

(21,852)

(5,435)

25%

1

Current tax (expense)
Deferred income tax recovery
Net earnings

17,405
$ 22,276

$

18,050

(625)

(4%)

8,818

$ 13,458

153%

Payout Ratio – Maintenance2

49%

49%

-%

-%

Payout Ratio2

80%

78%

2%

3%

The following highlights compare 2014 results with those of 2013.
• Total revenues of $362,753 increased by $63,604 or 21% in 2014. Revenues in the Home Services business were
$242,334, greater than the prior year by $52,896, primarily as a result of $46,065 of revenues added through the
Acquisition. The remaining $6,831 increase was primarily as a result of rental rate increases, improved billing
completeness and asset mix changes, partially offset by fewer installed assets. Sub-metering revenues increased to
$119,613 from $109,338, primarily as a result of an increase in flow through commodity charges and Billable units.
• EBITDA increased by $12,223 to $164,716 in 2014, driven principally by improved total revenues and loss on
disposal of equipment, partially offset by higher cost of goods sold and SG&A primarily associated with the Acquisition.
EBITDA was negatively impacted by $1,544 in 2014 as a result of the costs incurred for protection plans sold by DE
prior to the Acquisition. Adjusted EBITDA of $174,983 increased by $6,403 after removing from EBITDA the impact
of the loss on disposal of equipment and including other income. After removing Acquisition costs of $7,722, Acquisition
Adjusted EBITDA was $182,705 in 2014, an increase of $14,125 over the same period in 2013.
• Net earnings of $22,276 in 2014 increased by $13,458 or 153% compared to 2013, reflecting increased EBITDA,
lower interest expense and the non-recurring make-whole payment of $13,754 incurred in 2013, partially offset by
higher interest on Subscription Receipts, bridge financing charges, professional fees associated with the Acquisition
and higher total taxes payable.
• Attrition in the Rentals portfolio decreased by 14% or 7,000 units for 2014. Attrition has improved year-over-year since
2009 and for ten consecutive quarters, year-over-year.

1 EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA are Non-IFRS financial measures. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures section in
this MD&A.
2 Payout Ratio – Maintenance and Payout Ratio are Non-IFRS financial measures. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures section in this MD&A.
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• The Payout Ratio – Maintenance, which includes only capital expenditures in respect of exchanged assets, was 49%
in 2014, consistent with 2013, primarily as a result of higher current taxes, net capital expenditures and dividend
payments, after adjustments for other income, Acquisition costs and the early redemption of the 2009-2 Notes.
• The Payout Ratio was 80% in 2014 versus 78% in 2013 (see additional commentary under “Distributable Cash and
Payout Ratios”).
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS – 2014 AND 2015 TO DATE

Acquisition of Water Heaters from Energy Services Niagara Inc.
In February 2014, EnerCare, through a subsidiary of EnerCare Solutions, acquired the rental portfolio of ESN, comprised
of approximately 2,468 electric and gas-fired water heaters for cash consideration of $3,035 plus inventory of $38. In
connection with the acquisition, ESN and EnerCare entered into a transitional agreement, as well as an assignment,
assumption and consent agreement with Enbridge in respect of the ESN OBA. At the time of acquisition, approximately
97% of ESN’s customers were billed through the ESN OBA. The rental revenue from the ESN water heaters were not
subject to the Co-ownership Agreement.
Dividend Increase
On March 6, 2014, EnerCare increased its monthly dividend to shareholders of record on March 31, 2014 to $0.0604,
representing an increase of 4%.
Direct Energy Collective Bargaining Agreement
On April 23, 2014, DE reached a tentative three-year CBA, which was subsequently ratified by the union.
EnerCare and EnerCare Solutions Provide a Business Update
On July 10, 2014, EnerCare and EnerCare Solutions provided a business update in order to outline developments in
their operations for the second quarter of 2014 and year-to-date. EnerCare highlighted that EnerCare and EnerCare
Solutions continued to experience improved customer retention, with Attrition improving year-over-year since 2009 and
for eight consecutive quarters year-over-year, Rentals portfolio revenue growth from additions outpaced revenue lost to
Attrition and Sub-metering sales activity remained strong.
EnerCare and EnerCare Solutions Respond to Shareholder Letter Issued by Augustus Advisors
On July 17, 2014, EnerCare and EnerCare Solutions issued a news release to respond to the letter issued by Augustus
Advisors, LLC (an affiliate of EnerCare’s largest shareholder) to EnerCare’s shareholders. In that news release, EnerCare
indicated that, following receipt of a letter of indication sent by TPG Special Situations Partner, LLC (‘‘TSSP’’) to EnerCare
in late May 2014 referenced in the letter to shareholders, the board of directors met and considered the letter of indication
and that, after that consideration, including considering financial and other information provided by EnerCare’s advisors,
the board unanimously determined that the indicated price of between $13.50 and $15.00 per Share did not represent
full value for the Shares and was not sufficient to form the basis of meaningful discussions with TSSP.
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EnerCare Completes Acquisition of DE’s Home and Small Commercial Services Business in Ontario
On October 20, 2014, EnerCare, through a subsidiary of EnerCare Solutions, completed the acquisition of DE’s home
and small commercial services business in Ontario.
The purchase price of the Acquisition was approximately $550,390, subject to final working capital adjustments. The
Acquisition and related transaction costs were financed through a combination of debt and equity, including approximately
$333,262 of Subscription Receipts (25,635,525 Subscription Receipts at a price of $13.00 per Subscription Receipt
and $317,000 net of fees), $150,000 from the New Term Loan, and a private placement of 7,692,308 Shares to DE.
The Shares issued to DE are subject to a 12-month lock-up and thereafter, one-half of such Shares will be subject to a
further 6-month lock-up.
In accordance with the terms of the agreement pursuant to which the Subscription Receipts were issued, each outstanding
Subscription Receipt was exchanged for one Share, resulting in the issuance of 25,635,525 Shares and a cash payment
equal to $0.1208 per Subscription Receipt. The cash payment was equal to the aggregate amount of dividends per
Share for which record dates occurred since the issuance of the Subscription Receipts, less any withholding taxes, if any.
EnerCare Solutions’ New Debt Financing with two Canadian chartered banks is comprised of: (i) the New Term Loan,
which has been drawn for the purpose of financing the Acquisition and re-financing EnerCare Solutions’ Previous Term
Loan; and (ii) the New Revolver, which replaced the Previous Revolver, which was undrawn at the time of replacement.
Concurrent with the closing of the Acquisition, EnerCare and DE entered into a transition services agreement pursuant to
which DE provides certain transition services to EnerCare relating to, among other things, the provision of ongoing
information technology, other support and information technology decoupling services for an initial period of 15-months,
subject to extension by either party for up to two additional 3-month terms.
Stronger Protection for Ontario Consumers Act, 2013
On November 27, 2013, the Stronger Protection for Ontario Consumers Act, 2013 (“Bill 55”) passed third reading in
the Ontario Legislature. Bill 55 is a direct response by the Ontario Government to aggressive and deceptive door-to-door
water heater rental sales.
On March 7, 2014 and October 10, 2014, the Ontario Ministry of Consumer Services (the “Ministry”) issued proposals
for regulations to implement Bill 55 and invited public consultation on the proposals. EnerCare submitted its comments on
the proposals to the Ministry in respect of both consultations.
On January 12, 2015, EnerCare announced that the amendments to the Consumer Protection Act (Ontario) pursuant to
Bill 55 will come into force on April 1, 2015.
Among other things, Bill 55 provides the following changes in respect of direct agreements for the supply of water heaters:
• Doubles the existing 10-day cooling-off period to 20 days, providing consumers with more time to consider their
decision;
• Subject to certain exceptions, including where the consumer initiates contact with the supplier, bans the delivery and
installation of water heaters during the new 20-day cooling-off period; and
• Provides new consumer protection when the rules are not followed, such as requiring the supplier to reimburse the
customer for all cancellation, return or removal fees when the 20-day cooling-off period is not observed.
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Concurrently with the coming into force of Bill 55, new or amended regulations under the Consumer Protection Act (the
“Regulations”) are also to come into effect. Among other things, the Regulations require the following in respect of direct
agreements for the supply of water heaters:
• Companies must confirm sales by making scripted and recorded telephone calls to the customer, subject to certain
exceptions including where the consumer initiates contact with the supplier; and
• Enhanced disclosure, including the requirement to include mandatory cover pages and the comparable retail price,
rental rate, total amounts payable under the contract and any termination charges.
EnerCare believes that Bill 55 is a strong enhancement in consumer protection that will provide necessary protection for
its customers and greatly assist with EnerCare’s continued efforts to combat Attrition in its water heater business.
Appointment of Director
On October 27, 2014, Scott Boose was appointed to EnerCare’s board. Mr. Boose was nominated to the EnerCare
board by DE pursuant to DE’s rights under a nomination agreement entered into in connection with the Acquisition. That
agreement provides that for so long as DE controls not less than 3,846,154 Shares of EnerCare, DE will be entitled to
nominate one individual for consideration by EnerCare’s governance committee and board. Mr. Boose is the President of
Direct Energy Services. Prior to this role, Mr. Boose was President of the Clockwork Home Services business (a DE
company), which operates its franchise network in 48 states and has company-owned operations in the United States in
11 states, as well as 2 Canadian provinces. Mr. Boose joined DE in 2004 through the acquisition of the Residential
Services Group, in which he held several senior positions over a ten year period.
EnerCare Provides Voluntary Assurance to the Competition Bureau regarding Water Heater Returns
On November 6, 2014, EnerCare announced that it resolved concerns that Canada’s Competition Bureau (the “Bureau”)
had in respect of certain water heater return policies and practices of DE in respect of OHCS. This was the culmination
of a co-operative process between EnerCare and the Bureau that was initiated in conjunction with the Acquisition.
As noted in the Bureau’s own announcement, EnerCare had not engaged in any anti-competitive behaviour. However,
following the Acquisition, EnerCare voluntarily provided written assurance to the Bureau regarding EnerCare’s water
heater return policies and practices, including:
• no longer requiring customers to obtain authorization numbers before returning a rented water heater;
• honouring agreements whereby a new supplier can terminate a customer’s account on his or her behalf and return the
old water heater; and
• opening two new return depots to facilitate the return of its water heaters.
EnerCare does not expect that the changes will have a significant impact on its operating costs or Attrition.
EnerCare Included in S&P/TSX Composite Index
On December 15, 2014, EnerCare announced that S&P Dow Jones Canadian Index Services had added EnerCare to
the S&P/TSX Composite Index effective after the close of trading on Friday, December 19, 2014.
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EnerCare was also added to the S&P/TSX Composite Dividend Index and the S&P/TSX Composite High Dividend Index.
The S&P/TSX Composite Index is the headline index in Canada and the premier indicator of performance for Canadian
equity markets. It includes the largest companies on the TSX as measured by market capitalization and liquidity.
Senior Management Changes
Laima Cers, Vice-President, Marketing and Business Development, resigned effective May 30, 2014.
On January 12, 2015, Aaron Cheng was appointed Vice President of Information Technologies of EnerCare and
EnerCare Solutions and each of their respective subsidiary entities.
On January 16, 2015, Larry Ryan was appointed interim Senior Vice President and General Manager of Home Services.
On March 23, 2015, Lorne Solway will be appointed Chief Marketing Officer of EnerCare and EnerCare Solutions
and each of their respective subsidiary entities.
Acquisition of Water Heaters from Cobourg Network Inc.
On March 2, 2015, EnerCare, through a subsidiary of EnerCare Solutions, acquired the rental portfolio of Cobourg
Network Inc. (“CNI”), comprised of approximately 1,380 electric water heaters for cash consideration of $890, subject
to post-closing adjustments. In connection with the acquisition, CNI and EnerCare entered into a transitional agreement
pursuant to which CNI provides transitional support and billing and collection services on behalf of EnerCare.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview
2014

2013

2012

$ 362,753

$ 299,149

$ 275,578

Consolidated Financial Highlights (000’s)
Total revenues
Earnings before income taxes

32,158

12,620

5,375

Current tax expense

(27,287)

(21,852)

(14,548)

Deferred income tax recovery
Net earnings/(loss)

17,405
$

22,276

18,050
$

8,818

5,998
$

(3,175)

EBITDA

164,716

152,493

145,306

Adjusted EBITDA

174,983

168,580

162,447

Acquisition adjusted EBITDA

182,705

168,580

162,447

Per Share information
Shareholder dividends declared

$

0.72

$

0.69

$

0.67

Net earnings/(loss)

$

0.34

$

0.15

$

(0.06)

Total assets

1,407,732

778,880

804,566

688,111

540,320

529,475

Total debt
Cash provided by operating activities
Distributable Cash
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145,629
$

59,929

115,691
$

51,050

95,870
$

61,564

Payout Ratio – Maintenance

49%

49%

45%

Payout Ratio

80%

78%

63%
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2014 vs. 2013
Total revenues increased by approximately 21% or $63,604 to $362,753 in 2014. The improved revenues were the
result of an increase in Home Services revenue of $52,896 or 28% to $242,334, driven primarily by $46,065 of
revenues generated following the Acquisition and $6,831 from a rental rate increase effective January 2014. Increases
in commodity charges and Billable units in the Sub-metering business increased revenues by $10,275 to $119,613 in
2014. Investment income of $806 was higher by $433, primarily from $531 of interest earned from the Subscription
Receipts proceeds received in the third quarter in connection with the Acquisition. Net earnings were $22,276 in 2014,
$13,458 higher than 2013 as a result of improved EBITDA, lower interest expense and the non-recurring make-whole
payment of $13,754 incurred in 2013, partially offset by reduced other income, higher interest on Subscription Receipts,
bridge financing charges, professional fees associated with the Acquisition and total taxes payable.
EBITDA increased by 8% or $12,223 as a result of improved revenues and lower losses on disposal of equipment,
partially offset by a combined increase in cost of goods sold and SG&A expenses of $52,729, of which $46,067 was
driven by expenses incurred in the Home Services business following the Acquisition. Adjusted EBITDA increased by
$6,403 or 4% after removing from EBITDA the impact of a reduced loss on disposal of equipment and including other
income. After removing net expenditures of $7,722 associated with the Acquisition, Adjusted EBITDA was $182,705
in 2014, an increase of $14,125 over the same period in 2013.
Total assets increased by approximately $628,852 in 2014, primarily due to the Acquisition, partly offset by the
amortization of intangible assets and equipment. Total debt increased to $688,111 as a result of the New Debt Financing
related to the Acquisition, partly offset by reductions in Convertible Debentures with conversions into Shares, repayment of
the Previous Term Loan and principal repayments on the Stratacon Debt. Cash flow from operating activities increased by
$29,938 in 2014, primarily as a result of improved EBITDA and lower accounts receivable (see the discussion in “Liquidity
and Capital Resources – Cash from Financing” in this MD&A). The Payout Ratio increased to 80% from 78%, primarily as
a result of an increase in capital expenditures, the non-recurring early redemption of the 2009-2 Notes net of a tax amount
of $11,751 incurred in 2013 and current taxes, partially offset by improved Operating Cash Flow (see the discussion in
“Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures” in this MD&A), inclusive of $11,063 of net Acquisition costs.
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2013 vs. 2012
For 2013 and 2012, certain comparative amounts had been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation:
1) Revenue related to charges to landlords on account of common area and suite consumption that was not billed to
tenants has been reclassified from commodity charges. The related accounts receivable has been reclassified from accounts
payable and accrued liabilities. These reclassifications resulted in an increase to both Sub-metering revenues and
commodity charges for $18,996 in 2012. These reclassifications did not result in any adjustments to previously reported
net income, working capital or cash flows. 2) Where deferred tax assets and liabilities existed in the legal entities of
EnerCare and its subsidiaries, these amounts were reclassified to either a net deferred tax asset or liability, as applicable.
As such, for 2012 deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities declined by $2,676 on a consolidated basis. These
reclassifications did not result in any adjustments to previously reported net income, working capital or cash flows.
Total revenues increased by approximately 9% or $23,571 to $299,149 in 2013. The improved revenues were the
result of an increase in Billable units and commodity charges in the Sub-metering business, which increased Sub-metering
revenues by $20,505 to $109,338 in 2013, and improvements in Home Services revenue by $3,150 or 2% to
$189,438, driven primarily by a rental rate increase effective January 2013. Investment income was lower by $84 to
$373, primarily as a result of lower average invested funds following the repayment of $60,000 in debt in the second
quarter of 2012. Net earnings were $8,818 in 2013, $11,993 higher than 2012 as a result of improved EBITDA and
other income, and reductions in amortization, partially offset by higher interest expense caused by a non-recurring makewhole payment of $13,754 and current taxes.
EBITDA increased by 5% or $7,187 as a result of improved Home Services revenues, increased Sub-metering revenues,
net of commodity expenses, and lower losses on disposal of equipment, partially offset by an increase in SG&A expenses
of $349 or approximately 1%. Adjusted EBITDA increased by $6,133 or 4% after removing from EBITDA the impact of
a reduced loss on disposal of equipment and including other income.
Total assets decreased by approximately $25,686 in 2013, primarily due to the amortization of intangible assets and
equipment. Total debt increased to $540,320 as a result of the debt refinancing in the first quarter of 2013, offset by
reductions in Convertible Debentures with conversions into Shares. Cash flow from operating activities increased by
$19,821 in 2013, primarily as a result of improved revenues net of commodity expenses and reductions in accounts
receivable in the Sub-metering business. The Payout Ratio increased to 78% from 63% primarily from an increase in capital
expenditures and current taxes, partially offset by improved Operating Cash Flow inclusive of the early redemption of the
2009-2 Notes net of tax amount of $11,751.

36

EnerCare Annual Report 2014

Earnings Statement

(000’s)

Home
Services

SubMetering

$ 231,454

$ 119,132

10,880

481

242

17

$ 242,576

$ 119,630

-

97,673

2014
Total

Home
Services

SubMetering

-

$ 350,586

$ 189,388

$ 108,597

-

$ 297,985

-

11,361

50

741

-

791

547

806

352

-

21

373

547

$ 362,753

$ 189,790

$ 109,338

21

$ 299,149

-

97,673

-

90,671

-

90,671

Corporate

2013
Total

Corporate

Revenues:
Contracted revenue
Sales and other services
Investment Income
Total revenue

$

$

$

$

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
Commodity
Maintenance & servicing
costs

10,600

-

-

10,600

-

-

-

-

7,743

378

-

8,121

22

556

-

578

Total cost of goods sold

18,343

98,051

-

116,394

22

91,227

-

91,249

SG&A expenses

39,604

13,877

17,497

70,978

15,189

13,387

14,818

43,394

Amortization expense

97,790

4,800

2,291

104,881

94,100

3,993

1,627

99,720

9,859

-

-

9,859

11,640

-

-

11,640

Sales and other services

Loss on disposal
Interest expense:
Interest expense payable
in cash
Make-whole payment on
early redemption of debt
Non-cash interest expense
Total interest expense
Total expenses
Other income

27,937

25,850

-

13,754

954

5,369

28,891

44,973

331,003
408

-

-

408

290,976
4,447

-

-

4,447

Earnings before income taxes

32,158

12,620

Current tax (expense)

(27,287)

(21,852)

Deferred tax recovery

17,405

Net earnings

18,050

$ 22,276

EBITDA

$ 174,528

Adjusted EBITDA

$ 184,795

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$ 192,517

$

$

8,818

7,685

$ (17,497)

$ 164,716

$ 162,587

$

4,724

$ (14,818)

$ 152,493

$

7,685

$ (17,497)

$ 174,983

$ 178,674

$

4,724

$ (14,818)

$ 168,580

$

7,685

$ (17,497)

$ 182,705

$ 178,674

$

4,724

$ (14,818)

$ 168,580

Revenues
Total revenues of $362,753 for 2014 increased by $63,604 or 21% compared to 2013.
Home Services revenues, excluding investment income, increased by $52,896 to $242,334 compared to 2013,
primarily as a result of $46,065 of additional revenue added through the Acquisition. The remaining $6,831 increase
was primarily due to a rental rate increase implemented in January 2014, improved billing completeness and changes
in asset mix, partially offset by fewer installed assets. Contracted revenue in Home Services represents revenue generated
by the Rentals portfolio and protection plan contracts, while sales and other services revenue mainly pertains to one-time
sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers and air conditioners as well as duct cleaning and other services.
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Sub-metering revenues, excluding investment income, in 2014 were $119,613, an increase of $10,275 or 9% over
the comparable period in 2013, primarily as a result of increased commodity charges and Billable units. Sub-metering
revenue includes total pass through energy charges of $97,673 in 2014, an increase of $7,002 over the same period
in 2013. Sales and other services revenue for Sub-metering are earned from the sale and installation of water conservation
products in apartments and condominiums.
Investment income was $806 in 2014, an increase of $433 compared to 2013. The change in investment income
was primarily attributable to $531 of interest earned from the Subscription Receipts proceeds received in connection with
the Acquisition.
Cost of Goods Sold
Total cost of goods sold were $116,394 in 2014, an increase of $25,145 or 28% compared to 2013.
Home Services cost of goods sold increased by $18,321 compared to 2013, primarily due to $18,266 of expenses
resulting from the increased scope of the business following the Acquisition. Maintenance and servicing costs in Home
Services primarily consist of protection plan expenses and servicing costs related to the rental portfolio, while sales and
other services expenses mainly pertain to one-time sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers, air conditioners
and small commercial products as well as duct and other cleaning services.
Sub-metering cost of goods sold of $98,051 increased by $6,824 or 7%, as a result of an increase of $7,002 of pass
through energy charges over the same period in 2013. Sales and other services expenses for Sub-metering relate to the
sale and installation of water conservation products in apartments and condominiums.
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses
Total SG&A expenses were $70,978 in 2014, an increase of $27,584 or 64% compared to 2013.
Home Services and corporate expenses of $57,101 increased by $27,094 compared to 2013, primarily due to
$27,801 of additional expenses resulting from the increased scope of the business following the Acquisition. The
$27,094 increase over 2013 was primarily as a result of approximately $9,900 in wages and benefits, $7,100 in
professional fees, $7,200 of billing and servicing costs, $2,000 in office expenses, $1,400 in selling expenses and
$160 in bad debts, partially offset by reductions of $660 in claims expenses. During 2014, Home Services and
corporate SG&A expenses included $7,722 of costs associated with the Acquisition, of which approximately $6,770
were professional fees, $620 selling expenses, $210 office expenses and $120 wages and benefits.
Sub-metering SG&A expenses were $13,877 or $490 greater in 2014 compared to 2013, primarily as a result of
increased wages and benefits of approximately $2,250 and billing and servicing costs of $670, partially offset by
reductions in bad debts of $2,100, selling expenses of $190 and professional fees of $140.
Amortization Expense
Amortization expense increased by $5,161 or 5% in 2014, primarily due to, additional Acquisition related amortization
from capital and intangible assets of $1,032 and $4,015, respectively. The remaining increase of $114 over 2013
was primarily from an increasing capital asset base from asset mix changes in the Rentals portfolio and increased Submetering capital investments, which are amortized over a shorter life than those of the Home Services business.
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Loss on Disposal of Equipment
EnerCare reported a loss on disposal of equipment of $9,859 in 2014, a reduction of $1,781 or 15%, over the same
period in 2013. The loss on disposal amount is influenced by the number of assets retired, proceeds on disposal of
equipment, changes in the retirement asset mix and the age of the assets retired.
Interest Expense
(000s)

Interest expense payable in cash
Interest paid on subscription receipts
Equity bridge financing fees
Make-whole payment on early redemption of debt

2014

2013

$ 24,065

$ 25,784

3,097

-

775

-

-

13,754

254

-

Non-cash items:
Notional interest on employee benefit plans, net
Amortization of OCI and financing costs
Interest expense

700

5,435

$ 28,891

$ 44,973

Interest expense payable in cash decreased by $1,719 to $24,065 in 2014 compared to 2013. The decrease is
primarily related to the conversion of Convertible Debentures to Shares and reduction in interest rates with the early
redemption in 2013 of the 2009-2 Notes associated with the issuance of the 2013 Notes. As part of the Acquisition,
Subscription Receipts were issued and subsequently converted to Shares upon the closing of the Acquisition on
October 20, 2014. While the Subscription Receipts were outstanding, they were classified as a financial liability, resulting
in interest expense of $3,097, which was equivalent to the dividend payments on such Subscription Receipts had they
been Shares. Equity bridge financing fees of $775 were incurred as part of the Acquisition. The make-whole payment of
$13,754 was incurred upon the early redemption of the 2009-2 Notes and the drawdown of the Previous Term Loan.
Notional interest of $254 in 2014 relates to the employee benefits plans acquired as part of the Acquisition. Amortization
of OCI and financing costs for 2013 include the previously unamortized costs associated with the 2009-2 Notes and
$4,023 of accumulated OCI which was fully reclassified to earnings in the first quarter of 2013.
Other Income
During 2014, EnerCare realized a settlement of $408 from DE on account of the reclassification of certain water heaters
under the Co-ownership Agreement to EnerCare’s owned portfolio, originally associated with the Toronto Hydro Energy
Services Inc. portfolio acquisition. During 2013, EnerCare realized settlements from DE of $4,447, including income of
approximately $2,769 on account of water heater installation costs, billing and collection deficiencies and third-party
claims, and $1,678 on account of billing and collection in respect of water heater buyouts.
Income Taxes
EnerCare reported a current tax expense of $27,287 in 2014, an increase of $5,435 over 2013, primarily as a result
of higher taxable income. The deferred income tax recovery of $17,405 for 2014 was $645 lower than the deferred
tax recoveries of $18,050 recorded in 2013, primarily as a result of temporary difference reversals in the Home Services
and Sub-metering businesses, including the impact of the 2013 make-whole payment.
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Net Earnings
Net earnings in 2014 were $22,276 or $13,458 higher than in 2013, as previously described.
EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA
The following table summarizes comparative quarterly results for the last eight quarters, and reconciles net earnings, an
IFRS measure, to EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA.
Q4/14

Q3/14

Q2/14

Q1/14

Q4/13

Q3/13

Q2/13

Q1/13

$ 5,672

$ 2,133

$ 7,457

$ 7,014

$ 4,793

$ 6,931

$ 7,482

$(10,388)

Deferred tax (recovery)

(3,222)

(6,852)

(3,810)

(3,521)

(3,552)

(3,134)

(3,640)

(7,724)

Current tax expense

5,949

8,924

6,335

6,079

6,148

5,525

4,591

5,588

30,319

25,186

24,870

24,506

25,792

25,228

24,344

24,356

7,129

9,827

5,963

5,972

6,002

6,022

5,976

26,973

(000s)

Net earnings/(loss)

Amortization expense
Interest expense
Other (income)
Investment (income)
EBITDA
Add: Loss on disposal
of equipment
Add: Other income
Adjusted EBITDA(1)
Add: Acquisition SG&A
Acquisition Adjusted
EBITDA

-

-

-

(408)

(769)

(2,000)

(1,678)

-

(211)

(478)

(80)

(37)

(35)

(21)

(49)

(268)

45,636

38,740

40,735

39,605

38,379

38,551

37,026

38,537

2,180

2,304

2,371

3,004

2,666

2,633

3,449

2,892

-

-

-

408

769

2,000

1,678

-

47,816

41,044

43,106

43,017

41,814

43,184

42,153

41,429

4,138

2,882

702

-

-

-

-

-

$ 51,954

$ 43,926

$ 43,808

$ 43,017

$ 41,814

$ 43,184

$ 42,153

$ 41,429

(1) Historical Adjusted EBITDA has been conformed to the current presentation which includes other income and expense.

The variances over the last eight quarters are primarily due to the following:
1. Net earnings are impacted by rental rate increases, generally implemented in January of each year, accruals related
to billing and servicing matters and the Acquisition results included in the fourth quarter of 2014.
2. Increasing current taxes from higher taxable income.
3. Debt refinancing activities in the first quarter of 2013 resulted in additional interest expense, which included a makewhole payment of $13,754. Commencing in the third quarter of 2013, interest expense reflects the benefits of lower
blended interest rates and non-cash fee amortization. During the third quarter of 2014, additional interest expense
was incurred related to the bridge financing and treatment of Subscription Receipts for accounting purposes.
4. Amortization and loss on disposal of equipment are primarily driven by unit continuity activity such as Attrition,
exchanges and outstanding units. Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2014, amortization reflects increases from the
amortization of capital assets and intangibles following the Acquisition.
5. Other income relates to settlements with DE on account of installation and billing matters.
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DISTRIBUTABLE CASH AND PAYOUT RATIOS

EnerCare amended its payout ratio calculation in 2013. As a transition to the new calculation, EnerCare has chosen to
show both the historical calculation, Payout Ratio and our new calculation, Payout Ratio – Maintenance. Historically,
EnerCare included both the Rentals capital associated with maintaining (other than Sub-metering and acquisitions) the
current customer base (exchanges) as well as the capital associated with acquiring new customers. With the significant
improvement in Attrition over the last five years, combined with the success of transitioning Rentals customers into higher
revenue generating rental products, EnerCare has started to grow revenue beyond annual rate increases. As a result,
EnerCare changed the calculation to remove the capital required to acquire new Rentals customers. EnerCare believes
that the new calculation better reflects the on-going cash requirements to maintain the revenue from the current Rentals
customer base.
Payout Ratio (000s)
Cash provided by operating activities
Net change in non-cash working capital

2014

2013

$ 145,629

$ 115,691

(24,615)

(7,919)

121,014

107,772

Rentals additions

(42,359)

(34,355)

Rentals exchanges

(34,807)

(34,391)

Subtotal

(77,166)

(68,746)

Operating Cash Flow3
Capital expenditures: (excluding growth capital and acquisitions)

Total proceeds on disposal of equipment
Net capital expenditures
Other income
Early redemption of 2009-2 Notes net of tax

5,426

4,720

(71,740)

(64,026)

(408)

(4,447)

-

11,751

Acquisition expenditures

11,063

-

Total reductions

(61,085)

(56,722)

Distributable Cash3

59,929

51,050

Dividends declared

(48,167)

(39,939)

$ 11,762

$ 11,111

80%

78%

Net cash retained
Payout Ratio

The Payout Ratio, after capital expenditures (excluding growth capital for Sub-metering and acquisitions), increased to
80% for 2014 compared to 78% for 2013, primarily from increased net capital expenditures, current taxes and dividend
payments, after adjustments for other income, Acquisition costs and the early redemption of the 2009-2 Notes.
Acquisition costs of $11,063 in 2014 primarily consist of professional fees, interest on the Subscription Receipts and
bridge financing costs. These amounts have been adjusted in the payout ratio to better reflect recurring distributable cash.

3 Operating Cash Flow and Distributable Cash are a Non-IFRS financial measure. Refer to the Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures section in this MD&A.
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The early redemption of the 2009-2 Notes net of tax of $11,751 in 2013 represents the first quarter sum of a makewhole payment of approximately $13,754 and overlapping interest expense of $1,087, less investment income of $268
and the subsequent tax timing difference of ($2,822). The tax consequences of the make-whole payment were recognized
over the period to April 30, 2014. The make-whole payment was reflected as interest expense in the first quarter of
2013 and consequently directly impacted cash provided by operating activities for the balance of 2013.
EnerCare intends to finance its recurring capital expenditures with cash flow from operations, cash on hand and
available credit.
Payout Ratio – Maintenance Presentation
Payout Ratio – Maintenance (000’s)
Cash provided by operating activities
Net change in non-cash working capital
Operating Cash Flow

2014

2013

$ 145,629

$ 115,691

(24,615)

(7,919)

121,014

107,772

(34,807)

(34,391)

Capital expenditures: (excluding growth capital, additions and acquisitions)
Rentals exchanges
Proceeds on disposal of equipment – warranty recoveries
Net capital expenditures
Other income
Early redemption of 2009-2 Notes net of tax

2,138

1,517

(32,669)

(32,874)

(408)

(4,447)

-

11,751

Acquisition costs

11,063

-

Total reductions

(22,014)

(25,570)

Distributable Cash – Maintenance

99,000

82,202

Dividends declared

(48,167)

(39,939)

$ 50,833

$ 42,263

49%

49%

Net cash retained
Payout Ratio – Maintenance

The Payout Ratio – Maintenance, which is calculated based upon capital expenditures associated with the exchange of
assets for existing customers and excludes capital expenditures associated with obtaining new customers, was 49% in
both 2014 and 2013.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
(000’s)

Cash flow from operating activities
Net change in non-cash working capital
Operating Cash Flow
Capital expenditures: (excluding growth capital and acquisitions)
Proceeds on disposal of equipment
Net capital expenditures
Acquisition – Niagara portfolio
Acquisition – OHCS
Growth capital
Cash used in investing activities
Dividends paid
Other financing activities
Cash used in financing activities
Cash and equivalents – end of period

2014

2013

$ 145,629

$ 115,691

(24,615)

(7,919)

121,014

107,772

(77,558)

(68,709)

5,426

4,720

(72,132)

(63,989)

(3,035)

-

(440,113)

-

(8,015)

(10,570)

(523,295)

(74,559)

(46,006)

(39,799)

465,787

11,981

419,781

(27,818)

$ 68,055

$ 25,940

Operating Cash Flow of $121,014 increased by $13,242 in 2014 compared to 2013, primarily as a result of improved
revenues, changes in non-cash working capital and reduced interest expense, inclusive of the make-whole payment of
$13,754 associated with the redemption of the 2009-2 Notes, partially offset by increased cost of goods sold, SG&A
and current taxes. On December 30, 2014, Enbridge settled approximately $30,000 of December’s EnerCare billings
in advance of its normal settlement dates, impacting non-cash working capital as a result of lower accounts receivable.
Under the OBA cash is typically paid 21 days after billing.
Net capital expenditures of $72,132 in 2014 increased by $8,143 compared to 2013, due to changes in asset mix,
including increased HVAC rentals. In 2014, the acquisition of $3,035 represents the purchase of the ESN rental portfolio in
the first quarter while the Acquisition of $440,113 represents the cash portion of the purchase price of OHCS in the fourth
quarter. Growth capital investments were $8,015 for 2014, a decrease of $2,555 when compared to 2013. Growth
capital expenditures were lower in 2014, primarily as a result of fewer installations and higher costs in 2013 associated with
the internalization of the Sub-metering customer care and billing systems and enhancements to computer systems.
Dividends paid reflect dividend payments on outstanding Shares.
Other financing activities for 2014 primarily reflect additional debt and equity issued to finance the Acquisition along with
scheduled repayment of the Stratacon Debt during the period. In 2013, other financing activities reflected the repayment
of $2,000 in respect of the Previous Revolver during the second quarter and EnerCare Solutions’ repayment of the
2009-2 Notes on March 6, 2013 with proceeds from the 2013 Notes and the drawdown on the Previous Term Loan.
Available credit of $100,000 under the New Revolver was not drawn as at December 31, 2014. EnerCare Solutions
is subject to a number of covenants and has the ability to incur additional senior debt as described in “Liquidity and
Capital Resources – Cash from Financing” in this MD&A.
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Management believes that EnerCare has sufficient cash flow, cash on hand and available credit to meet its 2015
obligations, including capital expenditures, financing activities and working capital requirements for its businesses.
Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures typically have a significant impact on liquidity and are best understood with reference to the unit
continuity analysis below.
2014

Installed Asset Unit Continuity (000’s)
Segment
Units – start of period
Portfolio additions
Acquisitions
Attrition
Units – end of period
Asset exchanges – units retired and replaced

2013

Home
Services

Submetering

Total

Home
Services

Submetering

Total

1,145

136

1,281

1,171

115

1,286

24

15

39

23

21

44

2

-

2

-

-

-

(42)

-

(42)

(49)

-

(49)

1,129

151

1,280

1,145

136

1,281

51

-

51

54

-

% change in units during the period

54

(0.1%)

(0.4%)

Portfolio additions (net of acquisitions)

3.0%

3.4%

Attrition

(3.3%)

(3.8%)

Units retired and replaced

4.0%

% of units from start of period:

Billable units
Contracted units

1,129

96
185

1,225

4.2%
1,145

82

1,227

166

Net capital expenditures in the Home Services business include Rentals unit additions and asset exchanges, net of proceeds
on disposal. In 2014, net capital expenditures in Home Services were $72,132, increasing by 13% or $8,143, when
compared to 2013, primarily as a result of increased HVAC rentals.
Installations in the Sub-metering business were approximately 15,000 units for 2014, a decrease of 6,000 units compared
to 2013. Sub-metering capital expenditures in 2014 were $7,501, approximately $1,976 lower than in 2013 on
account of the timing and costs of projects under completion.
Attrition decreased in 2014 by 7,000 units or 14% compared to 2013. EnerCare has implemented many programs,
including continued consumer education campaigns. Such initiatives, coupled with broader consumer awareness as well
as enhancements to our customer value proposition (for example, the “same day service campaign”), have helped to
significantly reduce Attrition in recent years.
For the Home Services units, changes in Billable units reflect the asset activity as reported in the continuity schedule. For
the Sub-metering business, Billable units of 96,000 increased by 14,000 units in 2014 compared to 2013, primarily
due to additional installations and increased penetration in the rental apartment market.
Sub-metering sales activity was approximately 19,000 for 2014, an improvement of 9,000 over 2013.
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Cash from Financing
Financing activities for EnerCare may reflect dividend payments, periodic financing of EnerCare Solutions’ indebtedness,
EnerCare’s offering of Shares and Convertible Debentures, and to a much lesser extent financing of the Sub-metering
business. During 2014, EnerCare recorded a cash share issuance of $318,243, net of fees and $150,000 of additional
debt as part of the Acquisition, partially offset by dividend payments and the scheduled repayment of the Stratacon Debt.
2014

Capitalization (000s)
Cash and cash equivalents
Net investment in working capital

$

2013

68,055

$

25,940

(216)

(10,702)

67,839

15,238

Total debt

688,111

540,320

Shareholders’ equity

477,885

71,296

$1,165,996

$ 611,616

Cash, net of working capital

Total capitalization – book value

Typically, EnerCare maintains cash balances and available credit to provide sufficient cash reserves to satisfy short-term
requirements, including interest payments, dividends and certain capital expenditures and acquisitions.
At December 31, 2014, total debt was comprised of the 2012 Notes, the 2013 Notes, the New Term Loan, Convertible
Debentures and the Stratacon Debt.
EnerCare Solutions is subject to a number of covenant requirements as described in the AIF and below. The following
discussion outlines the principal covenants.
Debt Financing
As described in the AIF, the Previous Revolver and Previous Term Loan each contained terms, representations, warranties,
covenants and events of default that were customary for credit facilities of this kind, including financial covenants discussed
below, restrictions on asset sales and reorganizations, a negative pledge and limits on distributions to EnerCare (and,
therefore, in effect, holders of Shares). Events of default under the Previous Revolver and Previous Term Loan included a
cross-default provision and the occurrence of a change of control of EnerCare or EnerCare Solutions. EnerCare Solutions’
obligations under the Previous Revolver and Previous Term Loan were guaranteed by all of EnerCare Solutions’ direct and
indirect subsidiaries.
The New Debt Financing is an amendment and restatement of EnerCare Solutions’ Previous Revolver, with substantially
similar terms to that facility but with the following material additions and revisions made to reflect the inclusion of the New
Term Loan and contemplation of the Acquisition: (i) the addition of the New Term Loan commitments, (ii) the addition of
EHCS LP and the general partner of EHCS LP as guarantors, (iii) the revision to the definition of “Adjusted EBITDA” to
include add-backs for Acquisition-related transaction expenses, one-time rebranding costs and information technology
system harmonization costs not to exceed $23,500, (iv) increase in the “basket” sizes permitted under certain covenants
and events of default (to take into account the increase of assets under management due to the Acquisition), and
(iv) favourable changes to the financial covenants as described below.
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The Previous Revolver and Previous Term Loan contained the following financial covenants (i) all additional incurrences of
senior debt, with certain exceptions, must, on the date of incurrence, result in a pro forma ratio equal to or greater than
3.8 to 1.0 of Incurrence EBITDA (as defined in the Senior Unsecured Indenture) to Net Interest Expense (as defined in the
Senior Unsecured Indenture); (ii) the ratio of total debt (other than subordinated debt) to “Adjusted EBITDA” must be less
than 4.25:1; (iii) the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to “Cash Interest Expense” must be greater than 3.00:1; and (iv) the ratio
of Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures to Cash Interest Expense must be greater than 1.75:1.
As described in the AIF, the Previous Revolver and Previous Term Loan defined (i) “Adjusted EBITDA” as the consolidated
net income of EnerCare Solutions and any losses on dispositions of assets less, to the extent included in calculating such
net income, all interest income and income tax recoveries, gains on hedging contracts and all extraordinary, non-recurring
and unusual income items, plus, to the extent deducted in calculating such net income, amounts for total interest expense,
fees payable under the origination agreement with DE (as assigned to EnerCare in connection with the Acquisition),
amortization and depreciation expenses, income taxes and any other non-cash items, losses on hedging contracts,
proceeds of disposal of water heaters in the ordinary course of business, determined on a consolidated basis. The Previous
Revolver and Previous Term Loan essentially defined “Cash Interest Expense” as the aggregate amount of interest and
other financing charges payable in cash and expensed by EnerCare Solutions with respect to debt (other than subordinated
debt between EnerCare Solutions and EnerCare or any subsidiary of EnerCare Solutions or between subsidiaries of
EnerCare Solutions), but excluding any make-whole, prepayment, penalty or premium or other yield maintenance amount
with respect to debt.
The New Debt Financing contains financial covenants that are more favourable than the Previous Revolver and Previous
Term Loan. The ratio of total debt (other than subordinated debt) to Adjusted EBITDA described in (ii) above must now
only be less than 4.75:1, and the financial covenant pertaining to the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures
to Cash Interest Expense described in (iv) above has been removed entirely. The New Debt Financing also contains
substantially similar definitions to those of the Previous Revolver and Previous Term Loan except that “Adjusted EBITDA”
adds back certain specified items incurred with respect to the Acquisition, including transaction expenses, one-time
rebranding costs and information technology system harmonization costs, not to exceed $23,500.
EnerCare Solutions was in compliance with the covenants within the New Revolver and New Term Loan as of
December 31, 2014. No amounts were drawn under the New Revolver at December 31, 2014.
2012 Notes and 2013 Notes – Incurrence Test
The covenants in respect of the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes are contained in the Senior Unsecured Indenture. Under
the terms of the Senior Unsecured Indenture, EnerCare Solutions may not incur additional senior debt other than certain
refinancing debt and certain working capital debt if the Incurrence Test (as described in the AIF) is less than 3.8 to 1. On
December 31, 2014, EnerCare Solutions exceeded this minimum and had the capacity under the covenant to raise more
than $300,000 additional senior debt should it elect to do so.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
(000’s)

Total revenues

Q4/14

Q3/14

Q2/14

Q1/14

Q4/13

Q3/13

Q2/13

Q1/13

$126,012

$ 80,469

$ 74,047

$ 82,225

$ 75,675

$ 77,560

$ 71,604

$ 74,310

Net earnings/(loss)

5,672

2,133

7,457

7,014

4,793

6,931

7,482

(10,388)

Dividends declared

16,648

10,607

10,600

10,312

10,161

10,020

9,945

9,813

Average Shares outstanding

84,628

58,532

58,486

58,449

58,356

58,222

58,137

58,040

Per Share
Basic net earnings/(loss)

$

0.07

$

0.04

$

0.13

$

0.12

$

0.08

$

0.12

$

0.13

$

(0.18)

Diluted net earnings/(loss) $

0.07

$

0.03

$

0.13

$

0.12

$

0.08

$

0.12

$

0.13

$

(0.18)

Dividends declared

$

0.181

$ 0.181

$ 0.181

$ 0.176

$ 0.174

$ 0.172

$ 0.171

$ 0.169

In addition to quarterly comments found under “Results of Operations – EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA”, differences in net
earnings between quarters reflect the timing of expenses, current tax expense, the temporary difference reversals of future
income tax recoveries and the impact of the Acquisition in the fourth quarter of 2014. Dividends declared primarily reflect
the change in outstanding Shares over time as well as the dividend increases implemented in the first quarters of 2012,
2013 and 2014, and the fourth quarter of 2013.
The average number of Shares outstanding and the related per Share data reflect the impact of the conversion of
Convertible Debentures.
SUMMARY OF CONTRACTUAL DEBT AND LEASE OBLIGATIONS

The following schedule summarizes the contractual debt and lease obligations of EnerCare at December 31, 2014:
Period

Debt

(000’s)

Due in 2015

Interest

Finance Leases
Principal
Interest

1,258

$ 22,890

992

21,530

1,808

268

1,705

Due in 2017

253,872

21,269

1,551

177

606

Due in 2018

210,126

10,360

1,160

96

-

Due in 2019

25

10,356

701

39

-

225,055

5,178

253

6

-

$ 691,328

$ 91,583

Total

$

$

1,981

7,454

$

$

361

Operating
Leases

Due in 2016

Thereafter

$

Principal

947

$

$

1,616

3,927
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As at December 31, 2014, long-term senior contractual obligations of EnerCare included debt service on the 2012
Notes and 2013 Notes bearing interest at 4.30% and 4.60%, respectively. Interest on the 2012 Notes is payable semiannually on May 30 and November 30 and is payable semi-annually on February 3 and August 3 in respect of the
2013 Notes. In addition, the Previous Term Loan of $60,000, due January 28, 2016, was replaced in October 2014
as part of the financing of the Acquisition, which was partly financed through the issuance of the New Term Loan, maturing
on October 20, 2018. The 2009-2 Notes, which would have matured on April 30, 2014, were redeemed on March 6,
2013, following the issuance of the 2013 Notes and the drawdown of the Previous Term Loan. In connection with the
debt refinancing, a make-whole payment of $13,754 was paid in respect of the early redemption of the 2009-2 Notes
in 2013.
The Stratacon Debt of $3,071, as at December 31, 2014, was originally issued in 14 series with maturity dates ranging
from 4 to 14 years, ending in 2022. The interest rate on the Stratacon Debt ranges from 7.50% to 8.75%. Principal and
interest is paid monthly.
The Convertible Debentures bear interest at 6.25%, with interest payable semi-annually on June 30 and December 31
until maturity in June 2017.
At December 31, 2014, no amounts were drawn on the New Revolver. The New Revolver bears a standby charge of
0.20%, which has not been included in the above schedule.
The obligations under finance leases are secured by the leased vehicles and bear floating interest rates ranging from
0.5% to 7% per annum, which are contingent on market rates. The finance leases mature at dates ranging between
January 2015 and December 2020.
Lease obligations include premises and office equipment. Substantially all of the future expense obligations are the result
of leased premises.
ENERCARE SHARES ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING

EnerCare’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Shares and 10,000,000 preferred shares. At
December 31, 2014, there were 91,879,927 Shares (58,424,942 at December 31, 2013) issued and outstanding,
and no preferred shares were outstanding. Preferred shares may, at any time and from time to time, be issued in one or
more series, with such rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions as may be determined by the directors. The preferred
shares of each series shall, with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets, be entitled to preference
over the Shares and any other share ranking junior to the preferred shares from time to time.
From January 1, 2015 to February 27, 2015, approximately $326 principal amount of additional Convertible Debentures
were converted into 50,307 Shares. The Convertible Debentures principal balance outstanding of 2,931 at February 27,
2015 may be converted into approximately 452,314 additional Shares.
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FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Home
Services

SubMetering

$ 84,513

$ 30,385

10,807

96

67

4

$ 95,387

$ 30,485

-

24,524

Earnings Summary (000’s)

2014
Total

Home
Services

SubMetering

-

$ 114,898

$ 47,807

$ 27,835

-

10,903

8

(10)

-

(2)

140

211

35

-

-

35

140

$ 126,012

$ 47,850

$ 27,825

-

$ 75,675

-

24,524

-

22,983

-

22,983

Corporate

2013
Total

Corporate

Revenues:
Contracted revenue
Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenues

$

$

$

$

-

$ 75,642

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold:
Commodity
Maintenance and
servicing costs

10,600

-

-

10,600

-

-

-

-

7,693

78

-

7,771

(10)

(24)

-

(34)

Total cost of goods sold

18,293

24,602

-

42,895

(10)

22,959

-

22,949

SG&A expenses

26,690

3,253

5,147

35,090

3,387

4,490

3,769

11,646

Amortization expense

28,007

1,280

1,032

30,319

24,029

1,241

522

25,792

2,180

-

-

2,180

2,666

-

-

2,666

Sales and other services

Loss on disposal
Interest expense:
Interest expense payable
in cash

6,667

Make-whole payment on
early redemption of debt
Non-cash interest expense
Total interest expense
Total expenses
Other income

-

-

-

5,833

-

-

462

169

7,129

6,002

117,613

69,055

-

769

-

-

769

Earnings before income taxes

8,399

7,389

Current tax (expense)

(5,949)

(6,148)

Deferred tax recovery

3,222

Net earnings

$

3,552

5,672

$

4,793

EBITDA

$ 48,157

$

2,626

$

(5,147)

$ 45,636

$ 41,772

$

376

$

(3,769)

$ 38,379

Adjusted EBITDA

$ 50,337

$

2,626

$

(5,147)

$ 47,816

$ 45,207

$

376

$

(3,769)

$ 41,814

Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA

$ 54,475

$

2,626

$

(5,147)

$ 51,954

$ 45,207

$

376

$

(3,769)

$ 41,814

Fourth Quarter Overview
Unless stated otherwise, the narrative in this section is in reference to the operating results for the fourth quarter of 2014
as compared to the same period in 2013.
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Revenues
Total revenues of $126,012 in 2014 increased by $50,337 or 67% compared to 2013.
Home Services revenue, excluding investment income, for the period increased by $47,505 to $95,320, primarily as
a result of $46,065 of additional revenues added through the Acquisition. The remaining $1,440 increase was primarily
due to a rental rate increase implemented in January 2014, improved billing completeness and changes in asset mix,
partially offset by the impact of net Attrition. Contracted revenues represent revenues generated by the Rentals units and
protection plan contracts, while sales and other services revenues mainly pertain to royalties from franchisee protection
plan sales, one-time sales and installations of residential furnaces, boilers, air conditioners and small commercial products
as well as duct cleaning services.
Sub-metering revenues, excluding investment income, for the period were $30,481, an increase of $2,656 or 10% over
the comparable period in 2013, primarily as a result of increased commodity charges and Billable units. Sub-metering
revenue includes total pass through energy charges of $24,524 in 2014, an increase of $1,541 over the same period
in 2013. Sales and other services revenue for Sub-metering are earned from the sale and installation of water conservation
products in apartments and condominiums.
Investment income was $211 in 2014, an increase of $176 compared to 2013. The change in investment income
was primarily attributable to $134 of interest earned from the Subscription Receipts proceeds received in connection with
the Acquisition.
Cost of Goods Sold
Total cost of goods sold were $42,895 in 2014, an increase of $19,946 or 87% compared to 2013.
Home Services cost of goods sold increased by $18,303 compared to 2013, primarily due to $18,266 of expenses
resulting from the increased scope of the business following the Acquisition. Maintenance and servicing costs in Home
Services primarily consist of protection plan expenses and servicing costs related to the Rentals portfolio while sales and
other services expenses mainly pertain to one-time sales and installations of residential and commercial furnaces, water
heaters, boilers, air conditioners as well as duct cleaning services.
Sub-metering cost of goods sold of $24,602 increased by $1,643 or 7%, as a result of an increase of $1,541 of pass
through energy charges over the same period in 2013. Sales and other services expenses for Sub-metering relate to the
sale and installation of water conservation products in apartments and condominiums.
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses
Total SG&A expenses were $35,090 in 2014, an increase of $23,444 compared to 2013.
Home Services and corporate expenses of $31,837 increased by $24,681 compared to 2013, primarily due to
$27,801 of additional expenses from the increased scope of the business following the Acquisition. The $24,681
increase over 2013 was primarily due to approximately $8,700 in wages and benefits, $4,000 in professional fees,
$7,000 of billing and servicing costs, $1,700 in office expenses, $2,500 in selling expenses, $540 in bad debts and
$220 in claims expenses. During the fourth quarter of 2014, Home Services and corporate SG&A expenses included
$4,138 of costs associated with the Acquisition, of which approximately $3,470 were professional fees, $480 selling
expenses, $110 office expenses and $70 of contract labour.
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Sub-metering SG&A expenses were $3,253 or $1,237 lower in 2014 compared to 2013, primarily as a result of a
reduction in the provision for bad debts (see “Critical Accounting Estimates – Bad Debt Provisions”). Partially offsetting
the reduction in bad debts of approximately $1,900 was an increase in wages and benefits of approximately $600.
Amortization Expense
Amortization expense of $30,319 was $4,527 higher than in 2013, primarily due to additional amortization from
capital and intangible asset additions resulting from the Acquisition of $1,032 and $4,015, respectively.
Loss on Disposal of Equipment
Loss on disposal of equipment for the period was $2,180, a decrease of $486 or 18% over 2013. The decreased loss
was primarily the result of lower Attrition and fewer exchanged assets during the period.
Interest Expense
In 2014, interest expense of $7,129 was $1,127 higher than in 2013, primarily from the issuance of additional debt
and $254 of notional interest on employee benefit plans, both resulting from the Acquisition.
Net Earnings
Earnings before income taxes in 2014 were $8,399, $1,010 better than 2013, as previously described. Net earnings
were $5,672, an increase of $879 in 2014, reflecting a reduction of $199 in current taxes and lower deferred tax
recoveries of $330 impacted by the timing of deferred tax reversals.
NON-IFRS FINANCIAL AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The consolidated financial statements of EnerCare are prepared in accordance with IFRS. EnerCare’s basis of presentation
and significant accounting policies are summarized in detail in notes 2 and 3 of the consolidated financial statements for
the period ended December 31, 2014.
EnerCare reports on certain non-IFRS measures that are used by management to evaluate performance of EnerCare and
meet certain covenant requirements relating to debt financing. Since non-IFRS measures do not have standardized
meanings prescribed by IFRS, securities regulations require that non-IFRS measures be clearly defined, qualified, and
reconciled with their nearest IFRS measure. These measures do not have standardized meanings or interpretations, and
may not be comparable to similar terms and measures provided by other issuers.
EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA, Distributable Cash, Payout Ratio and Payout Ratio-Maintenance
should not be construed as alternatives to net income or earnings per Share determined in accordance with IFRS as
indicators of EnerCare’s performance.
Non-IFRS financial indicators used by EnerCare and reported in this MD&A include:
Measures of Asset Portfolio Performance
Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions
EnerCare makes two principal types of investments to grow its installed base of water heaters, sub-meters and other assets:
capital expenditures and acquisitions.
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Measures of Financial Performance
EBITDA
This measure is comprised of net earnings plus income taxes, interest expense and amortization expense, less investment
and other income. It is one metric that can be used to determine EnerCare’s ability to service its debt, finance capital
expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders. EBITDA is reconciled with net earnings, an IFRS
measure, in the section “Results of Operations – EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA” in this MD&A.
Adjusted EBITDA
This measure is comprised of net earnings plus income taxes, interest expense, amortization expense, impairment losses,
loss on disposal of equipment, less investment income. It is one metric that can be used to determine EnerCare’s ability to
service its debt, finance capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders. Adjusted EBITDA
is reconciled with net earnings, an IFRS measure, (see “Results of Operations – EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition
Adjusted EBITDA” in this MD&A).
Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA
This measure reflects the same components as Adjusted EBITDA, however, eliminates the additional one-time costs
associated with the Acquisition, including interest expense for accounting purposes on the Subscription Receipts, equity
bridge financing fees, professional fees associated with due diligence, pre and post-merger integration, expenditures
associated with rebranding, severance and other costs in SG&A. This is one metric that can be used to determine
EnerCare’s ability to service its ongoing debt, finance capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to
shareholders. Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled with net earnings, an IFRS measure, in the section “Results of
Operations – EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Acquisition Adjusted EBITDA” in this MD&A.
Billable
Sub-metering Billable units represent assets or services in the case of multiple products, for which an invoice has been
issued to a customer in the past. From time to time there may be periods where no invoicing occurs in respect of such
asset or service due to, for example, vacancy or delinquency. Billable Sub-metering assets are no longer Billable upon
termination of the contractual agreement with the landlord or condominium corporation, as applicable, or where vacancy
exceeds six months. The Rentals portfolio is deemed to be fully Billable upon origination and removed from Billable upon
asset termination.
Distributable Cash and Distributable Cash – Maintenance
Distributable Cash is one measure of the amount of cash generated during a period that is available to service debt,
finance capital expenditures and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders.
Historically, Distributable Cash comprised net earnings of EnerCare, plus non-cash items, such as deferred income taxes,
amortization and non-recurring expenses related to the Acquisition and transition of OHCS, plus the proceeds on disposal
of equipment, less capital expenditures (excluding growth capital) and other non-recurring income. Capital expenditures
outside of EnerCare’s traditional Rentals asset purchases, such as Sub-metering equipment, acquisitions and infrastructure
assets are considered by management to be growth expenditures and are therefore not deducted in the determination of
Distributable Cash.
Distributable Cash per Share is a measure of the amount of Distributable Cash calculated on a per Share basis.
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Distributable Cash – Maintenance is the same as the historical Distributable Cash, except that Rentals capital expenditures
associated with new customer additions and buyout proceeds on disposal of equipment associated with lost customers are
excluded. Growth expenditures for purposes of Distributable Cash – Maintenance definition include capital expenditures
such as Rentals new customer equipment additions, Sub-metering equipment, acquisitions and infrastructure assets.
Distributable Cash is reconciled with cash provided by operating activities, an IFRS measure, in the section “Distributable
Cash and Payout Ratios” in this MD&A.
Distributions, Payout Ratio and Payout Ratio – Maintenance
Dividends are declared and paid monthly to shareholders at the discretion of the board of directors of EnerCare. Among
other things, the directors consider the level of Distributable Cash, the level of previous dividends, and the amount of cash
they wish to retain in the company for contingencies and future growth.
The historical Payout Ratio is the percentage of Distributable Cash to dividends (excluding the exercise of the over-allotment
option) declared to shareholders during a period and represents the ability of EnerCare to pay dividends, finance capital
expenditures and add to its cash reserves.
Payout Ratio – Maintenance is similar to the Payout Ratio, except that the ratio is calculated as the percentage of
Distributable Cash – Maintenance to dividends declared to shareholders during the period and represents the ability of
EnerCare to pay dividends, add to its cash reserves and illustrates the proportion of cash required to maintain its existing
customer base.
Operating Cash Flow
Operating Cash Flow is the cash flow from operating activities excluding changes in non-cash working capital. It represents
the net cash generated in earnings, excluding non-cash items. It is one indicator of the financial strength of EnerCare.
Operating Cash Flow is reconciled with cash flow from operating activities, an IFRS measure, in the section “Liquidity
and Capital Resources” in this MD&A.
Measures Regarding Debt Covenants
As at December 31, 2014, EnerCare was in compliance with all covenants under the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, New
Revolver and New Term Loan. A summary of the financial covenants in respect of such debt, together with those of the
New Debt Financing, can be found in “Liquidity and Capital Resources – Debt Financing”.
New Revolver and New Term Loan
Under the New Revolver and New Term Loan agreements, EnerCare Solutions is subject to three principal financial
covenants as described in the section “Risks Related to the Structure of EnerCare” in this MD&A. The covenants
address interest and debt coverage. EnerCare Solutions complied with these covenants on December 31, 2014.
No amounts were drawn under the New Revolver at December 31, 2014.
2012 Notes and 2013 Notes – Incurrence Test
The covenants under the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes are contained in the Senior Unsecured Indenture. Under the
terms of the Senior Unsecured Indenture, EnerCare Solutions may not incur additional senior debt other than certain
refinancing debt and certain working capital debt if the Incurrence Test (as described in the AIF) is less than 3.8 to 1.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Management applies judgment in its assessment of EnerCare’s arrangements with customers when determining the
classification of leases and the extent to which the risks and rewards incidental to ownership lie with the company or the
customer. In addition to leases, other estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The following items are of significance for the period.
Revenue Accruals
At December 31, 2014, the Home Services business recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $45,800
(2013 – $900) reflecting accrued service periods. Unbilled protection plans comprise approximately $28,400
(2013 – $0) of this balance which is predominantly made up of protection plans sold in franchisee service areas
which are recognized as royalty revenue at inception but are invoiced over a period of twelve months. The remaining
unbilled revenues reflect accrued service periods for rental water heaters and other products.
At December 31, 2014, the Sub-metering business recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $10,850 (2013 –
$14,350), reflecting accrued service periods, increases in Billable units, reductions in the backlog of non-billing
customers and pass through commodity charges.
Bad Debt Provisions
The Home Services business is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business for customers who are billed
directly by Enbridge within its service territory and secondarily when billed by EnerCare or are billed by Enbridge
outside of its service territory. For billing within the Enbridge service territory, EnerCare was guaranteed payment by
Enbridge for 99.56% in 2014 and 99.46% in 2013 of the amount billed (subject to certain exceptions) 21 calendar
days after the invoices are issued.
As a result of a Sub-metering billing backlog following the implementation of a new billing system, EnerCare modified
some of its collection programs in the latter half of 2012 and implemented full collection procedures during the
second quarter of 2013. During the fourth quarter of 2013, EnerCare reassessed the bad debts provision in light of
the completion of the billing backlog and collection results and increased the bad debts expense by $2,046, resulting
in a bad debt expense of $3,246 for 2013. Bad debt expenses of $160 in the fourth quarter of 2014 resulted in
a bad debt expense of $1,135 for 2014.
Management evaluates a number of factors and assumptions in the determination of the bad debt provisions which
was approximately $8,711 at December 31, 2014, compared to approximately $7,025 in 2013. Changes in
any of variables or assumptions may result in a materially different amount.
Leases
Management applies judgment in its assessment of EnerCare’s arrangements with customers when determining the
classification of leases and the extent to which the risks and rewards incidental to ownership lie with the company
or the customer.
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Impairment of Non-Financial Assets and Goodwill
Impairment tests are conducted at least annually, or as warranted by prevailing circumstances at the time of
reporting. The recoverable amount is based upon a number of assumptions, including but not limited to: discount
rates, billing suites, cash flows and expenses. Changes in any of these assumptions may result in a materially different
recoverable amount.
Employee Benefit Plans
EnerCare maintains active employee defined benefit pension plans which are closed to new members. The balances
related to these plans are subject to a number of assumptions. The actuarial valuations rely on estimates and
assumptions including those for wage escalation, mortality, health care and dental costs inflation, retirement ages,
life expectancies and discount rates. Changes in these estimates could have a material impact on the employee
benefit plans liability and employee benefit plan costs.
Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that realization is considered probable. Judgments regarding
projected future income and tax planning strategies are considered in making this assessment.
Business Combination
With respect to the preliminary estimated fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities and other adjustments
related to the Acquisition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the acquisition method
of accounting, in accordance with IFRS 3R, Business Combinations, under which, the total fair value of the
consideration transferred has been assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated
fair values at the date of the Acquisition, with any excess purchase price allocated to goodwill. Changes may be
expected as additional information becomes available following the closing date of October 20, 2014. Accordingly,
the final fair value determinations may differ from those set forth in these consolidated financial statements and such
differences may be material.
DISCLOSURE AND INTERNAL CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

EnerCare’s certifying officers have designed, and assessed the design of, a system of DC&P to provide reasonable
assurance that (i) material information relating to EnerCare, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
them by others; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by EnerCare in its annual filings, interim filings and other
reports filed or submitted by EnerCare under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in securities legislation. As well, EnerCare’s certifying officers have designed, and assessed the
design of, ICFR to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. EnerCare has used the Internal Control – Integrated
Framework (2013) from The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in order
to assess the effectiveness of EnerCare’s internal control over financial reporting. There are no material weaknesses relating
to the design of either DC&P or ICFR at December 31, 2014. There have been no changes to our ICFR during the quarter
and year to date ended December 31, 2014 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
EnerCare’s ICFR.
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EnerCare has limited the scope of its design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of EHCS LP, which acquired OHCS on October 20, 2014.
EHCS LP’s contribution to EnerCare’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 was
approximately 13% of revenues and 7% of net earnings. In addition, EHCS LP’s current assets and current liabilities
were approximately 48% and 43% of the consolidated current assets and current liabilities, respectively, and its long
term assets and long term liabilities were approximately 45% and 7% of consolidated long term assets and long term
liabilities, respectively.
EnerCare is currently in the process of documenting and evaluating the controls, policies and procedures in respect of EHCS
LP. The financial statements include approximately two months of OHCS results since Acquisition at October 20, 2014.
Management does recognize that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed and operated, can only
provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In the unforeseen
event that lapses in the disclosure or internal controls and procedures occur and/or mistakes happen, EnerCare intends
to take whatever steps are necessary to minimize the consequences thereof.
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of EnerCare are prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by IASB applicable
to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. EnerCare has consistently applied the same accounting policies
and methods of computation throughout all periods presented, as if these policies had always been in effect.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
EnerCare has adopted new or revised standards, effective January 1, 2014. Management has determined that new
interpretations have no impact on the amounts recognized in EnerCare’s consolidated financial statements.
IFRIC 21, “Levies” provides guidance on accounting for levies in accordance with IAS 37, “Provisions, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets”. The interpretation defines a levy as an outflow from an entity imposed by a government in
accordance with legislation and confirms that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy only when the triggering event
specified in the legislation occurs. Management has determined that this new interpretation did not have any material
impact on the amounts recognized in EnerCare’s consolidated financial statements.
The IASB issued Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 36). The overall effect of
the amendments is to reduce the circumstances in which the recoverable amount of assets or cash-generating units is
required to be disclosed, clarify the disclosures required, and to introduce an explicit requirement to disclose the discount
rate used in determining impairment (or reversals) where recoverable amount (based on fair value less costs of disposal)
is determined using a present value technique. EnerCare has modified its disclosures to meet the amendments in IAS 36.
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Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Applied
The following are accounting policy changes to be implemented by EnerCare in future years:
Employee Future Benefits
IAS 19, “Employee Benefits”, was amended in November 2013. The amendments include changes to the accounting
treatment of employee or third-party contributions to defined benefit plans under certain circumstances, and will be
effective for EnerCare on January 1, 2015.
Revenue Recognition
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”), provides a comprehensive five-step revenue recognition
model for all contracts with customers. The IFRS 15 revenue recognition model requires management to exercise
significant judgment and make estimates that affect revenue recognition. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with earlier application permitted. EnerCare is currently evaluating the impact
of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.
Financial Instruments
The final version of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and will replace
IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9 introduces a model for classification and
measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected loss” impairment model and a substantially reformed approach
to hedge accounting. The new single, principle-based approach for determining the classification of financial assets
is driven by cash flow characteristics and the business model in which an asset is held. The new model also results
in a single impairment model being applied to all financial instruments, which will require more timely recognition of
expected credit losses. It also includes changes in respect of own credit risk in measuring liabilities elected to be
measured at fair value, so that gains caused by the deterioration of an entity’s own credit risk on such liabilities are
no longer recognized in profit or loss. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018,
however is available for early adoption. In addition, the own credit changes can be early adopted in isolation
without otherwise changing the accounting for financial instruments. EnerCare is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.
Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements” (“IAS 1”) was amended by the IASB to clarify guidance on materiality
and aggregation, the presentation of subtotals, the structure of financial statements and disclosure of accounting
policies. The amendment gives guidance that information within the consolidated statements of financial position and
consolidated statements of income should not be aggregated or disaggregated in a manner that obscures useful
information, and that disaggregation may be required in the consolidated statements of income in the form of
additional subtotals as they are relevant to understanding the entity’s financial position or performance. The
amendments to IAS 1 are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. EnerCare is currently evaluating
the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.
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RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to the Acquisition and Integration
Continued Reliance on DE Following the Acquisition
Under the Asset Purchase Agreement, EnerCare did not acquire certain assets owned by DE that were used in both OHCS
and in DE’s other business segments. As a result, EnerCare and DE entered into the Transition Services Agreement on the
closing of the Acquisition that provides for, among other things, the continuing provision by DE of information technology
and other “back office” services and support to EnerCare in respect of OHCS for up to a 21-month transition period. As
a result, EnerCare continues to be reliant on DE’s personnel, good faith, expertise, historical performance, technical resources
and information systems, proprietary information and judgment in providing the services under the Transition Services
Agreement. Accordingly, EnerCare continues to be exposed to adverse developments in the business and affairs of DE, to
its management and financial strength. Furthermore, as the definitive decoupling plan contemplated by the Transition Services
Agreement is not yet fully negotiated, no assurance can be given as to the terms of such plan or the financial or operational
impact that such plan will have on OHCS or EnerCare’s ability to operate OHCS in the same or substantially the same
manner as operated by DE as of closing of the Acquisition. Management can give no assurance as to the estimated
transition costs as the definitive decoupling plan is not yet settled, and these costs could be substantial.
Risks Related to the Integration of OHCS into EnerCare’s Business
In order to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Acquisition, EnerCare will rely upon its ability to successfully retain staff,
consolidate functions and integrate operations, procedures and personnel in a timely and efficient manner and to realize
the anticipated growth opportunities from combining OHCS and related operations with those of EnerCare. The integration
of OHCS and related operations requires the dedication of management effort, time and resources, which may divert
management’s focus and resources away from other strategic opportunities and from operational matters during the
integration process. The integration process may result in the disruption of ongoing business and customer relationships
that may materially adversely affect EnerCare’s ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Acquisition.
In addition, completing the information technology systems integration upon the expiry of the Transition Services Agreement,
as will be set out in the definitive decoupling plan, will require continued focus and investment by both DE and EnerCare.
Failure to successfully migrate the necessary information technology from DE’s legacy systems to a stand-alone system (or
the recreation of DE’s systems by EnerCare), or a significant disruption in the information technology systems during the
decoupling of the OHCS system and/or upon the expiry of the Transition Services Agreement, could result in a lack of
data and processes to enable management to effectively manage day-to-day operations of OHCS or achieve its
operational objectives, causing significant disruptions to OHCS and potential material financial losses.
Risks Related to Replacement of Shared Information Technology Assets
OHCS depended in large part on DE’s corporate information technology services and, pursuant to the Transition Services
Agreement, certain information technology and other related assets will continue to be utilized by OHCS and other DE
lines of business. Although under the Asset Purchase Agreement and Transition Services Agreement many of those shared
assets are to be replaced by EnerCare at an appropriate time at the cost of DE, other shared assets are to be replaced
at EnerCare’s cost. There is a risk, therefore, that not all of the assets utilized by DE in operating OHCS can or will be
replaced by EnerCare in a timely manner, and that those assets replaced by EnerCare, whether at its cost or at the cost
of DE, may not be as effective as the assets utilized by DE, which could have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s
financial condition and results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
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Possible Failure to Realize Expected Returns on the Acquisition
There can be no assurance that management of EnerCare will be able to fully realize some or all of the expected benefits
of the Acquisition. The ability to realize these anticipated benefits will depend in part on successfully consolidating functions
and integrating operations, procedures and personnel in a timely and efficient manner, as well as on the ability to realize
growth opportunities and potential synergies from integrating OHCS with EnerCare’s existing business. There is a risk that
some or all of the expected benefits will fail to materialize, or may not occur within the time periods anticipated by
management. The realization of some or all of such benefits may be affected by a number of factors, many of which are
beyond the control of EnerCare.
Risks Related to Rebranding
OHCS is in the process of being rebranded by EnerCare. No assurance can be given that EnerCare’s brand will be
as valuable as the “DE” brand or that rebranding will not result in a loss of customers due to a lack of brand recognition
or otherwise.
Assumption of Liabilities
EnerCare assumed certain liabilities arising out of or related to OHCS, and agreed to indemnify DE for, among other
matters, such liabilities. In addition, there may be liabilities that EnerCare failed to discover or was unable to quantify
during its due diligence and which could have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s business, financial condition or
future prospects. DE’s representations and warranties, and related indemnification, may not apply or be sufficient so as
to fully indemnify EnerCare for such liabilities.
Internalization of OHCS
The success of the Acquisition will depend in large part on the ability of management to integrate DE personnel and
systems into EnerCare (or to recreate DE’s systems under the Transition Services Agreement). Going forward, EnerCare
will depend on the diligence, experience and skill of the former DE personnel that joined EnerCare in conjunction with
the closing of the Acquisition and the future success of EnerCare will depend on the continued service of these individuals.
EnerCare may be unable to retain former employees of DE to the same extent that DE has been able to do so in the past.
Such individuals may depart because of issues relating to the uncertainty or difficulty associated with the integration,
including potential differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies. Furthermore, pursuant to the Asset
Purchase Agreement, senior management employees of DE that had responsibility for overseeing OHCS or corporate
support functions did not become employees of EnerCare and therefore EnerCare does not have the benefit of their
experience in the management of OHCS. The departure of a significant number of OHCS employees is not expected
but if this occurs for any reason, the failure to appoint qualified or effective successors in the event of such departures or
the failure to replace senior management employees of DE that were not employed by EnerCare on closing of the
Acquisition could have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s ability to achieve its objectives, the market price or value
of EnerCare’s securities and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
Indemnities in the Asset Purchase Agreement
The representations and warranties provided by DE pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement are customary for a transaction
of this nature. There can be no assurance, however, of adequate recovery by EnerCare from DE for any breach of the
representations, warranties and covenants of DE under the Asset Purchase Agreement or Transition Services Agreement, or
that the length and amounts of the indemnities provided will be sufficient to satisfy such obligations, or that DE will have the
financial ability to satisfy such obligations. Similarly, there can be no assurance of recovery from Centrica plc.
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Risks Related to the Home Services Business and Industry
Billing Arrangements
As a result of current billing agreements, EnerCare is reliant on the personnel, expertise, technical resources, proprietary
information and judgment of Enbridge, among others, in providing customer services in respect of Home Services.
EnerCare and its subsidiaries are therefore exposed to adverse developments in the business and affairs of Enbridge,
and to its management and financial strength. Although Enbridge is required, under each OBA to make the specified
payments to EnerCare, thereby effectively guaranteeing EnerCare’s collection of 99.56% of the amount invoiced by
EnerCare on the Enbridge bill effective January 1, 2014, subject to adjustments in accordance with the terms of the
OBAs, there can be no assurance that Enbridge will have the financial capability to honour such obligation.
In the event that EnerCare and EHCS LP do not enter into further arrangements with Enbridge upon expiration of the
OBAs, EnerCare may provide the billing and collection services and issue stand-alone bills in the Enbridge billing territory,
either itself or through contracts with other third parties.
Any provision of customer services in respect of the Rentals portfolio by EnerCare and stand-alone billing could have a
material adverse effect on EnerCare’s financial condition and results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to
satisfy its debt service obligations as there can be no assurance that the customer services delivered by EnerCare, or
other third parties, will be of the same standard as those delivered under the OBAs and stand-alone billing may result in
increased bad debt.
Bad debt experience may also increase if any arrangement relating to stand-alone billing and collection services does
not include a collection guarantee. It is also possible that transitional issues may arise following a termination of the OBAs
and associated arrangements, and those issues may have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s financial condition
and results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
Furthermore, any failure to maintain such billing and trust arrangements may have an adverse impact on the credit rating
of EnerCare and EnerCare Solutions’ outstanding indebtedness, EnerCare’s and EnerCare Solutions’ respective issuer
credit ratings and EnerCare Solutions’ ability to refinance any of its indebtedness.
Reliance on Call Centres
EnerCare utilizes third party service providers in the Home Services business in the provision of most customer care
services, including dealing with customer telephone queries, protection plan sales and renewals and other direct telephonic
communications with customers. As a result, EnerCare is reliant on the personnel, good faith, expertise, technical resources
and information systems, proprietary information and judgment of those service providers in providing such customer care
services. Accordingly, EnerCare will be exposed to adverse developments in the business and affairs of such service
providers, their management and their financial strength.
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Regulatory Matters
As the vast majority of EnerCare’s customers are consumers, EnerCare is subject to consumer protection laws and
regulations (including the Consumer Protection Act, 2002 (Ontario)). Although EnerCare believes that it is in compliance
with such consumer protection laws and regulations in all material respects, given the likelihood that regulatory
determinations are likely to favour consumers in the event of any ambiguity in such laws or regulations (of which there are
many), no assurance can be given that EnerCare will be able to comply with such laws or regulations. Furthermore,
changes to any of the laws, rules, regulations or policies respecting the installation, contracting, servicing or billing
practices in relation to water heaters, including Bill 55, could have a significant impact on EnerCare’s business, including
its compliance costs. There can be no assurance that EnerCare will be able to comply with any future laws, rules,
regulations and policies or, if it does so comply, what the impact may be on its costs to so comply. Failure by EnerCare
to comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations and policies may subject it to civil or regulatory proceedings, including
fines, injunctions, recalls or seizures, which may have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s financial condition and
results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
In November 2014, following the Acquisition, EnerCare voluntarily provided written assurance to the Commissioner under
the Competition Act so as to fully resolve concerns that the Commissioner had in respect of certain water heater return
policies and practices of DE. Although EnerCare does not expect that the changes provided for in such written assurance,
which was the culmination of a co-operative process between EnerCare and the Commissioner, will have a significant
impact on its operating costs or Attrition, no assurance can be given in that regard and no assurance can be given that
EnerCare will not in the future be subject to other constraints on its business operations under the Competition Act or
otherwise in respect of Home Services.
Attrition and Competition
EnerCare operates in a competitive environment and hence its growth and sustainability may be negatively impacted by
loss of market share to new competition or due to changes in consumer behaviour. In 2009, EnerCare encountered
increased competitive pressure and a resulting increase in its Attrition rate. The annualized Attrition rate for 2014 was
3.67% compared to 4.17% in 2013, 5.98% in 2012, 6.00% in 2011, 6.35% in 2010 and 8.02% in 2009. The
Attrition rate in 2008 was 3.2%. The higher Attrition rates that began in 2009 are attributable principally to increased
competition from both traditional entities and new entrants. Some of these new market entrants used aggressive door to
door promotion.
As a result of these and other competitive pressures, EnerCare may experience increased Attrition rates in the future as
well as higher expenses in defense of the installed water heater customer base. Increased Attrition rates could have a
material adverse effect on EnerCare’s financial condition and results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to
satisfy its debt service obligations.
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Buy-Outs and Returns of Water Heaters
Since the fourth quarter of 2004, customers have been permitted to terminate their Rentals contracts without charge. Prior
to that time, the exit charge permitted to be charged to customers in the first five years following installation was not
sufficient to cover the capital cost of the installed water heaters and, if the water heater was installed for over five years,
there was no exit charge payable. In 2010, EnerCare implemented new terms and conditions for certain new customers
pursuant to which EnerCare may require these customers to buy-out their water heaters at a pre-determined price determined
with reference to the price of the water heater at the time of installation of the water heater if the contract is terminated
prior to the end of the useful life of the applicable equipment. If customers choose to buy their installed water heaters or
terminate their Rentals contracts, the number of installed water heaters and the composition of the portfolio of installed
water heaters could change. Any loss of customers could have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s financial condition
and results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
Social or Technological Changes
Within Canada, the Province of Ontario marketplace is unique in that the vast majority of homeowners rent their water
heaters. There can be no assurance that homeowners will continue to rent their water heaters for an indefinite period. It
is also possible that more economical or efficient water heating technology than that which is currently used by customers
will be developed or that the economic conditions in which the current technology is applied will change resulting in a
reduction in the number of installed water heaters. Any material change in homeowners’ rental practices or in technology
may have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s financial condition and results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’
ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
Useful Life of Water Heaters
Past experience indicates that the average useful life of a water heater is approximately 16 years. However, there can
be no assurance that water heaters will continue to have a useful life of that length. EnerCare will be responsible for,
among other things, the capital cost and installation fees related to the purchase and installation of replacement water
heaters. There can be no assurance that EnerCare will have sufficient cash flow or financing capabilities to fund the
purchase and installation of replacement water heaters. The lack of such funds could limit the ability of EnerCare to
maintain the portfolio of water heaters which could have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s financial condition and
results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
Concentration of Suppliers, Product Faults and Costs
Although there are a number of manufacturers of water heaters outside Canada, EnerCare will rely principally on three
suppliers for its supply of water heaters, GSW Inc., Rheem Canada Ltd. and Bradford White Corporation. Should any
of these suppliers fail to deliver in a timely manner, the result could be delays or disruptions in the supply and installation
of water heaters. In addition, as many of the installed water heaters are of the same or similar type manufactured by
these three manufacturers, manufacturer’s defects or product recalls relating to a particular production model or type of
water heater could affect a material portion of the Rentals portfolio. Furthermore, different water heater manufacturers
may, from time to time, source components from the same manufacturers for use in their water heaters. As a result, a parts
defect relating to a commonly sourced component could affect water heaters produced by more than one manufacturer.
EnerCare does not insure against this risk of product defects or product recalls. All water heaters manufactured by GSW
Inc. that were purchased by DE or EnerCare are currently made in Canada. If GSW Inc. moved production out of
Canada, the capital cost of their water heaters may increase. Rheem Canada Ltd. moved production to Mexico in June
of 2006. Bradford White Corporation’s production facilities are located in the United States.
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Prior to the Acquisition, DE had the principal relationship with these three suppliers for the supply of water heaters. There
can be no assurance that EnerCare’s relationship with any or all of these suppliers will not be adversely affected as a
result of the Acquisition or that the costs of water heaters will not rise as a result.
Although there are a number of suppliers of HVAC equipment, no assurance can be given that EnerCare will have the
same purchasing power as that previously enjoyed by DE in the purchase of HVAC equipment from one or more of these
suppliers as EnerCare’s purchases will principally be limited to purchases to serve the Ontario marketplace only.
EnerCare’s business exposes it to potential product liability and product defect risks that are inherent in the ownership and
servicing of water heaters and HVAC equipment rentals. While EnerCare currently maintains what it believes to be suitable
product liability insurance, there can be no assurance that EnerCare will be able to maintain such insurance on acceptable
terms or that any such insurance will provide adequate protection against potential liabilities. In the event of a successful
claim against EnerCare, a lack of sufficient insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s
financial condition and results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
Moreover, even if EnerCare maintains adequate insurance, any successful claim could have a material adverse effect on
EnerCare’s financial condition and results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service
obligations. EnerCare does not insure against the risk of product defects or product recalls.
While there are several major suppliers of water heaters, HVAC equipment and other rented equipment, the cost of the
equipment is affected by commodity prices, such as steel and copper, and currency fluctuations, mainly the U.S. dollar
relative to the Canadian dollar. EnerCare does not hedge these types of exposures, so in any given year, there can be
no assurance that increases in capital costs and expenses will be able to be recovered fully in rental rates charged to
customers.
Franchisee Independence and Relationships
Approximately 40% of the Home Services portfolio is serviced by licensed franchisees. Licensed franchisees are
independent businesses and, as a result, their operations may be adversely affected by factors beyond EnerCare’s control
which, in turn, could adversely affect EnerCare’s reputation, operations and financial performance. Revenues and earnings
could also be adversely affected, and EnerCare’s reputation could be harmed, if a significant number of licensed
franchisees were to experience operational failures, health and safety exposures or were unable to perform the necessary
services under the Rentals contracts. The franchise system is also subject to franchise legislation in the Province of Ontario.
Any new legislation or failure to comply with existing legislation could adversely affect operations and could add
administrative costs and burdens, any of which could adversely affect EnerCare’s relationship with its licensed franchisees.
EnerCare provides various services to the licensed franchisees to assist with management of their operations and dedicated
personnel manage EnerCare’s obligations to its licensed franchisees. Despite these efforts, relationships with licensed
franchisees could pose significant risks if they are disrupted, which could adversely affect the reputation, operations and
financial performance of EnerCare.
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Labour Relations
EnerCare’s workforce is comprised of both unionized and non-union employees. With respect to those employees that
are covered by collective bargaining agreements, including the CBA, there can be no assurance as to the outcome of
any negotiations to renew such agreement on satisfactory terms. Failure to renegotiate collective bargaining agreements,
including the CBA, could result in strikes, work stoppages or interruptions, and if any of these events were to occur, they
could have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s reputation, operations and financial performance and EnerCare
Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations. If non-unionized employees become subject to collective agreements,
the terms of any new collective agreements would have implications for the affected operations, and those implications
could be material.
Pension Plan and Other Post-Employment Benefits Obligations
OHCS participates in a hybrid pension plan sponsored by DE which provides defined benefits to a closed group of
active employees, and offers other post-employment benefits. The notes to EnerCare’s financial statements as at and for
the year ended December 31, 2014 include a discussion of the most significant sources of risk for EnerCare as a result
of the defined benefit portion of the pension plan, including a sensitivity analysis. EnerCare will be subject to similar risks
as it will assume the pension-related obligations of OHCS pursuant to a new pension plan established pursuant to the
Asset Purchase Agreement following regulatory approval and DE’s full funding of that new pension plan on a solvency
basis at the time of transfer to DE.
Geographic Concentration and New Home Construction
Essentially all of Home Services assets are located in the Province of Ontario as the Canadian water heater rental market
is primarily limited to the Province of Ontario. As a result, the income generated by Home Services and the performance
of the Rentals business will be highly sensitive to changes in economic conditions in the Province of Ontario, which may
differ from those affecting other regions of Canada. Adverse changes in the economic conditions in the Province of
Ontario may have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s business, cash flows, financial condition and results of
operations and ability to pay dividends to holders of its Shares.
Furthermore, most of the growth in the number of installed rental water heaters and HVAC equipment is principally as a
result of new home construction of detached, semi-detached and row houses, which is a particularly competitive section
of the water heater and HVAC equipment rental industry in the Province of Ontario. Consequently, EnerCare is particularly
reliant on the economy of the Province of Ontario to maintain and to grow the Rentals portfolio. The recent downturn and
uncertainty in the Province of Ontario’s economy and corresponding slowdown in new home construction of detached,
semi-detached and row houses has had in 2008 and 2009, and to a lesser extent from 2010 to 2014, an adverse
effect on demand for water heaters and HVAC equipment.
Uninsured or Underinsured Risks
EnerCare’s current insurance coverage in respect of potential liabilities of EnerCare and the accidental loss of value of
the assets of EnerCare from risks is in the form of comprehensive property and casualty insurance in respect of claims for
bodily injury or property damage arising out of assets or operations (subject to deductible amounts). However, not all
risks are covered by insurance, and no assurance can be given that insurance will be consistently available or will be
consistently available on an economically feasible basis or that the amounts of insurance will at all times be sufficient to
cover each and every loss or claim that may occur involving the assets or operations of EnerCare.
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Lack of Written Rental Contracts
In many cases, DE did not enter into written agreements with customers or did not enter into updated written agreements
to reflect the current rental terms and conditions. As a result, those customers may assert a right to terminate their relationship
with EnerCare at any time or EnerCare may be unable to enforce payment of certain charges payable by such customers.
Any loss of customers or inability to enforce payment of certain charges paid by customers for installed water heaters or
HVAC equipment could have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s financial condition and results of operations and
on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
Protection Plan Renewal Risk
Protection plans typically have a 12-month term. Upon the expiry of any protection plan, there can be no assurance
that the protection plan will be renewed or, if it is renewed, that the terms thereof will be as favourable to EnerCare
as the expiring contract terms. The failure to achieve renewals and/or price increases may have a material adverse
effect on the financial position and results of operations of EnerCare and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt
service obligations.
Litigation Risk
In the normal course of EnerCare’s operations, whether directly or indirectly, it may become involved in, named as a
party to or the subject of, various legal proceedings, including regulatory proceedings, tax proceedings and legal actions
relating to, among other things, personal injuries, property damage, contract disputes and their business activities. The
outcome with respect to outstanding, pending or future proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty and may be
determined in a manner adverse to EnerCare and as a result, could have a material adverse effect on its financial
conditions and results of operations and EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations. Even if EnerCare
prevails in any such legal proceedings, the proceedings could be costly and time-consuming and may divert the attention
of management and key personnel away from EnerCare’s business operations which could have a material adverse effect
on its financial condition and results of operations and on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations.
In particular, EnerCare and a subsidiary of EnerCare have been named in legal proceedings commenced by certain
competitors, the outcomes of which, at this stage of the proceedings, are impossible to predict with any certainty.
Furthermore, no assurance can be given that EnerCare will not become involved in litigation, whether as defendant or
plaintiff, in other matters from time to time.
Foreign Exchange Impacts
Since December 31, 2013, the Canadian dollar has continued to weaken compared to the US dollar. The Home
Services business incurs significant capital and operating expenditures, such as water heater, HVAC equipment and other
parts costs, that are denominated in U.S. dollars. The continued devaluation of the Canadian dollar may significantly
increase EnerCare’s and EnerCare Solutions’ capital and operating expenditures in Canadian dollar terms. EnerCare
continuously monitors, evaluates and mitigates foreign exchange impacts to EnerCare’s margins through price adjustments
that are passed on to customers.
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Risks Related to the Sub-metering Business and Industry
Regulatory Changes
The Sub-metering business in Ontario is subject to the Sub-metering Legislation and the Sub-metering Code, as well as
existing electrical code regulations. Furthermore, as is the case with EnerCare generally, changes to any of the laws,
rules, regulations, policies or codes respecting the installation, servicing or billing practices in relation to the Sub-metering
business could have a significant impact on EnerCare Connections’ business’ including its compliance costs. There can
be no assurance that EnerCare will be able to comply with any future laws, rules, regulations, policies and codes or, if it
does so comply, what the impact may be on its costs to so comply. Failure by EnerCare to comply with applicable laws,
rules, regulations, policies and codes in respect of its Sub-metering business may subject it to civil or regulatory
proceedings, including fines, injunctions, recalls or seizures, which may have a material adverse effect on EnerCare’s
financial position and results of operations.
Concentration of Suppliers
EnerCare relies principally on three suppliers for its supply of meters, Triacta Power Technologies Inc., Quadlogic Controls
Corp. and Elster Metering. Should any of these suppliers fail to deliver or fail to deliver in a timely manner, the result could
be delays or disruptions in the installation of meters.
Uninsured or Underinsured Risks
The current insurance coverage for the Sub-metering business is in the form of comprehensive property and casualty
insurance in respect of claims for bodily injury or property damage arising out of assets or operations (subject to
deductible amounts). However, not all risks are covered by insurance, and no assurance can be given that insurance
will be consistently available or will be consistently available on an economically feasible basis or that the amounts of
insurance will at all times be sufficient to cover each and every loss or claim that may occur involving the assets or
operations of the Sub-metering business.
Risks Related to the Structure of EnerCare
Leverage Risk and Restrictive Covenants
EnerCare Solutions has significant debt service obligations under its 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes and New Debt
Financing. The degree to which EnerCare Solutions is leveraged could have material adverse consequences for
EnerCare, including: (i) limiting EnerCare’s ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures
(which are important to its growth and strategies), product development, debt service requirements, acquisitions and
general corporate or other purposes; (ii) having to dedicate a portion of EnerCare’s cash flows from operations to the
payment of interest on EnerCare Solutions’ existing indebtedness and not having such cash flows available for other
purposes, including operations, capital expenditures and future business opportunities; (iii) restricting EnerCare’s flexibility
and discretion to operate its business; (iv) limiting EnerCare’s ability to declare dividends on its Shares; (v) exposing
EnerCare to increased interest expense on borrowings at variable rates (including the New Debt Financing); (vi) limiting
EnerCare’s ability to adjust to changing market conditions; (vii) placing EnerCare at a competitive disadvantage
compared to its competitors that have incurred less debt; (viii) making EnerCare more vulnerable in a downturn in general
economic conditions; and (ix) EnerCare Solutions’ failure to refinance its 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes and New Debt
Financing will have a material adverse effect on EnerCare Solutions’ ability to satisfy its debt service obligations. The
amount of interest payable on the New Debt Financing is variable, and the interest rate may fluctuate significantly.
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Historical levels, fluctuations and trends in interest rates are not necessarily indicative of future levels. Any significant
upward movement in interest rates could materially increase the cost of borrowing under the New Debt Financing.
The Senior Unsecured Indenture and the New Debt Financing contain restrictive covenants of a customary nature, including
covenants that limit the discretion of the board with respect to certain business matters. These covenants place restrictions
on, among other things, the ability of EnerCare, through EnerCare Solutions and the guarantors, to incur additional
indebtedness, to pay distributions or dividends or make certain other payments, and to sell or otherwise dispose of
significant assets or consolidate with another entity. In addition, there are also a number of financial covenants that require
EnerCare Solutions to meet certain financial ratios and financial condition tests. Failure to comply with these obligations
could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could permit acceleration of the 2012 Notes, 2013
Notes and New Debt Financing. If the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes or New Debt Financing were to be accelerated, there
could be no assurance that the assets of EnerCare Solutions would be sufficient to repay in full such indebtedness. There
can also be no assurance that the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, New Debt Financing or any other indebtedness will be
able to be refinanced by EnerCare Solutions on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
Credit Ratings and Credit Risk
There can be no assurance that any credit ratings assigned to EnerCare, 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes and/or EnerCare
Solutions will remain in effect for any given period of time or that the ratings will not be withdrawn or revised by either or
both of DBRS and S&P at any time. Real or anticipated changes in credit ratings on any of EnerCare or EnerCare Solutions
may affect the market value of the Shares, 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes. In addition, real or anticipated changes in credit
ratings can affect the cost at which EnerCare can access the capital markets and the pricing of the New Debt Financing.
Reliance on Key Executives
EnerCare’s operations and prospects are dependent upon the participation of key executives. The loss of their services
and EnerCare’s inability to attract and retain qualified and experienced personnel may materially affect EnerCare’s ability
to operate and grow EnerCare.
Market Value Fluctuations
Prevailing interest rates will affect the market value of the Senior Notes, as they carry a fixed interest rate. Assuming all
other factors remain unchanged, the market value of the Senior Notes, which carry a fixed interest rate, will decline as
prevailing interest rates for comparable debt instruments rise, and increase as prevailing interest rates for comparable
debt instruments decline.
Risks Relating to the Convertible Debentures
The likelihood that holders of the Convertible Debentures will receive payments owing to them under the terms of the
Convertible Debentures will depend on EnerCare’s financial condition and creditworthiness. In addition, the Convertible
Debentures are unsecured obligations of EnerCare and are subordinate in right of payment to all of EnerCare’s existing
and future senior indebtedness. Therefore, if EnerCare becomes bankrupt, liquidates its assets, reorganizes or enters into
certain other transactions, EnerCare’s assets will be available to pay its obligations with respect to the Convertible Debentures
only after it has paid all of its senior indebtedness in full. There may be insufficient assets remaining following such payments
to pay amounts due on any or all of the Convertible Debentures then outstanding. The Convertible Debentures are also
effectively subordinate to claims of creditors of EnerCare’s subsidiaries except to the extent that EnerCare is a creditor of
such subsidiaries ranking at least pari passu with such other creditors. The Convertible Debenture Indenture does not prohibit
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or limit the ability of EnerCare or its subsidiaries to incur additional debt or liabilities (including senior indebtedness) or to
make distributions. The Convertible Debenture Indenture does not contain any provision specifically intended to protect
holders of Convertible Debentures in the event of a future leveraged transaction involving EnerCare.
In the case of certain transactions, each Convertible Debenture will become convertible into the securities, cash or property
receivable by a holder of Shares under the transaction. This change could substantially lessen or eliminate the value of
the conversion privilege associated with the Convertible Debentures in the future. For example, if EnerCare were acquired
in a cash merger, each Convertible Debenture would become convertible solely into cash and would no longer be
convertible into securities whose value would vary depending on EnerCare’s future prospects and other factors.
The Convertible Debentures may be redeemed, at the option of EnerCare, at any time and from time to time on and after
June 30, 2013, subject to certain conditions for redemptions prior to June 30, 2015, at a price equal to the principal
amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest. Holders of Convertible Debentures should assume that this redemption
option will be exercised if EnerCare is able to refinance at a lower interest rate or it is otherwise in the interest of EnerCare
to redeem the Convertible Debentures.
If a “change of control” (as defined in the Convertible Debenture Indenture) occurs, EnerCare will be required to make
an offer to purchase, within 30 days following consummation of the change of control, all of the Convertible Debentures
at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest. It is possible that following a
change of control EnerCare will not have sufficient funds at that time to make any required purchase of outstanding
Convertible Debentures or that restrictions contained in other indebtedness will restrict those purchases.
Reliance on Directors
In assessing the risk of an investment in EnerCare, potential investors should be aware that they will be relying on the
good faith, experience and judgment of the board. Although investments made by EnerCare are carefully selected, there
can be no assurance that such investments will earn a positive return in the short or long term or that losses may not be
suffered by EnerCare from such investments.
Dilution of Shareholders
EnerCare is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Shares and 10,000,000 preferred shares issuable in series for
consideration and on terms and conditions to be established by the board without the approval of any shareholders.
EnerCare may make future acquisitions or may enter into financings or other transactions involving the issuance of securities
of EnerCare which may be dilutive. Shareholders will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further issues.
Uncertainty of Dividend Payments
As a corporation, EnerCare’s dividend level is at the discretion of the board and will be evaluated periodically and may
be revised depending on, among other factors, EnerCare’s earnings, the financial requirements of EnerCare’s operations,
the satisfaction of solvency tests imposed by corporate law for the declaration and payment of dividends and other
conditions that may exist from time to time. The dividend level is intended to allow for internally generated cash flow to
support organic growth, maintain a strong balance sheet and provide sustainable monthly dividends to holders of Shares.
There can be no guarantee that EnerCare will maintain its current dividend level. Any reduction or suspension of dividends
may materially adversely affect the market price or value of the Shares.
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The forward-looking statements contained in this section are not historical facts but, rather, reflect EnerCare’s current
expectations regarding future results or events and are based on information currently available to management.
EnerCare continues to experience improved results in Home Services through improved rental customer retention and
increased average monthly rental rates as a result of our rental HVAC strategy. We continue to believe that the factors
contributing to the decline in Attrition over the last five years, including improved customer awareness, and Bill 55, will
create a favourable environment for further improvement in customer retention. EnerCare is pleased that Bill 55 will come
in effect on April 1, 2015. Although it continues to assess the operational impact of the new bill, it believes that any
operational changes will be implemented before the deadline.
Our key priorities and initiatives for 2014 in the Rentals business were to grow revenue in excess of our annual rate
increases, increase the number of unit additions, continue to improve Attrition and increase Adjusted EBITDA, and
successfully integrate the OHCS business. We are pleased to report that we have exceeded our targets with respect to
these objectives.
The purchase of OHCS has been transformative for EnerCare. The Acquisition has allowed EnerCare to have direct
access to its customers, control over all aspects of its operations and larger financial scale. Our priority for the first twelve
months remains the reunification of the two businesses, which has been successful to-date.
Our re-branding initiatives commenced in early 2015 with co-branding on customer invoices, sales literature and
advertising. Re-branding initiatives will continue throughout 2015.
The Transition Services Agreement regarding the decoupling from DE’s information technology platform is progressing
well. The first phase of de-coupling is scheduled to be completed during the first half of 2015.
Going forward, EnerCare expects that the revenue and cost of goods sold will be impacted as a result of the costs
incurred for protection plans sold by DE prior to the Acquisition. EnerCare estimates that the results of operations were
negatively impacted by $1,500 in 2014 and will be further impacted in 2015 by an additional $1,500. Similar impacts
are not expected to impact 2016.
The exchange rate of the U.S. dollar to the Canadian dollar will have an impact to our 2015 capital spend and our cost
of goods sold as a result of increased equipment and part costs which are sourced from the United States. However,
most of the increased costs can be passed through to the customer.
Home Services has seasonal impacts on its revenue recognition and sales activities. Revenue, costs of services and
Adjusted EBITDA are expected to primarily increase during the cooling and heating season, which typically fall in the
third and fourth quarter of the year.
In January 2015, EnerCare increased its weighted average rental rate by 3%.
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In respect to Sub-metering, our priorities in 2014 were to grow the business by increasing new contract sales, improve
productivity and operational efficiencies and enhance our customer value proposition through outstanding customer service.
We are pleased to report that we have met or exceeded all of these targets. In particular, we continue to make
improvements in productivity and operational efficiencies through our LEAN program. In the fourth quarter of 2014, the
revenue assurance program which was initiated in the third quarter yielded improvements. We anticipate that this will
contribute more than $2M of incremental margin in 2015.
EnerCare estimates that it will pay approximately $10,000 to $14,000 in current taxes for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2015. This estimate is based on taxable income comparable to current levels, shielded by unrestricted
tax losses and a corporate tax rate of approximately 26.5%. Current taxes for 2015 are lower than anticipated due to
an $11,000-$15,000 one-year timing issue of when EnerCare will pay taxes on the income earned in EHCS LP.
EnerCare’s current tax for 2014 was $27,287. Taxable income is principally impacted by changes in revenue, operating
expenses, potential acquisitions or divestitures, appropriate tax planning and capital expenditures through the capital cost
allowance deduction.
EnerCare announced an increase in its monthly dividend to $0.07 per Share, an increase of 15.9%, effective in respect
of the dividend payable to shareholders of record on the applicable date in March 2015, which dividend will be paid
in April 2015. The increase reflects EnerCare’s strong overall performance and our confidence in the future of the Home
Services and Sub-metering businesses.
EnerCare has set its annual general meeting of shareholders for April 30, 2015. Jim Pantelidis, Chair of the Board, and
management will provide an update to shareholders on EnerCare’s achievements in 2014 and strategy.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
Defined Term

Definition

AIF

Annual Information Form of EnerCare dated March 20, 2014.

Acquisition

The acquisition of the OHCS business of DE by EnerCare on October 20, 2014 through EHCS LP pursuant
the Asset Purchase Agreement.

Asset Purchase Agreement

The agreement dated July 24, 2014 between EnerCare, EHCS LP and DE regarding the Acquisition.

Attrition

Termination of customer relationships, including buyouts, in the Rentals portfolio.

Bill 55

Stronger Protection for Ontario Consumers Act, 2013.

Billable

EnerCare services that are deemed to be billing (see Non-IFRS Financial and Performance Measures – Measures
of Financial Performance).

CBA

The collective bargaining agreement negotiated and ratified in 2012 and 2014 by DE with Unifor Local 975.

Competition Act

Competition Act (Canada).

Conversion

The conversion of the Fund and the Trust, income trusts, to EnerCare and EnerCare Solutions, respectively.

Convertible Debenture
Indenture

The trust indenture dated as of June 8, 2010 between the Fund and Computershare Trust Company of
Canada pursuant to which the Convertible Debentures were issued. The Fund was wound-up and dissolved in
connection with the Conversion and all of the covenants and obligations of the Fund with respect to the
Convertible Debentures were assumed by EnerCare.

Convertible Debentures

6.25% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures of EnerCare (formerly the Fund), which mature on
June 30, 2017, in the original aggregate principal amount of $27,883. Each Debenture is convertible into
Shares at the option of the holder at a conversion price of $6.48 (or 154.3210 Shares per $1,000 principal
amount of Convertible Debentures).

Co-ownership Agreement

Co-ownership agreement dated December 17, 2002 between DE, Rentco, 4104285 Canada Limited and
CIBC Mellon Trust Company as custodian, as assigned by Rentco to ESLP on December 17, 2002, as
amended on February 6, 2003, January 1, 2005, December 29, 2006, February 8, 2007 and April 25,
2007, and assigned to EHCS LP as part of the Acquisition.

D2D

Door to door.

DBRS

DBRS Limited.

DC&P

Disclosure Controls and Procedures as defined under National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure
in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.

DE

Direct Energy Marketing Limited.

ECI

EnerCare Connections Inc. (formerly Stratacon and EECI).

EECI

Enbridge Electric Connections Inc. (now ECI).

EHCS LP

EnerCare Home and Commercial Services Limited Partnership, the limited partnership formed to own OHCS
following the closing of the Acquisition, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of EnerCare.

Enbridge

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.

EnerCare

EnerCare Inc., formerly the Fund.
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Defined Term

Definition

EnerCare Solutions

EnerCare Solutions Inc., formerly the Trust.

ESLP

EnerCare Solutions Limited Partnership (formerly the Waterheater Operating Limited Partnership).

ESN

Energy Services Niagara Inc.

Fund

The Consumers’ Waterheater Income Fund, predecessor to EnerCare prior to the conversion of the Fund from
an income trust to corporate structure pursuant to a plan of arrangement on January 1, 2011.

HVAC

Heating, ventilation and air conditioning.

Home Services

Business division that provides rental water heaters, furnaces, air conditioners and other HVAC products and,
as of October 20, 2014, also provides protection plans, HVAC sales and related services.

IASB

The International Accounting Standards Board.

ICFR

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as defined under National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of
Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
under Part I of the Handbook.

Incurrence Test

2009 Notes and 2012 Notes Incurrence EBITDA to Net Interest Expense.

LEAN

Lean is a set of “tools” and an operational discipline that assist in the identification and steady elimination of
process waste – as waste is eliminated quality improves while cycle time and cost is reduced.

MD&A

Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

New Debt Financing

The debt financing of EnerCare Solutions in respect of the Acquisition consisting of an unsecured (i) 4-year
variable rate, non-revolving term loan facility in the amount of $210,000 and (ii) 5-year variable rate, revolving
credit facility in the maximum amount of $100,000.

New Revolver

The 5-year variable rate, revolving credit facility in the maximum amount of $100,000 issued under the New
Debt Refinancing.

New Term Loan

The 4-year variable rate, non-revolving term loan facility in the amount of $210,000 issued under the New
Debt Financing.

OBA

Open bill access agreement with Enbridge.

OCI

Other Comprehensive Income.

OHCS

The Ontario home and small commercial services business of DE acquired by EnerCare on October 20, 2014
pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement.

Previous Revolver

$35,000 line of credit, with a maturity date of November 15, 2014, as amended and restated as of July 6,
2011, and further amended on November 15, 2012, February 26, 2013 and July 4, 2014 and replaced
on October 20, 2014 with the New Revolver.

Previous Term Loan

$60,000 single draw, variable rate, interest only, open loan with a maturity date of January 28, 2016, which
was repaid and terminated on October 20, 2014.

Rentals

Business division that provides rental water heaters, furnaces, air conditioners and other HVAC products and is
part of Home Services.

Rentco

4483588 Canada Inc. (formerly Direct Waterheater Rentals Inc.).
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Definition

Senior Unsecured Indenture The trust indenture dated as of January 29, 2010 between the Trust, as issuer, its subsidiaries, as guarantors,
and Computershare Company of Canada, as indenture trustee, as supplemented by the first supplemental
indenture dated as of January 29, 2010, the second supplemental indenture dated as of February 19, 2010,
the third supplemental indenture dated as of December 1, 2010, the fourth supplemental indenture dated as
of January 1, 2011, the fifth supplemental indenture dated as of September 30, 2012, the sixth supplemental
indenture dated as of November 21, 2012 and the seventh supplemental indentured dated as of February 1,
2013, as the same may be amended, modified, supplemented, restated or replaced from time to time. The
Trust was wound-up and dissolved in connection with the reorganization of the Fund`s income trust structure to
a corporate structure and all of the covenants and obligations of the Trust with respect to the Senior Unsecured
Indenture were assumed by EnerCare Solutions.
SG&A

Selling, general and administrative expenses.

S&P

Standard and Poor’s Rating Services.

Shares

Common shares of EnerCare.

Stratacon

Stratacon Inc. (now ECI).

Stratacon Debt

Secured debt assumed with the acquisition of Stratacon.

Subscription Receipts

$319,931 (net of underwriters’ fees) of subscription receipts issued by EnerCare on a bought deal basis.

Sub-metering

Business division (ECI) that provides sub-metering equipment and billing services to partially finance the Acquisition.

Sub-metering Code

The unit sub-metering code effective January 1, 2011, as amended March 15, 2013, which sets out the
minimum conditions and standards that a licensed unit sub-meter provider must meet when providing unit submetering services on behalf of exempt distributors.

Sub-metering Legislation

Collectively, the regulations under the Electricity Consumer Protection Act, 2009 and the Residential Tenancies
Act, 2006 that permit individual suite sub-metering in apartment buildings, condominium complexes and
commercial buildings in Ontario.

Transition Services
Agreement

The agreement entered into on closing of the Acquisition in respect of the provision by DE of certain ongoing
information technology transitional services and information technology decoupling services.

Trust

The Consumers’ Waterheater Operating Trust.

TSX

Toronto Stock Exchange.

Units

Trust Units of the Fund.

2009 Notes

Collectively, the 2009-1 Notes and 2009-2 Notes.

2009-1 Notes

$60,000 of 6.20% Series 2009-1 Senior Notes of EnerCare Solutions, which matured and were repaid on
April 30, 2012.

2009-2 Notes

$270,000 of 6.75% Series 2009-2 Senior Notes of EnerCare Solutions, which were redeemed on
March 6, 2013.

2010 Notes

$240,000 of 5.25% Series 2010-1 Senior Unsecured Notes of EnerCare Solutions, which were redeemed
on December 21, 2012.

2012 Notes

$250,000 of 4.30% Series 2012-1 Senior Unsecured Notes of EnerCare Solutions, which mature on
November 30, 2017.

2013 Notes

$225,000 of 4.60% Series 2013-1 Senior Unsecured Notes of EnerCare Solutions, which mature on
February 3, 2020.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The management of EnerCare is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial statements contained in the
annual report. These statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
Canada and necessarily include some amounts that are based on management’s best estimates and judgment.
Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis and considers that the statements present fairly the
financial position of EnerCare, the results of its operations and its cash flows. Management has also prepared financial
information presented elsewhere in this report and has ensured that it is consistent with that in the financial statements.
To fulfill its responsibility, management maintains internal accounting controls and systems of high quality and establishes
policies and procedures to ensure the reliability of financial information and to safeguard assets. The internal control
systems and financial records are subject to reviews by external auditors during the examination of the financial statements.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets regularly with the external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
and with management to approve the scope of audit work and assess reports on audit work performed. The financial
statements have been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on the recommendation of the Audit Committee.
Signed,
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“John Macdonald”

“Evelyn Sutherland”

John Macdonald

Evelyn Sutherland

President and Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ENERCARE INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of EnerCare Inc. and its subsidiaries, which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and the
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended,
and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of EnerCare
Inc. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and their financial performance and their
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

“PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
March 2, 2015
Toronto, Ontario
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

2014

As at December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)

2013

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 4)

$

Accounts receivable (note 5)

68,055

$

73,725

25,940
38,086

Inventory (note 6)

5,649

-

Prepaid expenses

2,623

1,246

150,052

65,272

Capital assets (note 9)

499,579

468,039

Intangible assets (note 10)

590,195

238,029

Reimbursement right – pension (note 14)
Goodwill (note 11)
Deferred tax asset (note 15)

15,284

-

144,295

2,962

8,327

4,578

$1,407,732

$ 778,880

$

$

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 7)

65,683

40,320

Current portion of long-term debt (note 13)

1,258

Obligations under finance leases (note 12)

1,981

-

Provisions (note 25)

1,150

1,187

Interest payable

4,540

5,044

Deferred revenue

5,290

94

Dividends payable
Long-term debt (note 13)
Convertible debentures (note 13)
Long-term obligations under finance leases (note 12)
Employee benefit plans (note 14)
Deferred tax liability (note 15)

1,213

5,550

3,389

85,452

51,247

683,691

535,193

3,162

3,914

5,473

-

29,737

-

122,332

117,230

929,847

707,584

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (note 16)

956,281

523,676

Contributed surplus

989

863

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

(251)

-

(479,134)

(453,243)

Deficit

Commitments and contingent liabilities are found in notes 19 and 20 respectively.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

76

EnerCare Annual Report 2014

477,885

71,296

$1,407,732

$ 778,880

Consolidated Statements of Income

2014

2013

$ 350,586
11,361
806
362,753

$ 297,985
791
373
299,149

97,673
10,600
8,121
70,978

90,671
578
43,394

54,242
50,639
9,874
(15)

53,141
46,579
11,640
-

28,891
331,003
408
32,158

31,219
13,754
290,976
4,447
12,620

$

27,287
(17,405)
9,882
22,276

$

21,852
(18,050)
3,802
8,818

$

65,077
65,909
0.34

$

58,190
58,929
0.15

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Contracted revenue
Sales and other services
Investment income
Total revenues
Expenses
Cost of goods sold and services provided
Commodity charges
Maintenance and servicing costs
Sales and other services
Selling, general & administrative (note 24)
Amortization
Capital assets (note 9)
Intangibles (note 10)
Loss on disposal of equipment
Gain on retirement of finance lease obligations
Interest
Interest expense (note 13)
Make-whole charge on early redemption of debt (note 13)
Total expenses
Other income (note 23)
Earnings for the year before income taxes
Tax expense
Current tax expense (note 15)
Deferred income tax recovery (note 15)
Total tax expense
Net earnings for the year
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (note 17)
Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding (note 17)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (note 17)

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
2014

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)

Net earnings for the year
Reclassification of cash flow hedge loss to earnings
Items that will not be reclassified to earnings
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (note 14)
Tax effect of remeasurements of defined benefit plans
Comprehensive income for the year

$

$

2013

22,276
-

$

(341)
90
22,025

$

8,818
4,023
12,841

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)

2014

2013

$ 523,676

$ 520,997

Share Capital
Balance – beginning of year
Shares issued (note 16)
Shares issued on debenture conversion (net of issue costs) (notes 13, 16)
Share Capital – end of year

431,781

-

824

2,679

956,281

523,676

Contributed Surplus
Balance – beginning of year
Shares issued on debenture conversion (net of issue costs) (notes 13, 16)

863

785

(31)

(131)

Employee share options:
Value of services recognized

157

209

989

863

Balance – beginning of year

-

(4,023)

Reclassification of cash flow hedge loss to earnings

-

4,023

Contributed Surplus – end of year
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans
Tax effect of remeasurements of defined benefit plans
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss – end of year

(341)

-

90

-

(251)

-

(453,243)

(422,122)

Deficit
Balance – beginning of year
Net earnings for the year

22,276

8,818

Dividends

(48,167)

(39,939)

(479,134)

(453,243)

Deficit – end of year
Shareholders’ equity – end of year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ 477,885

$

71,296

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

2014

For the years ended December 31, (in thousands of Cdn $)

Cash provided by/(used in):
Operating activities
Net earnings for the year
Items not affecting cash
Amortization
Capital assets (note 9)
Intangibles (note 10)
Loss on disposal of equipment
Gain on retirement of finance lease obligations
Non-cash interest expense
Defined benefit plan expense
Employee share options
Deferred income tax recovery (note 15)
Contributions to defined benefit pension plan
Operating cash flow
Net change in non-cash working capital (note 26)
Cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of capital assets (note 9)
Acquisition of OHCS – net of cash received (note 31)
Acquisition of ESN (note 30)
Proceeds from disposal of vehicle leases
Proceeds from disposal of equipment – warranty recoveries
Proceeds from disposal of equipment – buyout receipts
Cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Dividends to shareholders
Share issuance, net of costs (note 16)
Proceeds from revolving line of credit
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of revolving line of credit
Repayment of obligations under finance leases
Repayment of long-term debt
Financing costs on long-term debt
Cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents – end of year (note 4)
Supplementary information
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

$

2013

22,276

$

8,818

54,242
50,639
9,874
(15)
954
809
157
(17,405)
(517)
121,014
24,615
145,629

53,141
46,579
11,640
5,435
209
(18,050)
107,772
7,919
115,691

(85,573)
(440,113)
(3,035)
7
2,138
3,281
(523,295)

(79,279)
1,517
3,203
(74,559)

(46,006)
318,243
210,000
(340)
(61,214)
(902)
419,781
42,115
25,940
$
68,055

(39,799)
2,000
285,000
(2,000)
(271,286)
(1,733)
(27,818)
13,314
12,626
$
25,940

$
$

$
$

28,441
29,624

38,722
23,900

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share and per subscription receipt amounts)

1.

ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

EnerCare Inc. (“EnerCare”) holds all of the issued and outstanding shares of EnerCare Solutions Inc. (“EnerCare
Solutions”), which through its wholly-owned subsidiaries owns a portfolio of water heaters and other assets which
are primarily rented to customers in Ontario. EnerCare also owns EnerCare Connections Inc., which operates in the
sub-metering (“Sub-metering”) business primarily in Ontario. EnerCare Connections Inc. was formed through the
amalgamation on January 1, 2012 of Stratacon Inc. and EnerCare Connections Inc.
EnerCare Solutions is the successor to The Consumers’ Waterheater Operating Trust (the “Trust”). On October 20,
2014, EnerCare, through a subsidiary of EnerCare Solutions, acquired the Ontario home and small commercial
services business (“OHCS”) of Direct Energy Marketing Limited (“DE”) (the “Acquisition”). The assets acquired and
liabilities assumed included components of working capital, capital assets, intangible assets, goodwill, finance leases
and employee future benefits (note 31).
OHCS serviced and supported more than 90% of EnerCare’s rentals business installed asset base at the time of
closing of the Acquisition through origination and co-ownership agreements. Prior to the Acquisition, under the coownership agreement, EnerCare was entitled to 65% of the revenue and other payments and OHCS was entitled to
the remaining 35% of the revenue. For OHCS’ portion of the revenue, it was primarily responsible for servicing and
maintaining EnerCare’s rentals business capital assets subject to certain exceptions and limitations. In addition, OHCS
independently sold protection and maintenance plans for furnaces, air conditioners, boilers and other equipment,
sold and financed HVAC equipment and other on demand residential and small commercial equipment and provided
maintenance and repair services. The combined business unit is known as “Home Services”.
The head office of EnerCare is located at 4000 Victoria Park Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M2H 3P4.
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). EnerCare has consistently
applied the same accounting policies and methods of computation throughout all periods presented, as if these
policies had always been in effect, except for the adoption of new accounting standards as described in note 3.
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation, as a result of the
Acquisition which include contracted revenue, sales and other services revenues, cost of goods sold and services
provided – sales and other services, prepaid expenses and capital assets.
The policies applied in these consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS issued and outstanding as of
March 2, 2015, the date the board of directors approved the consolidated financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
described below.
Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under a historical cost convention, except for the
revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities to fair value, including derivative instruments, employee
benefit plans and the reimbursement right – pension as described in note 14.
Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of EnerCare consolidate the accounts of its subsidiaries. All inter-company
transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses from inter-company transactions are eliminated on
consolidation.
Subsidiaries are those entities which EnerCare controls. EnerCare controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by EnerCare
and are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. As of the date of these consolidated financial statements,
100% of the operating results and equity of the subsidiaries is attributable to EnerCare.
Business Combinations
Business combinations are presented in accordance with IFRS 3R. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are measured at their acquisition-date fair values. Any excess purchase price over the identifiable net assets will be
recorded as goodwill. Acquisition-related costs are expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with banks, and short-term investments with maturities
of less than 90 days after the date of purchase.
Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when EnerCare becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired
or have been transferred and EnerCare has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial
liabilities are derecognized when the obligation is eliminated or EnerCare is no longer required to transfer economic
resources to a third party in respect of the obligation.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
At initial recognition, EnerCare classifies its financial instruments in the following categories depending on the purpose
for which the instruments were acquired:
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(i)

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: A financial asset or liability is classified
in this category if acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short-term.
Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and subsequently at fair value. Transaction costs
are expensed in the consolidated statement of income. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are
presented in the consolidated statement of income within other gains and losses in the period in which they
arise. Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as current except
for the portion expected to be realized or paid beyond twelve months of the consolidated statement of financial
position, which is classified as non-current.

(ii) Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. EnerCare’s loans and receivables are comprised primarily of
accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents, and are included in current assets due to their short-term
nature. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be received less, when material,
a discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less a provision for impairment.
(iii) Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, provisions, interest payable, dividends payable, deferred revenue, obligations under finance leases
and long-term debt. Amounts are initially recognized at the amount required to be paid less, when material, a
discount to reduce the amount to fair value. Subsequently, amounts are recognized at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method. Long-term debt is recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs
incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within twelve months. Otherwise, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.
Impairment of Financial Assets
At each reporting date, EnerCare assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. If
such evidence exists, EnerCare recognizes an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortized cost as the
difference between the amortized cost of the loan or receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by
this amount either directly or indirectly through the use of an allowance account.
Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount
of the loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognized.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less any provisions for doubtful debts. Provisions are made
where there is evidence of a risk of non-payment, taking into account ageing, previous experience and general
economic conditions. When an accounts receivable is determined to be uncollectable it is written off, firstly against
any provision available and then to the consolidated statement of income.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously provided for are credited to the consolidated statement of income.
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Inventory
Inventory consists of residential furnaces, boilers, air conditioners held for sale or parts used in servicing equipment.
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventory is determined on a weighted
average cost basis.
Inventory is considered for obsolescence based on current estimates of future use.
Provisions
Provisions for legal claims, where applicable, are recognized when EnerCare has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period and are discounted to present value
where the effect is material. The discount rate, if applied, would be the risk free rate at the measurement date.
EnerCare performs evaluations to identify onerous contracts and, where applicable, records provisions for such
contracts.
Capital Assets
Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs include
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, including installation costs, labour and direct
overhead. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to EnerCare
and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when replaced.
Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income during the period in which they
are incurred.
The major categories of capital assets are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets on a straight-line
basis as follows:
Rental equipment

16 years

Furniture and fixtures

3-5 years

Computer equipment

3-5 years

Computer software
Installed meters
Installed meters – other

2-10 years
10 years
length of the contract, typically 10-25 years

Vehicles

over the term of the lease

Leasehold improvements

over the term of the lease

Residual values, method of amortization and useful lives of the assets are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.
Gains and losses on disposals of equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
of the asset and are included as part of loss on disposal of equipment in the consolidated statement of income.
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Leases
Leasing agreements which transfer to EnerCare substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership of an asset are
treated as finance leases, as if the asset had been purchased outright. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated on a basis consistent with similar owned assets or the lease term if shorter. The interest element of the
finance leases is included in the consolidated statement of income. All other leases are operating leases and the
rental costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are predominantly related to contractual customer relationships and customer contracts acquired in
business combinations that are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relationships
and customer contracts have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment
charges. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the expected life of 16 to 20 years.
Impairment of Non-financial Assets
Intangible assets and capital assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. For the purposes of measuring recoverable amounts, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units or “CGU”). The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use (being the present
value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or CGU). An impairment loss is recognized for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. When there are indications of a
potential decrease in a prior period impairment loss, a reversal may be recognized through profit and loss. A change
in amortization may be required based upon the estimated remaining service life.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of EnerCare’s share of the identifiable
net assets of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or at any time if an indicator of impairment exists. For goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated at each consolidated statement of financial position date or more frequently when
indicators of impairment are identified.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to a CGU or group of CGUs which corresponds to the
level at which goodwill is internally monitored by the Chief Operating Decision Maker.
The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. A goodwill impairment is
recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of the CGU or groups of CGUs over its recoverable amount.
Goodwill impairments are not reversible.
Convertible Debentures
The convertible debentures, issued in June and July 2010, have been recorded as a liability. The value of the
debentures has been reduced at issuance to reflect the fair value of the conversion feature of these debentures. The
reduction will be accreted to earnings over the term of the debentures using the effective interest rate method.
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Long Term Compensation
Cash Based Payment Plans
EnerCare has a Performance Share Unit Plan (“PSUP”) for eligible employees as described in note 28. Awards
are made in the form of phantom shares, which vest at the end of a three year period.
EnerCare has also adopted the Deferred Share Unit Plan (“DSUP”) for non-employee directors as described in
note 28. In addition to annual grants, pursuant to the DSUP, directors will receive 50% of their fees in the form
of deferred share units until the director has met the director’s share ownership requirements. Directors may also
elect to have vested performance share units settled in deferred share units on a one-for-one basis and may elect
once each calendar year to receive any portion of their fees in the form of deferred share units for the year. Such
fee election can be changed on a quarterly basis. The vesting period is estimated to be three years.
The PSUP and DSUP plan liabilities are based upon the product of the number of share units, the vesting period,
the average volume weighted share price for the five days preceding the last trading day of the period and
performance criteria established for each grant and plan at each consolidated statement of financial position
date. EnerCare’s obligation for each plan is recorded in accounts payable and paid in cash, unless a director
elects to have vested performance share units settled in deferred share units.
Share Based Payment Plan
EnerCare has a stock option plan for officers of EnerCare as described in note 28. At the date of grant, options
are valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model giving consideration to the terms of plan and EnerCare’s
performance. Recorded amounts are reflected in contributed surplus and the consolidated statement of income
for the period over the vesting period. The number of options expected to vest is reviewed at least annually, with
any impact being recognized immediately.
Employee Share Purchase Plan
Effective November 1, 2014, EnerCare implemented an Employee Share Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) for all eligible
employees of EnerCare. Under the plan, employees can purchase shares of EnerCare, up to a maximum of
$10 per year or 5% of base salary. EnerCare will award one matching share for every two shares purchased
by an employee over a two year vesting period during which EnerCare will recognize an expense over the
vesting period. Employee contributions held by EnerCare at the end of a period are classified as restricted cash
until such time the funds are transferred to the administrative agent for the purchase of EnerCare shares.
Income Tax
EnerCare uses the liability method and determines deferred income tax assets and liabilities based on differences
between the accounting and tax value of assets and liabilities. These are measured using the currently enacted, or
substantially enacted, tax rates that will be in effect when the differences are anticipated to reverse. Deferred income
tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the consolidated statement of income
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case income tax is also recognized
directly in equity.
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Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted, or substantially
enacted, at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect to previous years.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current.
Relationship with Franchisees
In certain regions of Ontario, EnerCare outsources the sale of air conditioners, boilers, furnaces and other services
and protection plans to seven third party franchisees and earns royalties based on the revenue earned by the
franchisees. As part of the arrangement, which expires in 2034, EnerCare facilitates the invoicing and collection of
receivable balances from the franchisees’ customers and remits the franchisees’ portion of the collected amounts,
thereby recognizing as revenue the royalty earned. Royalty revenue of $9,248 (2013 – $0) was recognized during
the year.
EnerCare also manages an advertising fund (“Ad Fund”), established to collect and administer funds contributed by
the franchisees for use in advertising programs. Contributions to the Ad Fund are based on a percentage of each
franchisee’s revenue. In accordance with IAS 18 “Revenue”, these contributions are not recorded as revenue but are
netted against the advertising expenses incurred by EnerCare as it is acting in substance, as an agent for the
franchisees with regard to these contributions.
Revenue
General
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to EnerCare and delivery has
occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. These criteria are met
at the time the service is provided or equipment is installed and depending on the delivery condition, title and
risk have been passed to the customer and acceptance of the product, when contractually required, has been
obtained. Revenue is measured based on the contract price, net of discounts at the time of sale.
Amounts invoiced in advance of revenue recognition are recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue recognized
prior to invoicing is recorded as unbilled accounts receivable and is included in accounts receivable.
Contract Revenues
Rental and Sub-metering Revenue
Prior to October 20, 2014, rental revenue was based on the rental agreements that were managed under: (a)
the co-ownership agreement with DE as well as (b) other third party arrangements. Under the co-ownership
agreement with DE, EnerCare earned 65% of gross revenues, and the remaining 35% was earned by DE for
installing and servicing the equipment. As of the Acquisition, EnerCare recognizes 100% of these revenues
together with related operating and service costs in non-franchised regions. In certain areas of Ontario,
franchisees service the equipment and receive revenues net of a royalty payable to EnerCare.
For all other portfolio assets that were not under the co-ownership agreement, including the Sub-metering assets,
EnerCare recognizes 100% of the revenues, together with related operating and service costs.
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Protection Plans
Within this product offering, EnerCare provides both maintenance service contracts and full service protection
plans. Under maintenance service contracts, EnerCare has the obligation to perform one annual maintenance
service on the customer’s equipment when requested by the customer. Maintenance service revenue is recognized
when the service is performed, or when EnerCare no longer has an obligation to provide the maintenance service.
Full service protection plans consist of fixed-fee service contracts for residential air conditioners and furnaces
directly with the end customer. These fixed-fee service contracts are for a 12 month term and are billed annually,
quarterly or monthly in advance. Amounts billed are initially recorded as deferred revenue and recognized as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the service period, which represents an estimate of the incidence
of risk over the contract term. For protection plan sales originated by franchisees, EnerCare earns royalties when
the contract is initiated with the customer as the franchisee retains the service obligation.
These full service protection plan arrangements are considered insurance contracts under IFRS 4. In the event
that the estimated future costs of full service protection plan contracts exceed the associated revenue to be
recognized, a loss is recognized in net income immediately.
Sales and Other Services
Sale and Installation of Equipment
Sale and installation of equipment in the Home Services segment is primarily comprised of residential furnaces,
boilers, air conditioners through both the corporate and franchised regions. For Sub-metering, revenue related
to the sale and installation of water conservation products in apartments and condominiums sales is recognized
when installation is complete.
Other Services
Other services include chargeable services such as on demand repairs and maintenance and duct cleaning,
and royalties thereon when the services are performed by third party franchisees. Revenue from other services
is recognized when the services are provided.
Interest Expense and Financing Charges
Interest charges on debt are classified as an operating expense. Costs associated with the arrangement of long-term
financing are netted against the carrying value of the debt and amortized on an effective interest rate method over
the expected term of the debt.
Hedge Accounting
In 2009, EnerCare completed a series of cash flow hedge transactions which resulted in a charge to other
comprehensive income. This loss was being amortized into income using the effective interest rate method based
upon the maturity of the 6.20% $60,000, Series 2009-1 Senior Unsecured Notes (the “2009-1 Notes”) and the
6.75% $270,000 Series 2009-2 Senior Unsecured Notes (the “2009-2 Notes”). The Series 2009-1 Notes matured
in April 2012, while the Series 2009-2 Notes were redeemed in March 2013.
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Dividends
Dividends on shares are recognized in EnerCare’s consolidated financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by EnerCare’s board of directors.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
EnerCare makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Management continually
evaluates estimates and judgments which are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. The following items are of significance for the period.
Revenue Accruals
At December 31, 2014, the Home Services business recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $45,800
(2013 – $900) reflecting accrued service periods. Unbilled protection plans comprise approximately $28,400
(2013 – $0) of this balance which is predominantly made up of protection plans sold in franchisee service
areas which are recognized as royalty revenue at inception but are invoiced over a period of twelve months.
The remaining unbilled revenues reflect accrued service periods for rental water heaters and other products.
At December 31, 2014, the Sub-metering business recorded a revenue accrual of approximately $10,850
(2013 – $14,350), reflecting accrued service periods, increases in Billable units, reductions in the backlog of
non-billing customers and pass through commodity charges.
Bad Debt Provisions
The Home Services business is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business for customers who are
billed directly by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. (“EGD”) within its service territory and secondarily when billed
by EnerCare or are billed by EGD outside of its service territory. For billing within the EGD service territory,
EnerCare is guaranteed payment by EGD for 99.56% in 2014 and 99.46% in 2013 of the amount billed
(subject to certain exceptions) 21 calendar days after the invoices are issued.
As a result of a Sub-metering billing backlog following the implementation of a new billing system, EnerCare
modified some of its collection programs in the latter half of 2012 and implemented full collection procedures
during the second quarter of 2013. During the fourth quarter of 2013, EnerCare reassessed the bad debts
provision in light of the completion of the billing backlog and collection results and increased the bad debts
expense by $2,046, resulting in a bad debt expense of $3,246 for 2013. Bad debt expenses of $160 in the
fourth quarter of 2014 resulted in a bad debt expense of $1,135 for 2014.
Management evaluates a number of factors and assumptions in the determination of the bad debt provisions
which was approximately $8,711 at December 31, 2014, compared to approximately $7,025 in 2013.
Changes in any of variables or assumptions may result in a materially different amount.
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Leases
Management applies judgment in its assessment of EnerCare’s arrangements with customers when determining
the classification of leases and the extent to which the risks and rewards incidental to ownership lie with the
company or the customer.
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets and Goodwill
Impairment tests are conducted at least annually, or as warranted by prevailing circumstances at the time of
reporting. The recoverable amount is based upon a number of assumptions, including but not limited to: discount
rates, billing suites, cash flows and expenses. Changes in any of these assumptions may result in a materially
different recoverable amount.
Employee Benefit Plans
Employee defined benefit pension plan balances, as described in note 14, are subject to a number of
assumptions. The actuarial valuations rely on estimates and assumptions including those for wage escalation,
mortality, health care and dental costs inflation, retirement ages, life expectancies and discount rates. Changes
in these estimates could have a material impact on the employee benefit plans liability and employee benefit
plan costs.
Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that realization is considered probable. Judgments regarding
projected future income and tax planning strategies are considered in making this assessment.
Business Combination
With respect to the preliminary estimated fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities and other
adjustments related to the Acquisition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the
acquisition method of accounting, in accordance with IFRS 3R, Business Combinations, under which, the total
fair value of the consideration transferred has been assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on their estimated fair values at the date of the Acquisition, with any excess purchase price allocated to goodwill.
Changes may be expected as additional information becomes available following the closing date of
October 20, 2014. Accordingly, the final fair value determinations may differ from those set forth in these
consolidated financial statements and such differences may be material.
Adoption of New Accounting Standards
EnerCare has adopted new or revised standards as required by IFRS, effective January 1, 2014.
IFRIC 21, “Levies” provides guidance on accounting for levies in accordance with IAS 37, “Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets”. The interpretation defines a levy as an outflow from an entity imposed by a
government in accordance with legislation and confirms that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy only when the
triggering event specified in the legislation occurs. Management has determined that this new interpretation did not
have any material impact on the amounts recognized in EnerCare’s consolidated financial statements.
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The IASB issued Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 36). The overall effect
of the amendments is to reduce the circumstances in which the recoverable amount of assets or cash-generating units
is required to be disclosed, clarify the disclosures required, and to introduce an explicit requirement to disclose the
discount rate used in determining impairment (or reversals) where recoverable amount (based on fair value less costs
of disposal) is determined using a present value technique. EnerCare has modified its disclosures to meet the
amendments in IAS 36.
Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Applied
The following are accounting policy changes to be implemented by EnerCare in future years:
Employee Future Benefits
IAS 19, “Employee Benefits” (“IAS 19”), was amended in November 2013. The amendments include changes
to the accounting treatment of employee or third-party contributions to defined benefit plans under certain
circumstances, and will be effective for EnerCare on January 1, 2015.
Revenue Recognition
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“IFRS 15”), provides a comprehensive five-step revenue
recognition model for all contracts with customers. The IFRS 15 revenue recognition model requires management
to exercise significant judgment and make estimates that affect revenue recognition. IFRS 15 is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with earlier application permitted. EnerCare is currently
evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.
Financial Instruments
The final version of IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”), was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and will
replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. IFRS 9 introduces a model for
classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected loss” impairment model and a substantially
reformed approach to hedge accounting. The new single, principle-based approach for determining the
classification of financial assets is driven by cash flow characteristics and the business model in which an asset
is held. The new model also results in a single impairment model being applied to all financial instruments,
which will require more timely recognition of expected credit losses. It also includes changes in respect of own
credit risk in measuring liabilities elected to be measured at fair value, so that gains caused by the deterioration
of an entity’s own credit risk on such liabilities are no longer recognized in profit or loss. IFRS 9 is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, however is available for early adoption. In addition,
the own credit changes can be early adopted in isolation without otherwise changing the accounting for financial
instruments. EnerCare is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements” (“IAS 1”) was amended by the IASB to clarify guidance on
materiality and aggregation, the presentation of subtotals, the structure of financial statements and disclosure of
accounting policies. The amendment gives guidance that information within the consolidated statements of
financial position and consolidated statements of income should not be aggregated or disaggregated in a
manner that obscures useful information, and that disaggregation may be required in the consolidated statements
of income in the form of additional subtotals as they are relevant to understanding the entity’s financial position
or performance. The amendments to IAS 1 are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.
EnerCare is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.
4.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2014

2013

$ 67,779

$ 25,940

As at December 31,

Cash at bank
Restricted cash
Ending balance

276

-

$ 68,055

$ 25,940

On December 30, 2014, EGD settled approximately $30,000 of EnerCare’s December billings in advance of its
normal settlement dates. Under the OBA cash is typically paid 21 days after billing.
Restricted cash consists of employee contributions to the ESPP which were held by EnerCare at the end of the year
and will be used, on behalf of employees, to purchase EnerCare shares in the following period.
5.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
2014

2013

$ 25,671

$ 29,861

56,765

15,250

As at December 31,

Billed accounts receivable
Unbilled accounts receivable
Bad and doubtful debt provision
Accounts receivable (net of provision)

(8,711)

(7,025)

$ 73,725

$ 38,086

$

7,025

$

3,100

$

8,711

$

7,025

Bad and doubtful debt provision:
Opening balance
Charge for the year
Ending balance

1,686

3,925

Unbilled accounts receivables represent $28,439 (2013 – $0), primarily related to protection plans sold in franchisee
service areas which are recognized as royalty revenue at inception but are invoiced over a period of twelve months.
The remaining unbilled receivables reflect the accrued service periods for residential water heaters and other products.
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6.

INVENTORY
2014

As at December 31,

Inventory

$

Less: inventory obsolescence
Inventory (net of provision)

5,728

2013
$

-

5,649

$

-

-

$

-

$

-

(79)
$

-

Inventory obsolescence provision:
Opening balance

$

Charge for the year
Ending balance

79
$

79

-

During the year ended December 31, 2014, $3,850 (2013 – $16) of inventory was recognized as part of cost
of goods sold and services provided in the consolidated statement of income.
7.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
As at December 31,

Accounts payable
Accruals

8.

2014

2013

$ 12,224

$ 10,762

37,049

16,821

Compensation payable

7,163

3,715

Current taxes payable

3,772

6,109

Other payables

5,475

2,913

Ending balance

$ 65,683

$ 40,320

PROTECTION PLAN CONTRACTS

Full service protection plans are fixed-fee service contracts for residential air conditioners and furnaces. The contracts
protect the customer against the risk of breakdowns, resulting in the transfer of an element of risk to EnerCare. Benefits
provided to the customer vary in accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract entered into however, they
generally include maintenance, repair and/or replacement of items affected. A provision for anticipated claims is
not recognized due to the short elapsed time between an incident and settlement.
The levels of risk exposure and service provision to customers are dependent on the occurrence of uncertain future
events, in particular the nature and frequency of faults and the cost of repair or replacement of the items affected.
Accordingly, the timing and amount of future cash outflows associated with the contracts is uncertain. The key terms
and conditions that affect future cash flows are as follows:
The provision of parts and labour for repairs, dependent on the agreement and associated level of service; and
There is no limit to the number of call-outs to carry out repair work and limits on certain servicing and
repair costs.
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When the estimated future costs of protection plan contracts exceed the associated revenue to be recognized, a loss
is recognized in net earnings immediately. The future costs of the protection plan contracts are dependent on the
number and nature of service requests for the associated equipment. Management estimates the future costs of
protection plan contracts based on its historical experience of service requests for similar equipment and manages
risk by monitoring the cost of service requests, product reliability and limiting the contract term to one year.
Amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements related to protection plan contracts is as follows:
2014
Revenue

$ 11,128

Cost of service

$

5,826

Deferred revenue net of service obligation

9.

2013

$

-

1,472

$

-

CAPITAL ASSETS
Rental
Equipment

Metering
Equipment

$ 791,969

$ 51,702

(380,929)

(11,847)

Net book value

$ 411,040

$ 39,855

$

-

Additions

$ 68,709

$

$

-

2014 and 2013

Leased
Vehicles

Other

Total

-

$ 10,120

$ 853,791

-

(2,754)

(395,530)

$

7,366

$ 458,261

$

1,093

$ 79,279
(16,360)

At December 31, 2012:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

9,477

$

Loss on disposal before proceeds

(16,360)

-

-

-

Depreciation for the year

(47,521)

(3,993)

-

(1,627)

(53,141)

At December 31, 2013

$ 415,868

$ 45,339

$

-

$

6,832

$ 468,039

$ 813,787

$ 61,179

$

-

$ 10,073

$ 885,039

(397,919)

(15,840)

-

(3,241)

(417,000)

Net book value

$ 415,868

$ 45,339

$

-

$

6,832

$ 468,039

Additions

$ 77,558

$

$

-

$

544

$ 85,573
(15,300)

At December 31, 2013:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Loss on disposal before proceeds

7,471

(15,285)

-

(15)

-

Acquisition – Niagara portfolio (note 30)

1,230

-

-

-

1,230

Acquisition – OHCS (note 31)

3,441

-

7,636

3,202

14,279

Depreciation for the year

(46,730)

(4,800)

(419)

(2,293)

(54,242)

At December 31, 2014

$ 436,082

$ 48,010

$

7,202

$

8,285

$ 499,579

$ 849,474

$ 68,650

$

7,321

$ 13,799

$ 939,244

(413,392)

(20,640)

(119)

(5,514)

(439,665)

$ 436,082

$ 48,010

8,285

$ 499,579

At December 31, 2014:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

$

7,202

$
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2014 and 2013

Customer
Relationships

Customer
Contracts

Total

33,270

$ 776,606

At December 31, 2012:
Cost

$ 743,336

Accumulated depreciation

$

(460,104)

(31,894)

(491,998)
$ 284,608

Net book value

$ 283,232

$

1,376

Amortization for the year

$

(46,396)

$

(183)

At December 31, 2013

$ 236,836

$

1,193

$ 238,029

$ 743,336

$

33,270

$ 776,606

(32,077)

(538,577)

$

(46,579)

At December 31, 2013:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

(506,500)

Net book value

$ 236,836

$

1,193

Acquisition – Niagara portfolio (note 30)

$

$

-

Acquisition – OHCS (note 31)

1,805

$ 238,029
$

1,805

401,000

-

401,000

Amortization for the year

(50,547)

(92)

(50,639)

At December 31, 2014

$ 589,094

$

1,101

$ 590,195

$1,146,141

$

At December 31, 2014:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

(557,047)
$ 589,094

$

33,270

$1,179,411

(32,169)

(589,216)

1,101

$ 590,195

11. GOODWILL

The following table provides details by reporting segment about the changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill for
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.
Home
Services
Balance at January 1 and December 31, 2013
Acquisition – OHCS (note 31)
Ending balance at December 31, 2014

$

-

Submetering
$

141,333
$ 141,333

$

2,962

Total
$

2,962

-

141,333

2,962

$ 144,295

As described in note 3, Significant Accounting Policies, goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually, or at any time
if an indicator of impairment exists.
For the annual impairment tests, recoverable amounts are determined based on value in use using discounted cash
flows. The five-year cash flow projections relating to the goodwill arising from the Acquisition were established using
an EBITDA growth rate of 6.5% and a 3% terminal growth factor, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 13.5%.
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12. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

Obligations under finance leases are secured by the leased vehicles. EnerCare has a Master Lease Agreement with
the lessor, where the lessor will acquire vehicles and lease them to EnerCare.
The obligations under finance leases bear floating interest rates ranging from 0.5% to 7% per annum. The finance
leases mature at dates ranging between January 2015 and December 2020. During the year ended December 31,
2014, EnerCare recognized $71 (2013 – $0) of interest expense related to the obligations under finance leases.
2014

As at December 31,

Obligations under finance leases

$

Less: current portion

2013

7,454

$

-

$

-

(1,981)
$

5,473

-

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows:

Principal

As at December 31,

Due in 2015

$

1,981

Lease
Payments

Interest
$

361

$

2,342

Due in 2016

1,808

268

2,076

Due in 2017

1,551

177

1,728

Due in 2018

1,160

96

1,256

Due in 2019

701

39

740

Thereafter

253
$

7,454

6
$

947

259
$

8,401
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13. DEBT

Bank indebtedness, current and long term debt:
2014

As at December 31,

2013

Bank indebtedness:
Opening balance January 1

$

Revolver – drawdown

$

-

Revolver – repayment
Total bank indebtedness

-

$

2,000
(2,000)

-

$

1,213

$

-

Current portion of long term debt:
Opening balance January 1

$

1,198

Repayment of debt

(1,214)

(1,198)

Current portion of Stratacon debt

1,259

1,213

Total current portion of long term debt

$

1,258

$

1,213

Non-current portion of long term debt:
Senior debt principal amount

$ 535,000

$ 520,000

3,072

4,373

Stratacon debt principal amount
Unamortized financing costs and interest accretion
Opening balance January 1
Current portion of Stratacon debt
Repayment of debt
Issuance of debt

(2,879)

(2,492)

$ 535,193

$ 521,881

$

$

(1,259)

(1,213)

(60,000)

(270,088)

210,000

285,000

Financing costs

(902)

(1,733)

Amortization of financing costs

659

1,346

$ 683,691

$ 535,193

$ 685,000

$ 535,000

Total non-current portion
Senior debt principal amount
Stratacon debt principal amount

1,813

3,072

Unamortized financing costs and interest accretion

(3,122)

(2,879)

$ 683,691

$ 535,193

Total non-current portion of long term debt

On October 20, 2014, EnerCare Solutions’ entered into a $100,000, five-year revolving, non-amortizing variable
rate credit facility (the “Revolver”), replacing the former $35,000 facility. The Revolver has a standby fee of 0.20%
and at December 31, 2014, no amounts were drawn. EnerCare Solutions is subject to two principal financial
covenants as defined in the Revolver and term loan credit facility (the “Term Loan”) documents. The covenants address
interest and debt coverage. At December 31, 2014, EnerCare Solutions complied with these covenants.
The long term debt balance includes the following items:
The senior debt consists of the $250,000 4.30% 2012-1 Senior Unsecured Notes (the “2012 Notes”) maturing on
November 30, 2017 and the $225,000 4.60% 2013-1 Senior Unsecured Notes (the “2013 Notes”) maturing on
February 3, 2020, with semi-annual interest payments due on May 30 and November 30 and February 3 and
August 3 in each year, respectively.
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On January 28, 2013, EnerCare Solutions entered into a $60,000 variable rate, single draw, term loan maturing
on January 28, 2016 (“Previous Term Loan”). On October 20, 2014, the Previous Term Loan was repaid through
the proceeds of the $210,000 non-revolving, non-amortizing variable rate Term Loan, maturing on October 20,
2018. Deferred financing costs of $902 were incurred in relation to the issuance of the $210,000 Term Loan.
In March 2013, the 2009-2 Notes were redeemed, including a make-whole payment of $13,754, from proceeds
of the issuance of the 2013 Notes and drawdown of the Previous Term Loan.
Debt was assumed in connection with the Stratacon acquisition in 2008. The secured debt of $3,071 as at
December 31, 2014 was arranged in a series of advances bearing interest at rates between 7.50% and 8.75%
with repayment terms ranging from 4 to 14 years ending in 2022.
Convertible Debentures:
On June 8, 2010 and July 6, 2010, EnerCare issued a total of $27,883 of 6.25% convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures, $24,774 net of issue costs, with interest payable semi-annually on June 30 and
December 31, commencing December 31, 2010, until maturity in June 2017. Each convertible debenture is
convertible into common shares of EnerCare at the option of the holder at a conversion price of $6.48 per share (or
154.3210 shares per $1,000 principal amount of convertible debentures). The convertible debentures were not
redeemable by EnerCare prior to June 30, 2013. On and after June 30, 2013, and prior to June 30, 2015,
EnerCare may redeem with proper notice the convertible debentures provided that the volume weighted average
trading price of the shares for the 20 trading days prior to the 5th trading day before the redemption notification
date is not less than 125% of the conversion price. On or after June 30, 2015, EnerCare may redeem with proper
notice the convertible debentures for the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
The following table summarizes the movement of the convertible debentures:
2014

As at December 31,

2013

Convertible Debentures:
Opening principal

$

Financing costs

4,081

$

(167)

6,760
(364)

Opening balance at January 1:

$

3,914

$

6,396

Principal conversions

$

(824)

$

(2,679)

Transfer of financing costs to equity upon conversion

31

131

Amortization of financing costs to expense

41

66

Ending balance
Principal balance

$

3,162

$

3,914

$

3,257

$

4,081

$

3,914

Financing costs
Ending balance

(95)
$

3,162

(167)

From January 1, 2015 to February 27, 2015, approximately $326 principal amount of additional convertible
debentures were converted to shares.
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Interest Expense:
(000s)

Interest expense payable in cash
Interest paid on subscription receipts
Equity bridge financing fees
Make-whole payment on early redemption of debt

2014

2013

$ 24,065

$ 25,784

3,097

-

775

-

-

13,754

Non-cash items:
Notional interest on employee benefit plans

254

-

Amortization of OCI and financing costs

700

5,435

$ 28,891

$ 44,973

Interest expense

Interest expense payable in cash is associated with debt and convertible debenture activity in 2014 and 2013. As
part of the Acquisition, subscription receipts were issued and subsequently converted to Shares upon the closing of
the Acquisition on October 20, 2014. While the subscription receipts were outstanding, they were classified as a
financial liability, resulting in interest expense of $3,097, which was equivalent to the dividend payments on such
subscription receipts had they been Shares. Equity bridge financing fees of $775 were incurred as part of the
Acquisition. The make-whole payment of $13,754 was incurred upon the early redemption of the 2009-2 Notes
and the drawdown of the Previous Term Loan. Notional interest of $254 in 2014 relates to the employee benefits
plan acquired as part of the Acquisition. Amortization of OCI and financing costs for 2013 include the previously
unamortized costs associated with the 2009-2 Notes and $4,023 of accumulated OCI which was fully reclassified
to earnings in the first quarter of 2013.
14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Benefit Plans
In connection with the Acquisition (note 31), DE established a mirror pension plan (“RPP”) to their current registered
pension plan (“DE Plan”). The RPP has both defined benefit and defined contribution components. The defined benefits
provide for partially indexed pensions based on years of service and the final 5 years’ average earnings for
contributory service and final 3 years’ average earning for non-contributory service.
Subject to regulatory approval, the pension assets and liabilities of DE employees who transferred to EnerCare at the
closing of the Acquisition (“Transferred Employees”) will transfer from the DE Plan to the RPP. Until such time, in
accordance with the asset purchase agreement (“Asset Purchase Agreement”), DE has committed to fund the solvency
deficit relating to these employees and remains responsible for the sponsorship and administration of the pension
plan, including exposure to the return on any plan assets. The RPP must be fully funded, on a solvency basis, prior to
being transferred to EnerCare. Accordingly, EnerCare has recognized a receivable, identified as a “Reimbursement
Right – Pension” in the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2014 in the amount of
$15,284. As the ultimate amount of the reimbursement is not yet known at the acquisition date, any changes that
occur through to the final settlement of the reimbursement amount and transfer of the plan will be recognized as a
measurement period adjustment under purchase accounting.
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EnerCare is responsible for current service cost contributions relating to Transferred Employees until such time that
EnerCare assumes sponsorship and administration of the RPP. The defined benefit component of the RPP is closed to
new members.
EnerCare also provides other post-employment benefits other than pensions to qualifying employees (“OPEB”), these
include medical, dental and insurance benefits. The OPEB is closed to new members.
The cost of employee benefit plans is recognized as the Transferred Employees provide service to EnerCare and the
obligation for these plans were measured individually at December 31, 2014 and October 20, 2014, as the
present value of the benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets. The cost of the defined benefit plan is
actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method and the use of best estimates of compensation level
increase, retirement ages of workers, mortality rates, health costs and other factors. Remeasurements, which include
actuarial gains and losses, are recognized in other comprehensive income, with the exception of any changes to the
reimbursement amount and transfer of the plan, as described above.
Regulatory Framework
The RPP is a registered pension plan under the Ontario Pension Benefits Act (“PBA”), which requires certain minimum
benefit standards and funding levels. Minimum funding requirements under the PBA are determined based on actuarial
valuations on both a going concern and solvency basis that are required at a minimum of every three years. The last
actuarial valuation for funding purposes was as at October 20, 2014 and a subsequent valuation is being prepared
prepared as of December 31, 2014. Deficits under the going concern basis may be funded over a period up to 15
years, beginning one year from the valuation date. In addition, solvency valuations must be performed which simulate
a plan wind-up. Deficiencies established on a solvency basis may be funded over a period of up to five years,
beginning one year from the valuation date (post-retirement cost of living adjustments are not required to be included
in the solvency liabilities).
The OPEB is not funded in advance.
Funding of the RPP
EnerCare’s practice is to contribute to the RPP the minimum required under the PBA, but additional contributions may
be made at EnerCare’s discretion. The employees do not make contributions to RPP.
Governance of Defined Benefit Pension Plans
DE will continue as the sponsor and administrator for the RPP until regulatory approval is received for the transfer of
the plan assets to the RPP and assumption of the RPP by EnerCare. As a result, DE’s pension committee oversees the
administration of the pension plans, on EnerCare’s behalf, in accordance with applicable legislation and approves
the governance structure, including the mandates of those to whom administrative duties and responsibilities have
been delegated.
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Risks
While DE administers the RPP, EnerCare is responsible for current service cost contributions and accordingly, the most
significant risks related to the RPP is if EnerCare does not make such contributions in a timely manner. EnerCare will
only bear the risk for factors such as market returns and inflation related to the RPP, when EnerCare assumes
sponsorship and administration of the RPP. Sources of risks for EnerCare’s defined benefit plans as at December 31,
2014 include:
Corporate Bond Yields
The discount rate used when reporting the liability for balance sheet purposes is determined in reference to corporate
bond yields. When yields decrease the liabilities in the plans rise, and conversely when yields increase the liabilities
in the plans decrease. While some of the assets for the funded plan are invested in corporate bonds, this represents
a small portion of the overall liabilities in the plans. This mismatch means that the overall deficit position is subject to
the movements in corporate bond yields. This risk is a significant source of variation in the employee benefit plans
liability from year to year.
Government Bond Yields
The discount rate used when determining the RPP plan’s solvency position for funding purposes is determined in
reference to government bond yields. When yields decrease the liabilities in the plan rise, and conversely when
yields increase the liabilities in the plan decrease. While some of the assets are invested in government bonds, the
weighting is less than the overall liabilities in the plan. This mismatch means that the funded status of the plan is
subject to movements in government bond yields. Government bond yields represent a significant risk associated
with the cash funding requirements of the RPP.
Longevity
The benefits payable to members are generally provided for the life of the member as well as the member’s spouse.
The life expectancy of members is a significant assumption used in the determination of the plans’ liabilities, and
increases in life expectancy, or the survival experience of members being higher than expected, will lead to increases
in the plans’ liability. This risk is particularly significant because the cost of benefits in all plans is linked to inflation,
further increasing the cost of benefits if members live longer than expected.
Inflation
The benefits payable to members in the RPP are increased by a proportion of the increase of the Consumer Price
Index each year. In addition, active member’s benefits are linked to final average earnings, and earnings increases
are typically seen to increase in high inflationary environments. The benefits payable to members in the post-retirement
benefits plan generally increase with increases in medical costs. All of these assumptions are linked to inflation. An
increase in the inflation assumption, or a period of high inflation, will generally increase the liabilities. Given the
strong link the benefits have to inflation this is a significant source of risk. The medical trend rate, while linked with
inflation, has traditionally been higher than inflation and represents an additional, and significant, source of inflation
risk for the post-retirement benefits plan.
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Risk Controls
DE manages the risks (other than then in respect of OPEB, which is managed by EnerCare) through plan design
reviews, as appropriate, and regular valuations of the plan and DE will manage such risks until regulatory approval
is granted and EnerCare assumes sponsorship and administration of the RPP.
The total cost of the employee benefit plans recognized in selling, general and administrative and interest expense
are as follows:
2014

As at December 31,

2013

Pension
Current service cost

$

Interest

636

$

-

103
$

739

$

-

$

173

$

-

$

-

OPEB
Current service cost
Net interest cost

151
$

324

Remeasurements of the employee benefit plans recognized in other comprehensive income are as follows:
2014

As at December 31,

2013

OPEB
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions

$

Actuarial gains and losses arising from demographic and other experience

434

$

(93)
$

341

-

$

-

Employee Benefit Plan Liability
The liability for the employee benefit plans is comprised of the following:
As at December 31,

2014

2013

Pension
Present value of defined benefit obligations
Fair value of plan assets

$ (74,928)

$

64,077

-

$ (10,851)

$

-

OPEB
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations

$ (18,886)

$

-

$ (29,737)

$

-
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Defined Benefit Obligations
The movements in the total present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:
2014

As at December 31,

Pension
Obligation, beginning of year
Acquisition of OHCS
Current service cost
Interest expense on the defined benefit obligations
Obligation, end of year
OPEB
Obligation, beginning of year
Acquisition of OHCS
Current service cost
Interest expense
Actuarial loss
Benefits paid
Obligation, end of year

$

2013

73,691
636
601
$ 74,928

$

$

$

18,221
173
151
341
$ 18,886

$

$

-

Fair Value of the Plan Assets
The movement in the total fair value of plan assets is as follows:
2014

As at December 31,

Pension
Fair value, beginning of year
Acquisition of OHCS
Interest income
Actuarial gains
Contributions
Fair value, end of year

$

61,025
498
2,037
517
$ 64,077

2013

$

$

-

Reimbursement Right – Pension
The movement in the total fair value of the Reimbursement Right – Pension is as follows:
2014

As at December 31,

Pension
Balance, beginning of year
Acquisition of OHCS adjustments
Interest income
Actuarial gains
Balance, end of year
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$

13,473
110
1,701
$ 15,284

2013

$

$

-

Actuarial Assumptions
The significant actuarial assumptions used in the determination of the present value of the defined benefit obligation
are as follows:
2014

As at December 31,

2013

Pensions
Discount rate (RPP)
Salary growth rate – Union
Salary growth rate – Non-Union

Until 2014

4.10%

-%

0.00%

-%

From 2015

3.00%

-%

Until 2015

3.75%

-%

4.25%

-%

From 2016
Inflation

2.00%

-%

Increase in maximum pension limit

3.00%

-%

Mortality table

CPM Private using projection
scale CPM-B

Male life expectancy, age 60

25.9 years

Male life expectancy, age 65

21.5 years

Female life expectancy, age 60

28.7 years

Female life expectancy, age 65

24.0 years

OPEB
Weighted average assumptions to determine
defined benefit obligations:
Discount rate
Mortality table

4.10%

-%

Final CPM 2014 Private Mortality
Table with scale CPM-B

Immediate health care cost trend rate

5.86%

-%

Ultimate health care cost trend rate

4.00%

-%

Year reached ultimate health care cost trend rate

2029

Weighted average assumptions to determine
defined benefit costs:
Discount rate
Mortality table

4.20%

-%

Final CPM 2014 Private Mortality
Table with scale

CPM-B
Immediate health care cost trend rate

5.90%

-%

Ultimate health care cost trend rate

4.00%

-%

Year reached ultimate health care cost trend rate

2029
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Sensitivity Analysis
Increase in Liability
December 31, 2014

Increase

$ 17,531

23.4%

100 basis point increase in the long term salary rate

5,919

7.9%

Impact on the cost of living adjustments of a 100 basis point increase in inflation

4,870

6.5%

90% of mortality rates

1,345

1.8%

100 basis point decrease in the discount rate

24,058

127.4%

Impact of a 1 year increase in life expectancy

19,504

103.3%

100 basis point increase in health care cost trend rates

23,511

124.5%

Pensions
100 basis point decrease in the discount rate

OPEB

Maturity Analysis
The approximate duration of the pension plans is 23.4 years while the approximate duration of the other long-term
benefits plan is 25.0 years. The undiscounted liabilities of the plan can be broken into the following durations:
Less than
1 year

More than
5 years

Total

$ 180,543

$ 186,182

1 to 2 years

2 to 5 years

$

852

$

4,204
676

57,085

57,903

$

949

$

4,880

$ 237,628

$ 244,085

As at December 31, 2014
Pension

$

583

$

628

OPEB
Total
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15. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense is recognized based on management’s best estimates of the weighted average annual income
tax rate for the full financial year. The estimated average annual rate used for each of the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013 was 26.50%. The provisions for income taxes in the consolidated statements of earnings reflect an
effective rate that differs from the combined Canadian federal and provincial rates, as follows:
2014

For the year ended December 31,

Tax expense at statutory rate of 26.50%

$

2013

8,522

$

3,344

Tax effects of:
Future tax rate differential

-

-

Non-deductible expenses

1,330

852

-

(632)

30

238

Recognition of previously unrecognized losses
Other
Total

$

Current tax expense
Deferred income tax recovery
Total tax expense

9,882

$

27,287
(17,405)
$

3,802
21,852

9,882

(18,050)
$

3,802

The provision for income taxes in 2014 reflects both a provision for temporary difference expected to be reversed
in the future and the impact of future changes in tax rates applicable to EnerCare.
Deferred income tax asset and liability
The deferred income tax asset and liability on EnerCare’s consolidated statement of financial position reflect the
estimated tax on temporary and other differences. The movement of the deferred income tax accounts are as follows:
As at December 31,

As at January 1:
Step up of deferred income tax on Acquisition (note 31)
Deferred tax related to share issuance costs
Deferred tax on remeasurements of defined benefit plan
Deferred income tax recovery
Total

2014

2013

$(112,652)

$(130,702)

(22,924)

-

4,076

-

90

-

17,405

18,050

$(114,005)

$(112,652)

EnerCare’s management expects that the future tax assets will be recoverable based on the expected growth and
profitability of the Home Services and Sub-metering businesses.
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The balance of the deferred income tax asset and liability classified by temporary differences is as follow:
2014

As at December 31,

2013

Deferred tax asset
Loss carry forwards

$

4,566

$

4,990

Allowances and provisions

4,417

2,390

Financing fees

3,472

-

Employee future benefit obligations

3,830

-

-

1,114

16,285

8,494

(119,965)

(102,127)

(9,934)

(18,780)

Other
Deferred tax liability
Equipment and intangible assets
Temporary difference – subsidiary tax year end
Other
Total

(391)

(239)

(130,290)

(121,146)

$(114,005)

$(112,652)

2014

2013

Classification
As at December 31,

Deferred tax asset

$

Deferred tax liability
Total

8,327

$

4,578

(122,332)

(117,230)

$(114,005)

$(112,652)

2014

2013

Tax loss carry forward expiry schedule
As at December 31,

Expire in 2022
Expire in 2023

109
914

$

109
914

Expire in 2024

2,902

2,902

Expire in 2025

3,055

3,055

Thereafter
Total loss carry forwards
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10,249

12,031

$ 17,229

$ 19,011

16. SHARE CAPITAL
2014

As at December 31,

2013

Shares Issued and Outstanding

Shares

Dollars

Shares

Dollars

Opening balance at January 1:

58,425

$ 523,676

58,012

$ 520,997

33,328

431,781

-

-

127

824

413

2,679

Transfer of financing costs to equity

-

(31)

-

(131)

Transfer from contributed surplus

-

31

-

131

91,880

$ 956,281

58,425

$ 523,676

Issued:
New share issuance – note 31
Principal conversion of debentures

Totals

EnerCare’s articles of incorporation provide for the issuance of an unlimited number of common shares and
10,000,000 preferred shares. At December 31, 2014, there were no preferred shares outstanding. Each series of
preferred shares will have such rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions as may be determined by the board of
directors prior to the issuance thereof. Holders of preferred shares, except as required by law, will not be entitled to
vote at meetings of shareholders of EnerCare. With respect to the payment of dividends and distribution of assets in
the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of EnerCare, whether voluntary or involuntary, the preferred shares
are entitled to preference over the common shares and any other shares ranking junior to the preferred shares.
In conjunction with the Acquisition, EnerCare completed an offering of 25,635,525 subscription receipts at a price
of $13.00 per subscription receipt (which included 1,788,525 subscription receipts sold as a result of the exercise
in full of the over-allotment option by the underwriters). In accordance with the terms of the agreement pursuant to
which the subscription receipts were issued, upon closing of the Acquisition on October 20, 2014, each outstanding
subscription receipt was exchanged for one common share of EnerCare, resulting in the issuance of 25,635,525
shares and a cash payment equal to $0.1208 per subscription receipt. The cash payment was equal to the
aggregate amount of dividends per share for which record dates occurred since the issuance of the subscription
receipts, less any withholding taxes, if any. Transaction costs associated with the issuance of the subscription receipts
of $15,019, or $10,943 net of deferred tax of $4,076, relate to commissions, legal and underwriter fees incurred
and have been netted against proceeds.
In addition to the offering of Subscription Receipts, the Acquisition was partially financed through a private placement
of 7,692,308 common shares of EnerCare to DE, with a fair value of the common shares at closing of $109,462.
The common shares issued to DE are subject to a 12-month lock-up and thereafter, one-half of such shares are subject
to a further 6-month lock-up.
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17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the period. Dilutive computations are based upon: (i) an if converted approach where interest expense
attributable to the convertible debentures on an after tax basis is added back to net earnings as part of the numerator
and the impact of additional shares as a result of the conversion feature of 154.3210 shares per $1,000 principal
amount is added to the denominator, and (ii) stock options whereby the number of dilutive shares is calculated as the
difference between the number of shares issued and the number of shares that would have been issued at the average
market price during the period based upon the assumed initial proceeds. Options are not dilutive if the average
price is below the strike price.
The computations of basic and diluted earnings per share are shown below:
2014

For the year ended December 31, (in thousands – except per share amounts)

Net earnings
After tax impact of options and convertible debentures
Fully diluted net earnings
Weighted average shares outstanding
Dilutive impact of options
Dilutive impact of convertible debentures
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding
Basic and diluted earnings per share

$ 22,276
193
22,469
65,077
329
503
65,909
$
0.34

2013
$

8,818
307
9,125
58,190
109
630
58,929
$
0.15

18. DIVIDENDS

The following table outlines the dividend declarations as approved by the board of directors and the related per
share amounts.
2014

For the year ended December 31,

Dividends declared per share during the year
Dividends declared after December 31,
January
Dollars
Shares
Per share/unit amount
February
Dollars
Shares
Per share/unit amount

$

2013

0.72

$

$

5,551
91,910
$
0.06

$

$

$

5,553
91,930
$
0.06

0.69

3,390
58,455
$
0.058

3,391
58,462
$
0.058

The total amount of dividends declared after December 31, 2014 are estimated above and are subject to change
dependent upon the actual convertible debenture conversions prior to the record date, if any.
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19. COMMITMENTS

Under operating lease agreements for office premises and office equipment, EnerCare is required to make annual
minimum lease payments. The aggregate amount of future minimum payments is as follows:
2014

As at December 31,

Due in 2015

$

1,616

2013
$

379

Due in 2016

1,705

397

Due in 2017

606

70

Due in 2018

-

-

Due in 2019

-

-

Thereafter

-

Total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

$

3,927

$

846

The operating lease payments recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31,
2014 were $1,671 (2013 – $1,064).
20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

EnerCare and a subsidiary of EnerCare Solutions have been named in legal proceedings commenced by certain
competitors seeking specified and unspecified damages based on allegations that EnerCare, its service provider,
EcoSmart Home Services Inc., and others engaged in unlawful surveillance and other unlawful activities aimed at
the door to door sales efforts of the competitors.
EnerCare is also a party to a number of product liability claims and lawsuits in the ordinary course of business.
Management is of the opinion that any liabilities that may arise from these lawsuits have been adequately provided
for in these consolidated financial statements.
21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The main risks EnerCare’s financial instruments are exposed to include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.
Credit Risk
EnerCare is exposed to credit risk on accounts receivable from customers. EnerCare’s credit risk is considered to be
low for Home Services and moderate for Sub-metering.
EnerCare’s financial assets that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and accounts
receivable. For more than 95% of Home Services revenues EnerCare is guaranteed payment by EGD for 99.56%
of the amount billed (subject to certain exceptions) 21 calendar days after the invoices are issued. EnerCare is
exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business for customers who are billed directly by EnerCare or are billed
by EGD outside its service territory. For accounts receivable from customers billed on EGD invoices within its service
territory a related trust agreement also serves to mitigate EnerCare’s credit exposure on receivables owing from EGD.
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EnerCare is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business associated with the billing of Sub-metering
customers and landlords. Since EnerCare employs various billing models with Sub-metering, credit risk exposure
fluctuates based on the type of customer. In the case where a landlord is responsible for commodity expenses, credit
risk is low. On accounts where EnerCare is responsible for commodity expenses, credit risk is higher. This credit risk
tends to be lower where customers own their unit as opposed to renting them. EnerCare has the ability to lower this
risk through various contractual protections with landlords, as well as EnerCare’s ability to disconnect electricity for
non-payment.
For accounts receivable as at December 31, 2014, a provision for all amounts at risk of collection and impaired
has been made in the consolidated financial statements based upon a number of factors which include, but are not
limited to, the type of account and credit characteristics, aging, and net future cash flows.
Liquidity Risk
EnerCare believes it has low liquidity risks given the makeup of its accounts payable and accrued liabilities, provisions,
interest payable, dividends payable and debt. EnerCare measures liquidity risk through comparisons of current
financial ratios with the financial covenants contained in its Revolver and Term Loan agreements and its senior
unsecured trust indenture, as supplemented, as applicable. To reduce liquidity risk, EnerCare has maintained financial
ratios which comply with the financial covenants applicable to the borrowings and has staggered its senior debt
maturity dates through to February 3, 2020.
The covenants under the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes are contained in the senior unsecured trust indenture, as
supplemented. Under the terms of this indenture, EnerCare may not incur additional senior debt other than certain
refinancing debt and certain working capital debt if the incurrence test is less than 3.8 to 1. The incurrence test is
the ratio of defined EBITDA over defined interest expense calculated 12 months in arrears. EnerCare exceeded this
threshold requirement at December 31, 2014.
The covenants under the Revolver and Term Loan are an amendment and restatement of the Previous Revolver. The
principal covenant tests measure the ratio of total debt to adjusted EBITDA and the ratio of adjusted EBITDA to cash
interest expense. Total debt, Adjusted EBITDA and cash interest expense are defined in the agreements and may not
be the same as terms used in the MD&A. EnerCare was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2014.
The summary of financial obligations and contractual maturities related to undiscounted non-derivative financial
liabilities excluding accounts payable was as follows:
Debt
Period

Interest

1,258

$ 22,890

Due in 2016

992

21,530

1,808

268

2,800

21,798

Due in 2017

253,872

21,269

1,551

177

255,423

21,446

Due in 2018

210,126

10,360

1,160

96

211,286

10,456

Due in 2019

25

10,356

701

39

726

10,395

Thereafter
Total
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$

225,055

5,178

$ 691,328

$ 91,583

Principal

Total

Principal

Due in 2015
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Finance Lease Obligations

$

1,981

Interest
$

253
$

7,454

$

361

$

Principal

Interest

3,239

$ 23,251

6

225,308

5,184

947

$ 698,782

$ 92,530

Market Risk
Fair Value
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
deferred revenue, obligations under finance leases and other payables approximate their fair values due to their
relatively short periods to maturity.
Fair value measurements are determined in accordance with the following levels:
Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.
Level 3 Prices or valuations that require management inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.
The following table presents the carrying amounts and the fair values of EnerCare’s financial assets and liabilities at
December 31, 2014 and 2013. The estimated fair values of the financial instruments are at the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.
2014

As at December 31,

Cash and cash equivalents

2013

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

$ 68,055

$ 68,055

$ 25,940

$ 25,940

Accounts receivable

73,725

73,725

38,086

38,086

Total financial assets

$ 141,780

$ 141,780

$ 64,026

$ 64,026

$ 685,000

$ 700,418

$ 535,000

$ 548,110

Gross convertible debentures

3,257

7,263

4,081

6,183

Stratacon debt

3,071

3,071

4,285

4,285

Obligations under finance lease

7,454

7,454

-

-

$ 698,782

$ 718,206

$ 543,366

$ 558,578

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:
Gross senior borrowings

Total borrowings
Other obligations and payables
Total financial liabilities

82,213

82,213

50,034

50,034

$ 780,995

$ 800,419

$ 593,400

$ 608,612

Fair values of all financial assets and liabilities are classified as Level 3 financial instruments, except cash and cash
equivalents, gross senior borrowings and gross convertible debentures which are classified as Level 1.
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22. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

EnerCare’s capital management strategy is designed to maintain financial strength and flexibility to support profitable
growth in all business environments. EnerCare considers capital to be primarily cash and cash equivalents, long-term
debt and shareholder’s equity and makes adjustments as appropriate to such variables as cash on hand, additional
capital expenditures, debt capacity, available credit facilities, covenant restrictions, and equity leverage. As a result
of the Acquisition certain targets and evaluation measures were modified, however, EnerCare’s capital management
strategy, objectives, and definitions have not materially changed during 2014.
EnerCare was in compliance with all covenants under the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, Revolver and Term Loan as at
December 31, 2014.
23. OTHER INCOME

During 2014, EnerCare realized a settlement of $408 from DE on account of the reclassification of certain water
heaters under the co-ownership agreement to EnerCare’s owned portfolio, originally associated with the Toronto Hydro
Energy Services Inc. portfolio acquisition. During 2013, EnerCare realized settlements from DE of $4,447, including
income of approximately $2,769 on account of water heater installation costs, billing and collection deficiencies and
third-party claims, and $1,678 on account of billing and collection in respect of water heater buyouts.
24. SELLING, GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE
For the year ended December 31,

Employee compensation and benefits
Professional fees
Selling, office and other
Billing and servicing
Claims and bad debt
Total
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2014

2013

$ 27,660

$ 15,502

11,534

4,564

8,234

5,046

17,109

9,227

6,441

9,055

$ 70,978

$ 43,394

25. PROVISIONS

On a regular basis, EnerCare evaluates key accounting estimates based upon historical information, internal and
external factors and probability factors to measure provisions. The key provision is on account of claims as a result
of water damage caused by faulty water heaters. The claims provision is a current liability estimated as the product
of the average anticipated dollar loss and the current incidents as at December 31, 2014.
2014

For the year ended December 31,

Opening balance:

$

2013

1,187

$

726

Charged/(credited) to the consolidated statement of income:
Additional provision
Claims spending during the year
Ending balance

$

2,396

3,395

(2,433)

(2,934)

1,150

$

1,187

All claims generated during the periods ended are typically paid out within 12 months, therefore the provisions have
not been discounted.
26. CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL

The following table reconciles the changes in working capital during the comparative periods as presented in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.
For the year ended December 31,

Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses

2014

2013

$ 21,185

$

3,216

(4)

-

(992)

(33)

Deferred revenue

1,340

24

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

3,627

3,435

(37)

461

(504)

816

Provisions
Interest payable
Total

$ 24,615

$

7,919

EnerCare Annual Report 2014

113

27. RELATED PARTIES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH DE

Key Management
Key management includes EnerCare’s officers and directors. External director’s fees are included in professional fees
as part of total selling, general and administrative expenses. Total compensation and benefits earned by key
management for services are shown below:
2014

For the year ended December 31,

Salaries and short-term benefits

$

Other employment benefits
Long term benefits
Total

$

3,032

2013
$

2,492

78

87

4,194

1,991

7,304

$

4,570

Transactions with DE
Prior to October 20, 2014, EnerCare’s relationship with DE was significant, as DE serviced and supported
approximately 90% of EnerCare’s rentals customers and rentals installed asset base. The following agreements
governed the principal affairs between EnerCare and DE prior to October 20, 2014. These agreements were
assigned to a subsidiary of EnerCare on October 20, 2014. See note 31 – “Acquisition of Direct Energy’s Home
and Small Commercial Services Business in Ontario” and note 14 – “Employee Benefit Plans” for further discussion
regarding DE and EnerCare’s reimbursement right.
Co-ownership Agreement:
Under this agreement, DE received, subject to certain exceptions, 35% of the gross revenue generated by the coowned portfolio of assets and was obligated to service that asset portfolio, effectively operating the day-to-day activities
of that portion of EnerCare’s business. Pursuant to an agreement between DE and EnerCare, DE was entitled to put
forth one individual for consideration by EnerCare’s board for inclusion in EnerCare’s annual management information
circular for election as a director of EnerCare for as long as it was servicer under the co-ownership agreement.
Origination Agreement:
Under this agreement, subject to certain exceptions, DE was required to offer to sell all rental water heaters to
EnerCare at prescribed prices, essentially at DE’s cost plus an inventory service fee and a set installation fee. EnerCare
had no obligation to purchase any water heaters. The agreement also established an incentive fee payable to DE
had certain growth targets been achieved.
Other Agreements with DE:
In addition to the above agreements, EnerCare and DE were parties to an agreement for the servicing of Toronto
Hydro Energy Services Inc. units, as these units were not subject to the co-ownership agreement. This agreement
provided for the administration and servicing of the portfolio on a fee-for-service basis.
EnerCare and DE were also parties to an agreement for the origination and servicing of HVAC rental units, whereby
DE originated HVAC rental customers and provided servicing to these HVAC rental customers. EnerCare had the
right to originate HVAC rental customers outside of this arrangement with DE.
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Details of amounts paid or payable under these agreements to DE are as follows:
2014

2013

Capital expenditures

$ 42,474

$ 54,759

Inventory service fee

2,713

3,521

17,846

11,234

For the year ended December 31,

Origination agreement:

Other capital expenditures
Other expenses, including billing and servicing costs
Total

2,925

2,956

$ 65,958

$ 72,470

At December 31 2014, EnerCare had accounts receivable owing from DE of approximately $541 for 2014, and
had accounts payable of $7,609 for 2013.
28. COMPENSATION PLANS

EnerCare operates the following share based compensation plans: the PSUP, DSUP, ESPP and the Share Option
Plan (“SOP”).
Cash Based Payment Plans
The PSUP awards phantom shares to management in consideration for past services provided to support achievement
of EnerCare’s performance objectives, align interests of key persons with the success of EnerCare, and retain
management. These phantom shares vest equally over a 3 year period, and are based on the achievement of certain
service and/or performance criteria, and are non-forfeitable. Dividends on the phantom shares accrue at the same
rates as dividends on the shares.
EnerCare has a DSUP for non-employee directors to assist EnerCare to promote a greater alignment of interests
between the directors and the shareholders, provide a compensation system for the directors that is reflective of the
responsibility, commitment and risk accompanying board membership, assist EnerCare in attracting and retaining
individuals with experience and ability to serve as members of the board, and allow the directors to participate
in the long-term success of EnerCare. Pursuant to the DSUP, directors will receive 50% of their fees in the form of
deferred share units until the director has met the director’s share ownership requirements. Directors may also elect
once each calendar year to receive any portion of their fees in the form of deferred share units for the year, such
election can be changed on a quarterly basis. A director’s entitlement under the DSUP may be redeemed only when
the director ceases to be a director and must be redeemed no later than the end of the calendar year following the
date the director ceases to be a director. Dividends on these deferred shares accrue at the same rates as dividends
on the shares.
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Share Based Payment Plans
EnerCare has a stock option plan for officers of EnerCare. The purpose of the plan is to support the achievement of
the corporation’s objectives, align officer interests with the success of the corporation and provide compensation
opportunities to attract, retain and motivate key management employees. Options must be exercised within 8 years
after the grant date with vesting equally over the first 3 years. All vested options must be exercised within 2 years, 1
year or 90 days of the termination date in respect of retirement/disability, death and termination, respectively. Options
are settled through the issuance of treasury shares for the strike price consideration.
The fair value of the options at the date of grant was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model giving
consideration to the terms of the plan and EnerCare’s performance. The significant variables included in the model
were as follows:
• An expected option life of approximately 5.5 years;
• A risk free rate based upon Government of Canada bonds corresponding to the expected option life;
• Stock prices based upon the daily close for the past 36 months resulting in a 33% volatility measure; and
• Dividend yield was based on historical levels preceding the date of grant.
The weighted average remaining contractual life is approximately 5.81 years.
Effective November 1, 2014, EnerCare implemented the ESPP for all eligible employees of EnerCare. Under the
plan, employees can purchase shares of EnerCare, up to a maximum of $10 per year or 5% of base salary. EnerCare
will award one matching share for every two shares purchased and held by an employee for at least two years.
Shares related to both the employee and employer portions are purchased in the month following the employee
contributions. Expenses related to the company match portion are recorded equally over the 2 year vesting period
and are reflected in the consolidated statement of income. Employee contributions held by EnerCare at the end of a
period are classified as restricted cash which will be used to purchase EnerCare shares in the following period. As
of December 31, 2014, there was $276 of restricted cash on hand and no shares had been purchased for either
the employee or employer portions.
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Changes in the number of long term compensation plan awards outstanding and their related weighted average
prices are as follows:
PSUP
(in thousands except price)

At January 1, 2014
Granted
Director’s optional purchases

DSUP

SOP

$

#

325

9.94

188

9.94

817

8.06

-

86

9.94

35

9.94

379

10.71

-

#

$

#

ESPP
$

$

-

-

14

12.69

-

-

-

Phantom dividends

18

-

14

-

-

-

-

Performance objective modifier

44

-

-

-

-

-

-

(8)

-

-

-

(58)

-

-

(86)

9.94

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Forfeited
Exercised
Expired
At December 31, 2014

379

14.59

251

14.59

1,138

8.85

Expensed in the period

-

2,730

-

1,577

-

157

-

Liabilities payable

-

3,991

-

3,172

-

-

276

PSUP
(in thousands except price)

At January 1, 2013
Granted
Director’s optional purchases
Phantom dividends

#

DSUP

SOP
$

#

ESPP

$

#

$

$

338

8.27

172

8.27

390

7.12

-

94

8.27

23

8.27

427

8.92

-

-

-

19

9.36

-

-

-

21

-

13

-

-

-

-

Performance objective modifier

25

-

-

-

-

-

-

Forfeited

(16)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(137)

8.27

(39)

8.27

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Exercised
Expired
At December 31, 2013

325

9.94

188

9.94

817

8.06

-

Expensed in the period

-

1,663

-

451

-

209

-

Liabilities payable

-

2,120

-

1,595

-

-

-

Price per share is the average price per share at the close of market on the day preceding the last trading day of the
month or the five day volume weighted average immediately preceding the last trading day of the month as applicable
to the terms of the plans.
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29. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the President and CEO that
are used to make strategic decisions.
The President and CEO evaluates and makes decisions on operating performance by business segment. The
reportable operating segments derive their revenue primarily from (a) the rental of water heaters, HVAC and other
equipment, protection plans, HVAC sales and other chargeable service offerings, and (b) the sub-metering of multiunit residential and commercial properties.
The Home Services segment consists mainly of a portfolio of rental water heaters, HVAC and other assets, and
contracted protection plans offered primarily to residential customers in Ontario. The Sub-metering segment is engaged
principally in providing the equipment and services to allow sub-metering and remote measurement of electricity and
water consumption in individual units in condominiums, apartment buildings and commercial properties primarily in
Ontario. The Corporate segment reports the costs for management oversight of the combined business, public
reporting and filings, financing activities, corporate governance and related expenses.
EnerCare assessed its performance of the reporting segments on a measure of EBITDA as follows:
2014

December 31,

Home
Services

SubMetering

$ 231,454

$ 119,132

10,880

481

$ 242,334

$ 119,613

$

$

$

Segment Data

2013
Total

Home
Services

SubMetering

-

$ 350,586

$ 189,388

$ 108,597

-

11,361

50

741

-

$ 361,947

$ 189,438

$ 109,338

$

$

Corporate

Corporate

Total

Revenues:
Contracted sales
Sales and other services
Total revenue

$

$

-

$ 297,985

-

791

$

-

$ 298,776

$

-

$

Expenses:
Cost of goods & services:
Cost of services
Cost of goods sold
Commodity
SG&A
Loss on disposal
EBITDA(1)
Amortization

$ (10,600)

-

(7,743)

(378)

-

$ (10,600)

-

(8,121)

(556)

-

-

(578)
(90,671)

-

(97,673)

-

(97,673)

-

(90,671)

-

(39,604)

(13,877)

(17,497)

(70,978)

(15,189)

(13,387)

(14,818)

(43,394)

(9,859)

-

-

(9,859)

(11,640)

-

-

(11,640)

174,528

7,685

(17,497)

164,716

162,587

4,724

(14,818)

152,493

(97,790)

(4,800)

(2,291)

(104,881)

(94,100)

(3,993)

(1,627)

(99,720)

Investment income
Interest expense
Other income

(22)

408

-

-

Current taxes

806

373

(28,891)

(44,973)

408

4,447

-

-

4,447

(27,287)

(21,852)

Deferred tax recovery

17,405

18,050

Net earnings

22,276

Adjusted EBITDA(1,2)

184,795

Segment assets

1,255,425

Capital additions

$ 77,558

7,685

(17,497)

75,967
$

7,501

$

174,983

8,818
178,674

76,340

1,407,732

669,323

514

$ 85,573

$ 68,709

4,724

(14,818)

76,785
$

9,477

$

168,580

32,772

778,880

1,093

$ 79,279

(1) EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are Non-IFRS financial measures and are metrics that can be used to determine EnerCare’s ability to service its debt, finance
capital expenditures, and provide for the payment of dividends to shareholders.
(2) Adjusted EBITDA is comprised of total revenues and other income, less cost of goods and services and SG&A.
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The amounts provided to the President and CEO with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent
with that of the consolidated financial statements. These assets are allocated based on the operation of the segment.
Equipment additions exclude any acquisition amounts.
30. ACQUISITION OF ENERGY SERVICES NIAGARA

In February 2014, EnerCare, through a subsidiary of EnerCare Solutions, acquired the rental portfolio of Energy
Services Niagara Inc. (“ESN”), comprised of approximately 2,468 electric and gas-fired water heaters for cash
consideration of $3,035, plus inventory of $38. The completion of the purchase price allocation resulted in a fair
value of approximately $1,230 for the electric and gas-fired water heaters and a customer relationship intangible
value of $1,805. In connection with the acquisition, ESN and EnerCare entered into a transitional agreement, as
well as an assignment, assumption and consent agreement with EGD in respect of the ESN open bill access
agreement (“ESN OBA”). At the time of acquisition, approximately 97% of ESN’s customers were billed through the
ESN OBA. The rental revenue from the ESN water heaters were not subject to the co-ownership agreement.
31. ACQUISITION OF DIRECT ENERGY’S HOME AND SMALL COMMERCIAL SERVICES BUSINESS IN ONTARIO

On October 20, 2014, EnerCare, through a subsidiary of EnerCare Solutions, acquired through the Asset Purchase
Agreement the Ontario home and small commercial services business of DE. The purchase price of the Acquisition
was approximately $550,390, subject to final working capital adjustments. The acquired assets and liabilities
assumed included components of working capital, capital assets, intangible assets and obligations under finance
leases. It also includes employee future benefit related assets and obligations, including a reimbursement right in
respect thereof from DE (see note 14). The Acquisition is accounted for as a business combination.
The Acquisition was financed through a combination of debt and equity, including approximately $333,262 of
subscription receipts ($317,000 net of fees) (note 16), $150,000 from debt facilities (note 13) entered into in
connection with the Acquisition, and a private placement of 7,692,308 of EnerCare common shares to DE (note
16). The common shares issued to DE are subject to a 12-month lock-up and thereafter, one-half of such shares are
subject to a further 6-month lock-up.
Concurrent with the closing of the Acquisition, EnerCare and DE entered into a transition services agreement pursuant
to which DE provides certain transition services to EnerCare relating to, among other things, the provision of ongoing
information technology, other support and information technology decoupling services for an initial period of 15months, subject to extension by either party for up to two additional 3-month terms.
As part of the Acquisition, EnerCare has recorded total expenses of $11,594 and interest income of $531 during
2014. Total expenses include $3,872 of interest expense from $3,097 of interest paid in respect of the subscription
receipts issued, along with equity bridge financing fees of $775. SG&A expenses include $7,722 of costs associated
with the Acquisition, of which approximately $6,770 were professional fees. Interest income of $531 was earned
from proceeds related to the subscription receipts issued.
The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of total consideration allocated to the net assets acquired.
The allocation of the purchase price is preliminary for certain amounts including capital assets, intangible assets,
certain working capital accounts, employees future benefits, reimbursement right – pension (see note 14), and tax
balances and is therefore subject to change.

EnerCare Annual Report 2014

119

2014

October 20,

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Capital assets
Intangible assets – customer relationships
Reimbursement right – pension (note 14)
Goodwill
Deferred tax asset
Total assets acquired

$

815
56,824
5,645
385
14,279
401,000
15,284
141,333
3,596
639,161

Less:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Long-term obligations under finance lease
Employee benefit plan liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Total net assets acquired

21,736
3,856
7,809
28,850
26,520
$ 550,390

Fair value of consideration transferred:
Cash consideration
Preliminary working capital adjustment
DE Private Placement – 7,692,308 common shares
Total consideration transferred

$ 450,000
(9,072)
109,462
$ 550,390

Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the fair value of consideration transferred and the preliminary fair
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The goodwill is primarily attributable to the addition of new
customers and the corresponding projected cash flows to be earned. Goodwill is not amortized for accounting,
however is deductible for tax purposes.
OHCS revenues of $46,065 and earnings of $1,732 are included in the statement of net income since
October 20, 2014.
EnerCare’s consolidated revenues and net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2014 would have been higher
by approximately $171,935 and $2,620 respectively, had the OHCS acquisition occurred on January 1, 2014.
32. Subsequent Events
On March 2, 2015, EnerCare, through a subsidiary of EnerCare Solutions, acquired the rental portfolio of Cobourg
Network Inc. (“CNI”), comprised of approximately 1,380 electric water heaters for cash consideration of $890,
subject to post-closing adjustments. In connection with the acquisition, CNI and EnerCare entered into a transitional
agreement pursuant to which CNI provides transitional support and billing and collection services on behalf of
EnerCare.
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